
Audit and Scrutiny Committee  - 22 October 2021 1

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

Telephone:  (01874) 624437
Plas y Ffynnon
Cambrian Way
Brecon
Powys
LD3 7HP

Dear Member

A meeting of the AUDIT AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE will be held as a 
VIRTUAL MEETING ON FRIDAY, 22ND OCTOBER, 2021 AT 10.00 AM when 
your attendance is requested.

Yours sincerely

Catherine Mealing-Jones

Chief Executive

PLEASE NOTE THAT THE NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY FILMS AND

WEBCASTS ALL ITS PUBLIC MEETINGS LIVE  - 
http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/ 

Fire Evacuation Advice

In the event of a fire, please exit the building via the main staircase,

and assemble in the car park at Assembly Point 3

1 CORRESPONDENCE 

            To receive and consider the attached Schedule of 
Correspondence and any recommendations thereon (below).

 

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Public Document Pack

http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/


Audit and Scrutiny Committee  - 22 October 2021 2

To receive any declarations of interest from members relating to items 
on the agenda.  Members’ attention is drawn to the sheet attached to 
the attendance sheet and the need to record their declarations verbally 
and in writing, specifying the nature of the interest.
 
If Members have declared an interest in an item please ensure 
that you inform the Chair when you are leaving the room, so 
that this can be recorded in the minutes

 

3 MINUTES (Pages 5 - 10)

To receive the minutes of the Audit and Scrutiny Committee held on 23-07-21 
and to authorise the Chairman to sign them as a correct record

4 PUBLIC SPEAKING SCHEME 

To give the public an opportunity to address the committee in line with 
the notice required under the Authority’s Public Speaking Scheme.

 

A: Budget Monitoring

5 BUDGET PERFORMANCE AND PROJECT FINANCIAL 
MANAGEMENT Q2 (Pages 11 - 22)

B: Scrutiny

6 INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE Q2 21/22 (Pages 23 - 36)

7 AUDIT WALES ACTION PLAN (Pages 37 - 60)

C: Performance and Risk

8 Q2 PERFORMANCE REPORT (Pages 61 - 70)

9 Q2 UPDATE REPORT FROM NATURAL RESOURCES TEAM (Pages 
71 - 76)

10 LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN ANNUAL MONITORING REPORT 
(Pages 77 - 150)



Audit and Scrutiny Committee  - 22 October 2021 3

11 Q2 RISK REGISTER UPDATE (Pages 151 - 158)

12 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION, COMPLAINTS AND 
COMPLIMENTS (Pages 159 - 166)

To note the reports on Freedom of Information requests, Complaints and 
Compliments.

13 ACTION TRACKING (Pages 167 - 168)

D: Other Business

14 OTHER BUSINESS 

15 ACCESS TO INFORMATION 

RECOMMENDATION: to exclude the press and public from the 
meeting during consideration of item 16 in accordance with section 
100A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information 
as defined in paragraphs 12, 13 and 14 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972.
 

16 LEGAL RISK REGISTER (Pages 169 - 182)

SCHEDULE OF CORRESPONDENCE

1. To receive apologies for absence

2. Such other correspondence as, in the opinion of the Chairman, is of such urgency 
as to warrant consideration.

Any enquiries about this agenda should be addressed to Julia Gruffydd 
(Julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk) or Angharad Hawkes (Angharad.hawkes@beacons-
npa.gov.uk) 

mailto:Julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk
mailto:Angharad.hawkes@beacons-npa.gov.uk
mailto:Angharad.hawkes@beacons-npa.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 1 23 July 2021

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY AUDIT AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE HELD AT VIRTUAL MEETING ON FRIDAY, 23RD JULY, 

2021

PRESENT:

Powys

Monmouthshire

Cllr A Webb (Deputy Chair)

Carmarthenshire

Cllr A James (Chair)

Merthyr Tydfil

Rhondda Cynon Taff

Cllr G Thomas

Torfaen

Cllr S Evans

Blaenau Gwent

Cllr J Hill

Members appointed by the Welsh Government

Mr James Marsden, Mr Christopher Coppock and Canon Aled Edwards

In Attendance

Catherine Mealing-Jones, Chief Executive
Stephanie Evans, Transition Director
Marc Ronan, Solicitor & Monitoring Officer
Elaine Standen, Finance Manager
Julia Gruffydd, Democratic Services Manager

Apologies

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 2 23 July 2021

28/21 Correspondence 

The Chair welcomed the new Chief Executive, Catherine Mealing-Jones to the meeting, 
and also the new Monitoring Officer, Marc Ronan.  He thanked the Transition Director 
for her work in the interim.
 
He also welcomed Nick Selwyn, Philippa Dixon and Meleri Bethall from Audit Wales and 
Steen Gourlay from the Authority’s internal auditors, TIAA.
 

29/21 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest.
 

30/21 Minutes 

Some minor amendments and typographical errors were highlighted.
 

RESOLVED:  To approve the  minutes of the Audit and 
Scrutiny Committee held on 7 May 2021, as amended and 
authorise the Chair to sign them as a correct record: 

 

31/21 Public Speaking Scheme 

There were no requests to speak.
 

32/21 Audit Wales Action Plan Update 

Members considered a progress report on the Audit Wales Report Action Plan.  
Questions were put to the Transition Director and CEO, including on the importance of 
setting a process for corporate performance and then linking in staff appraisals. The CEO 
advised that she was keen to continue a culture of performance review.
 
Mr Selwyn welcomed the approach to monitoring progress and advised that Audit Wales 
would sign off on actions when they could see the evidence.  He set out the process for 
what would happen if Audit Wales were not satisfied that sufficient progress was being 
made, or that improvements were not being implemented.  A further report under the 
Local Government Measure could allow intervention from Audit Wales.
 
Asked about a pulse survey of staff the Transition Director confirmed that in additional to 
the wellbeing and working practice survey just completed she had asked officers to 
prepare a survey timed to coincide with the CEO’s commencement, which would focus 
on staff morale.  She also confirmed that communication with staff had not been limited to 

Page 6



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 3 23 July 2021

newsletters but extended to team meetings, consultation on the leadership team 
proposals, and celebrating success through press releases.
 
The Chair thanked officers for their sterling work in difficult times.
 

RESOLVED:  To note progress against the Change 
Programme Action Plan.

 

33/21 Internal Audit update 

The Finance Manager updated members on the internal audit plan for this year.
 
A member made the point that internal audit should cross reference to the Authority’s 
risk register, and that no action plan had been put in place to mitigate the risks identified 
by Cooke and Arkwright.
 
Due to technical issues Mr Gourlay could not be heard by all present but the Finance 
Manager advised that auditors would normally review the risk register and any relevant 
reports as part of the planning process for individual audits, but the remit could be 
widened if necessary.
 

RESOLVED:  To note the contents of the report.
 

34/21 Draft Statement of Accounts 2020/21 

The Finance Manager presented the draft Statement of Accounts for 2020-21.  In 
response to a comment about over 30% of the budget allocated to corporate services she 
advised that this included the support costs to those involved in delivery, as well as the 
CEO and corporate management, and that every effort was made to keep costs down.
 
Questions were asked about the sustainability of the Black Mountains Land Use 
Partnership and also about the use of the Sustainable Development Fund for funding 
Authority projects.
 

RESOLVED:  To note the contents of the report and the 
Draft Statement of Accounts.

 

35/21 Budget Performance and Project Financial Management Q1 

Members reviewed budget performance for the first quarter.  The Finance Manager 
advised that there would be more expenditure to report by September against the 
Sustainable Landscapes Sustainable Places money received from Welsh Government.  The 
CEO confirmed that she would be working with officers on a spend profile and to 
demonstrate a good track record on spend in order to attract further funding.  Members 
welcomed this approach and suggested that a long term capital programme over multiple 
years was needed.
 

Page 7



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 4 23 July 2021

The Finance Manager clarified a number of points for members.
 
RESOLVED:  To note the report.
 

36/21 Corporate Plan Performance 

The Transition Director presented a report of progress against the Corporate Plan 
objectives.  She advised that the consultant working with her would be considering 
options for performance reporting.  She highlighted some areas of work, including the 
A470 congestion, and advised that work was progressing on the Waterfalls project, with 
member involvement being sought at the appropriate stage.  
 
Members welcomed the alignment of the reporting to the Corporate Plan and hoped that 
this would also be aligned to the National Park Management Plan in future to provide a 
‘golden thread’ from this, to the Corporate Plan, and to individual performance. A 
number of points were raised on the descriptions of risk, phosphates in particular, which 
would impact on performance across the organisation.
 
RESOLVED:  To note the performance against the Corporate Plan actions for 
Q1 of 2021-22.
 

37/21 Risk Register 

Members reviewed the Risk Register and thanked the Transition Director and Monitoring 
Officer for their work on this.  They welcomed the format and made some suggestions 
about future reports:  it would be helpful to know if the RAG status had changed from 
lower to higher risk or vice versa.  The need to include risks of biodiversity loss and 
climate change was also highlighted.
 
Concerns were raised about future accommodation and the transition period until the 
leadership team was appointed.  The CEO confirmed her intention to address the issue of 
risk appetite but given capacity she would bring in additional resource if necessary in the 
interim period.
 
It was suggested that there needed to be a shared understanding of current risks between 
the Authority, Welsh Government, internal and external audit and stakeholders.
 
The Transition Director advised about preparatory work that officers were doing to 
prepare options for accommodation.
 
There was discussion about the level of reserves and how they should be used.  It was 
acknowledged that this was a difficult balance between retaining resources to deal with 
unforeseen circumstances, but not restricting delivery by tying up resources.
 
RESOLVED:  To note the report.
 

38/21 Complaints and FOI's 

Page 8



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 5 23 July 2021

Members reviewed the Q1 report.
 

39/21 Action Tracking 

Outstanding actions were reviewed.
 

40/21 Quarterly update report on delivery by Landscape and Nature Recovery Team 

The Transition Director presented a report of progress against the Nature Recovery 
actions in the Corporate Plan, on behalf of the Senior Ecologist for Climate Adaptation.
 
Members welcomed the report and recognised the amount of work being carried out; 
they hoped to receive reports from other Corporate Plan priorities.  It was noted that 
there was considerable dependence on third parties to help deliver objectives.  The 
Transition Director would ask the officer to respond to members on this point.
 
Views were expressed that there needed to be more on outputs  rather than a list of 
work carried out, and the Transition Director responded that there was a debate to be 
had about the level of detail.  A member advised that the State of the Park Report 
provided a strong baseline against a set of indicators, which could then be set against the 
Corporate Plan and National Park Management Plan.
 
RESOLVED:  To note the progress reported.
 

41/21 Access to Information 

RESOLVED:
 
a)              To exclude the press and public from the meeting during consideration 

of item 15 (legal Risk Register) in accordance with section 100A of the Local 
Government Act 1972, as amended, on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 12, 13 and 14 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972. 

 

b)             To exclude the press and public from the meeting during consideration 
of item 17 on the agenda (Cyber attack) in accordance with section 100A of 
the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, on the grounds that it involves 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 14 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972. 

 
 

42/21 Legal Risk Register 

Page 9



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 6 23 July 2021

The Transition Director presented the legal risk register and addressed a number of 
queries from members.
 

43/21 Cyber Attack Update 

The Transition Director updated members on the impact of the cyber-security attack in 
September 2020.
 

44/21 Other Business 

There was  no further business.
 

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the Audit and Scrutiny Committee

Page 10



Budget Monitoring: Quarter 2 2021/22

Name of 
Committee

 Audit and Scrutiny Committee

Date 22 October 2021

Report Author
Elaine Standen

Job title Finance Manager

Contact details elaine.standen@beacons-npa.gov.uk
Purpose of Report To inform Members of performance against budget for the 

second quarter of 2021/22

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1: Budget Monitoring Summary to 30/9/2021

Enclosure 2: Project Financial Scorecard Q2 2021/22 

Recommendation a) That Members consider the report

1.1 Introduction 

The budget reporting structure has been updated for the revised departmental structure, 
but salary budgets require further update to reflect the delayed start dates for the Directors 
and Programme Manager plus the extension of a number of interim roles and cover 
arrangements.  

The Budget Monitoring Summary (Enclosure 1) indicates that 82% of the budget has been 
spent, or committed; a total of £875,056 has been committed to date.   This compares to 
70% spent or committed at the same time last year.  A difference from past years is that the 
Sustainable Landscapes, Sustainable Places funding is not provided in advance to the 
Authority but paid in arrears of expenditure.  An interim claim is expected to be made soon.  
Further Hardship Fund moneys have been made available to support post-covid recovery 
spend on visitor management and communications up to March 22; these are also claimed 
in arrears.

Quarterly figures for each department are summarised below:

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



Full 
Year 

Budget 
(Net) 

2021/22

Actual to 
end Q2      

2021/22

Committed 
2021/22

Net Budget 
remaining 
2021/22

Net Budget 
Spent and 

Committed

Department %
£000 £000 £000 £000

Chief Executive’s Office 
and Communications 448 120 88 240 47

Monitoring Officer and 
Solicitor’s Department 444 233 49 162 64

Nature and Climate 
Change Revenue 1,291 724 138 429 67

Planning and Place 
Revenue 2,068 779 210 1,079 48

Programme Manager’s 
Department 484 292 139 53 89

Nature and Climate 
Change Capital          371 73 451 (153) 141

Planning and Place 
Capital 242 11 58 172 29

Other Capital 41 8 21 12 70
Capital Grant Reserves 
applied (599) 0 0 (571) 0

Other (including 
transfers to and from 
earmarked reserves)

(651) (2) 0 (649) 0

 Total 4,139 2,239 1,154 745 82

Revenue Grant and 
Levies (4,145) (2,115) 0 (2,030)

Transfer to General 
Reserve 7 0 0 7

1.2  Significant budget virements (greater than £50,000) in Quarter 2

Page 12



In the past quarter, additional resources of £66,760 have been transferred to Public Affairs to 
enable the new Public Affairs Manager to revitalize external communications, raise the profile 
of the Authority, and fund a number of campaigns on key issues affecting the National Park.   
This has been balanced by a reduction in the planned transfer to the General Reserve.

Also in Q2, the reserved, unspent 2020/21 Sustainable Development Fund budget of £57,491 
has been transferred from the SDF earmarked reserve to increase planned expenditure for the 
current year.  

1.3 Principal Budget Variances

Chief Executive’s Office and Communications 
Additional resources have been provided for a revived communications strategy; spend will 
largely take place in Q3.  Some visitor communications costs will be reclaimed from the 
Hardship Fund.  

Monitoring Officer and Solicitor’s Department
In Democratic Services, there is a payment in advance for the webcasting facility which will be 
accrued to future years over the life of the lease at the year-end.  

Legal costs arising from current matters relating to property will require additional budget to be 
provided before the year end

Nature and Climate Change Directorate
Substantial additional resources have been budgeted for post-covid visitor management, while 
further visitor management expenditure, particularly in the Waterfalls Area, is being reclaimed 
retrospectively from the Hardship Fund.  The Education team lost substantial income in the 
early part of the year due to Covid restrictions, but demand for education-related activities in 
the remainder of the year is expected to be strong.

Planning and Place Directorate
Two EU-funded tourism project grant claims are outstanding; a total of some £88,000 was 
accrued to 2020/21 and has not yet been received.  Applications for, and expenditure of, the 
Sustainable Development Fund have been slow to date, in line with previous years.  A 
temporary SDF Officer role to help promote the fund and support applicants is now in post.  
One part-time member of the small Communities team is currently acting up and there is a 
currently vacant post, limiting capacity for the implementation of some projects.  

Visitor Services cost centres have been significantly impacted by Covid restrictions in the early 
part of the year but visitor numbers and related income has been strong during the peak 
holiday period.  Welsh Government support for re-opening and the extra cost of visitor 
management is being claimed retrospectively under the Hardship Fund (also available to local 
authorities) for the year.

Page 13



Planning receipts have been below the estimate for the first half of the year, budget provision 
has been made for additional temporary development management staff capacity.
S106 receipts of some £52k have been received to date.  Expenditure of S106 moneys held in 
reserve to fund affordable housing is expected to take place before the end of this financial 
year.  It is likely that the local development plan budget will require re-profiling into 21/22.

Programme Manager’s Department
HR commitments include consultants commissioned to support the senior team recruitment.  A 
budget adjustment has been input in period 7 to fund the expected cost.  Pool car internal 
recharges have been lower than budgeted as vehicle use has been affected by covid 
restrictions.  Commitments for more than one year include pool vehicles a part-year forward 
payment of the Microsoft Office 365 licence.

Capital Schemes
See also the enclosed Q1 projects scorecard (enclosure 2) for an overview of project spend and 
financial progress.  A significant increase in the capital programme has been funded by 
additional Welsh Government grants, principally the Sustainable Landscapes, Sustainable Places 
Grant, to which all three Welsh NPA’s were invited to apply.  A total of just under £900,000 has 
been provided in funds which much be applied by 31 March 2022; the related budget virement 
details are provided on the Budget Monitoring Summary enclosure.  Grant funds include 
support for additional project management and administration costs.

Other
Planned transfers include the use of Welsh Government funding (provided in advance and set 
aside in reserves) for a range of projects.  Some £677,000 of reserved revenue funding is due to 
be applied in 2021/22.  

1.4 Conclusion
A further update of some budgets may be needed in the light of delays to Leadership Team 
appointments and interim management cover arrangements.  The introduction of a 
retrospective grant claim regime for the SLSP Capital funding has caused an increase net spend 
against budget for capital projects when compared with previous years.

RECOMMENDATION:

a) That Members consider the report and enclosures.

Page 14



Brecon Beacons Summary Report:-  up to 30/09/2021 Target: 50%

APPROVED  ESTIMATE 2021/22 ACTUALS MONTH 1 TO 6 COMMITMENTS 2021/22 2020/21

Costc Account

Profiled 
Budget

Budget 
spent

Prior Year 
Budget

Budget less 
actuals & 

commitments NOTES

Description Expenditure Income NET Expenditure Income NET Expenditure Income NET
 & 

committed
Spent & 

committed Unspent
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ % % £

Chief Executive's Office and 
Communications

2201 Public Affairs 219,055 -3,000 216,055 60,006 0 60,006 20,095 0 20,095 110,032 37 32 135,954 Additional budget vired to cover extra comms work.

4403 Public Engagement Projects 0 0 0 0 0 0 12,112 0 12,112 0 n/a n/a -12,112 
Issue with website development and supplier to be resolved, 
funding is available but to apply this, objectives of funding 
would need to be met.

5000 Corporate Management 223,380 0 223,380 60,312 0 60,312 49,880 0 49,880 113,034 49 54 113,188
Commitments in place for the National Trust (Transition 
Director secondment), consultancy support & Wales Audit work 
for 21/22.

5002 UK National Parks - Joint initiatives 8,570 0 8,570 0 0 0 6,073 0 6,073 4,284 71 142 2,497
Commitment to provide joint communications services on 
behalf UK
National Park Authorities (yr.3 of 3).

Total for Chief Executive's Office and 
Communications 451,005 -3,000 448,005 120,318 0 120,318 88,160 0 88,160 227,350 47 239,527

Monitoring Officer and Solicitor's 
Department

2101 Legal 89,980 0 89,980 40,949 0 40,949 27,898 0 27,898 45,132 77 82 21,133 Ongoing case load, budget to be reviewed.
2103 Office Services 66,950 0 66,950 29,745 -3 29,742 8,220 0 8,220 33,696 57 53 28,988

5100 Democratic Representation & 
Management

296,860 -10,120 286,740 162,475 0 162,475 12,400 0 12,400 155,318 61 57 111,865
Payment in advance of the Webcasting software/support (yr. 4 
of 5). Accounting adjustment required at year end. Includes 
commitment for next payment also (£10k). 

5102 Democratic Services Project - NPA's 
Induction

18,290 -18,290 0 61 0 61 0 0 0 -4,856 n/a n/a -61 NPUK member induction held virtually in September - Costs 
should be covered.

Total for Monitoring Officer and 
Solicitor's Department 472,080 -28,410 443,670 233,230 -3 233,227 48,518 0 48,518 229,290 64 161,925

Nature and Climate Change Core

1100
Wardens Management, Staff and Running 
Costs

558,970 -68,760 490,210 319,173 0 319,173 12,225 0 12,225 268,122 68 53 158,812 

Wardens livered vehicles have been paid in advance to Jul/Aug 
2022 -  Yr. end financial adjustment required. Only 
commitments for Warden's 2 x Outlander liveried vehicles for 
future 2 yrs.  

1101 Wardens' Depot 42,240 -2,683 39,557 22,180 -2,683 19,497 0 0 0 21,603 49 75 20,060 Depot rates paid in full plus rent up to the end of September.

1109 Access Officer 103,940 -12,500 91,440 47,187 410 47,597 906 0 906 50,978 53 23 42,937 
1110 Public Rights Of Way 88,940 -31,503 57,437 43,620 -1,500 42,120 811 0 811 43,426 75 64 14,506 ROWIP Income received at end of financial yr.

1200 Director of Nature and Climate Change 142,610 -91,170 51,440 600 0 600 0 0 0 26,154 1 50 50,840 Vacant post.

1220 Ecology 216,700 0 216,700 54,109 0 54,109 43,288 0 43,288 109,296 45 40 119,303 
Includes commitment of SLA with BIS until 2023/24 (£36k in 
total, 1k per month).  Vacancy for Snr Ecologist.

4400 Education 161,940 -44,750 117,190 86,353 -5,774 80,579 6,462 0 6,462 68,538 74 68 30,149 
Income budget needs reviewing due to loss of visits as a result 
of the pandemic. 

Total for Nature and Climate Change Core 1,315,340 -251,366 1,063,974 573,222 -9,547 563,675 63,692 0 63,692 588,117 59 436,607

Nature and Climate Change Revenue 
Projects

1102 Wardens Works and Projects 177,028 -151,505 25,523 98,719 -15,646 83,074 59,157 0 59,157 42,675 557 -125 -116,708 

First 'Hardship' claim rec'd - £13k. Authority Rights of Way 
funding and Access Improvement Grant are received at year 
end.  Income secure but risk of underspend due to scale of 
projects underway

1107
Waterfalls Country Wardening, Volunteers 
and site management costs

134,840 -35,000 99,840 30,753 -3,166 27,587 13,425 0 13,425 31,252 41 2 58,828
Budget for Meet and Greet contractors, fully spent, further 
spend on this to be covered by the Hardship fund.  Recharge to 
Car park trading cost centre

1114 Ecology Projects 75,040 0 75,040 29,446 0 29,446 1,175 0 1,175 28,028 41 120 44,419 Spend on invasive species control seasonal.  Underspend 
anticipated requires project spend review.

1115 Nature Recovery Action Plan 
Implementation

26,400 0 26,400 18,921 0 18,921 0 0 0 11,848 72 14 7,479

1406 Ecology Projects BMP - Rangers BW lead 
completed

0 0 0 -42 0 -42 0 0 0 0 n/a n/a 42 BMLUP final claim has been paid. 

P
age 15



APPROVED  ESTIMATE 2021/22 ACTUALS MONTH 1 TO 6 COMMITMENTS 2021/22 2020/21

Costc Account

Profiled 
Budget

Budget 
spent

Prior Year 
Budget

Budget less 
actuals & 

commitments NOTES

Description Expenditure Income NET Expenditure Income NET Expenditure Income NET
 & 

committed
Spent & 

committed Unspent
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ % % £

1409 Ecology Projects BMP - Project 
Administration BW lead completed

0 0 0 0 1,373 1,373 242 0 242 0 n/a 43 -1,615 Cost to be claimed back from earmarked reserve

Total for Nature and Climate Change 
Revenue Projects 413,308 -186,505 226,803 177,797 -17,439 160,359 73,999 0 73,999 113,803 103 -7,555 

Planning and Place Core
1000 Director of Planning and Place 57,980 0 57,980 367 0 367 0 0 0 29,154 1 -268 57,613 Vacant post.
1105 Geopark Development Officer 47,860 0 47,860 21,635 -68 21,567 0 0 0 24,096 45 40 26,293
1120 Sustainable Tourism 53,170 0 53,170 14,451 -1,760 12,691 6,392 0 6,392 26,752 36 115 34,087
1205 Building Conservation 58,710 0 58,710 17,706 0 17,706 4,817 0 4,817 29,636 38 49 36,187
1225 Archaeology 65,130 0 65,130 29,364 0 29,364 7,119 0 7,119 38,974 56 67 28,647 HEAP budgets set up, no spend yet.
1300 Community Development 133,250 -24,200 109,050 75,632 0 75,632 0 0 0 67,178 69 65 33,418

2301 Administrative Buildings - Plas Y Ffynnon 113,560 -1,300 112,260 81,328 0 81,328 4,414 0 4,414 56,106 76 56 26,518 HQ Rates paid in full plus rent/service charge up to the end of 
December.

3000 Planning and Heritage Departmental 
management

63,150 0 63,150 31,637 0 31,637 0 0 0 31,824 50 49 31,513

3100 Strategy, Policy And Heritage 317,360 -81,810 235,550 134,636 -18,837 115,799 833 0 833 117,982 50 45 118,918
3121 Minerals 2,100 0 2,100 0 0 0 3,500 0 3,500 0 167 95 -1,400 Includes full year commitment.

3200 Development Control 388,450 -215,000 173,450 218,385 -94,892 123,494 8,600 0 8,600 96,790 76 96 41,356 Both planning Fees & pre app advice charges are down 
compared to budget target .

3201 Enforcement 119,270 0 119,270 64,357 -128 64,229 0 0 0 62,220 54 38 55,041
3202 Planning Administration & Support 157,590 -10,000 147,590 80,048 -4,042 76,006 1,220 0 1,220 74,406 52 53 70,364

3203 Tree Consultancy 10,000 0 10,000 2,162 0 2,162 6,485 0 6,485 4,998 86 12 1,353 Includes full year commitment with Pembrokeshire Coast NPA 
for arboriculture support.

3204 Section 106 Receipts and Payments 0 0 0 0 -51,643 -51,643 0 0 0 0 n/a n/a 51,643 S106 receipt will be reserved if not applied in year.

4000 Commercial Manager 155,890 -22,500 133,390 26,962 -17,200 9,762 0 0 0 73,150 7 19 123,628 Includes 2 vacant posts. Filming Fee income has exceeded 
budget target.

4103 Retail Stock Management 10,210 -3,250 6,960 3,523 -1,372 2,151 0 0 0 3,642 31 61 4,809 Cost of sales needs to be charged.

4104 Abergavenny Information Centre 33,370 -30,300 3,070 16,857 -6,842 10,015 0 0 0 1,668 326 934 -6,945 Contributions from Monmouthshire CC & Abergavenny Town 
council to be invoiced for.

4107 Online Shop 4,580 -7,090 -2,510 1,587 -3,454 -1,867 0 0 0 -1,308 74 57 -643 

4108 Waterfalls Car Parks 127,850 -119,180 8,670 96,868 -164,489 -67,621 25,924 0 25,924 -16,702 -481 -155 50,367
Internal charge from Waterfalls wardening input twice a year. 
Carpark income exceeds budget target for the full year. 
Hardship spend continues and will be claimed back from WG.

4200 National Park Visitor Centre 184,680 -173,140 11,540 116,437 -111,959 4,478 35,616 0 35,616 17,486 347 -1938 -28,554 Tearoom rent invoiced half yearly.
4210 Craig Y Nos Country Park 91,320 -52,350 38,970 62,505 -34,210 28,295 8,214 0 8,214 29,308 94 97 2,461 A further £8k to be claimed for the Hardship fund. 

Total for Planning and Place Core 2,195,480 -740,120 1,455,360 1,096,447 -510,896 585,552 113,134 0 113,134 767,360 48 756,674

Planning and Place Revenue projects
1112 Gunpowder Works HLF project 12,000 0 12,000 362 0 362 41,020 0 41,020 12,000 345 n/a -29,382 Budget adjustment pending.  

1124 Culturescape - EU-funded Project 79,860 -73,700 6,160 20,362 44,693 65,056 8,325 0 8,325 37,466 1191 n/a -67,221 
Outstanding year end debtor £45k, waiting on EU payment to 
be processed. January to June 2021 claim submitted to be 
submitted in October.  Project lead leaving post.

1131 Tourism Publications 0 0 0 0 -1,292 -1,292 6,099 0 6,099 0 n/a n/a -4,807 Budget adjustment pending to cover Ambassador programme.

1132 A470 Transport Study completed 0 0 0 3,381 -2,000 1,381 0 0 0 0 n/a n/a -1,381 

1134 Geopark Interreg Project 0 0 0 0 41,183 41,183 0 0 0 0 n/a n/a -41,183 Yr. end debtor £41k - Waiting on final claim to be processed by 
EU.

1138 Destination Management 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,998 0 4,998 0 n/a n/a -4,998 Commitment for Destination Partnership website digital 
marketing campaign. No budget.

1139 Tourism Visitor Managemet Projects (WG 
funded)

31,905 0 31,905 0 0 0 0 0 0 15,954 0 0 31,905 No spend, 

1140 Waterfalls Country Partnership Project 165,090 0 165,090 17,465 0 17,465 4,386 0 4,386 82,544 13 21 143,239 Pending review of operations management in Waterfalls Area.

1141 Waterfalls Country Community 
Development

63,580 -7,500 56,080 25,211 -7,750 17,461 14,591 0 14,591 24,294 57 50 24,028 Pending review of operations management in Waterfalls Area.

1305 SDF Strategic Projects 245,491 0 245,491 21,140 0 21,140 0 0 0 132,491 9 -13 224,351 Majority of  SDF claims paid out in last quarter (Jan to Mar).

1309 Volunteer Co-ordinator projects 11,880 0 11,880 4,667 0 4,667 2,130 0 2,130 8,708 57 0 5,083
1310 Social Inclusion Work 2,830 -2,830 0 30 0 30 0 0 0 660 n/a n/a -30 

1313 Kickstart 40,443 -40,443 0 429 0 429 0 0 0 0 n/a n/a -429 Recruitment taking place.  Vacancy in community development 
may impact on outcomes.

1314 Small Steps Project 4,300 0 4,300 1,124 0 1,124 800 0 800 2,148 45 51 2,376
1315 Place Plans Project 16,755 0 16,755 0 0 0 0 0 0 8,376 0 0 16,755

P
age 16



APPROVED  ESTIMATE 2021/22 ACTUALS MONTH 1 TO 6 COMMITMENTS 2021/22 2020/21

Costc Account

Profiled 
Budget

Budget 
spent

Prior Year 
Budget

Budget less 
actuals & 

commitments NOTES

Description Expenditure Income NET Expenditure Income NET Expenditure Income NET
 & 

committed
Spent & 

committed Unspent
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ % % £

3102 Local Development Plan 40,460 0 40,460 18,447 0 18,447 1,488 0 1,488 18,726 49 10 20,525
3104 National Park Management Plan 18,760 0 18,760 5,508 -927 4,582 5,775 0 5,775 10,878 55 -3 8,403
4404 Green Growth Revenue Element 3,520 0 3,520 1,602 0 1,602 7,199 0 7,199 0 250 376 -5,281 Vehicle costs for Renault Kangoo EV lease.

Total for Planning and Place Revenue 
projects 736,874 -124,473 612,401 119,728 73,907 193,637 96,811 0 96,811 354,245 47 321,953

Programme Manager's Department

2100 Human Resources 72,000 0 72,000 46,239 0 46,239 36,191 0 36,191 37,642 114 58 -10,430 Spend/Commitment for Gatenbysaunderson for recruitment 
expertise totalling £21k, no budget.

2102 Finance 160,750 -3,500 157,250 67,338 -183 67,156 29,935 0 29,935 81,154 62 67 60,159 Includes annual commitments for payroll services, the finance 
aggresso system plus internal auditors

2104 Pool Cars 14,120 -34,120 -20,000 14,134 -4,279 9,855 37,207 0 37,207 7,020 -235 n/a -67,062 

Commitments for future lease costs of vehicles.   Net income 
required to cover contribution to renewals fund.  Usage 
reduced in pandemic, Q1 & Q2 usage recharged to 
departments.

2109 Revenue Suspense Account 0 0 0 5,037 0 5,037 0 0 0 0 n/a n/a -5,037 Cardholders expenditure to be charged to relevant depts. - 
admin by cardholders ongoing.

2110 Training 25,000 0 25,000 9,316 0 9,316 10,284 0 10,284 25,000 78 10 5,400

2200 Information Technology 250,818 -600 250,218 154,622 0 154,622 25,161 0 25,161 129,992 72 80 70,435 Payment re Office 365 will need adjusting at yr. end as spans 2 
financial years.

Total for Programme Manager's 
Department 522,688 -38,220 484,468 296,686 -4,462 292,225 138,778 0 138,778 280,808 89 53,465

Capital Projects - Nature and Climate 
Change

1800 Wardens Capital Improvement Projects 530,440 -377,079 153,361 122,893 -70,836 52,057 86,297 0 86,297 97,359 90 -177 15,007 Multiple projects underway to improve access/visitor 
experience.

1804 Access and upland improvement Projects 637,321 -475,621 161,700 24,576 -25,049 -473 318,885 0 318,885 100,200 197 100 -156,712 

Project Manager has produced an update, one project could 
require more resources - possibly from other project 
underspends.  Project staff appointed - some funding will need 
to be available for 22/23 staff cost.

1813 Landscape and Nature Recovery CAPITAL 143,400 -87,000 56,400 11,936 -27 11,909 23,266 0 23,266 25,200 62 0 21,225 LNP Claim now submitted (Spend for April to September).

1816 LNP CHALLENGE FUND - NATURE 
RECOVERY IN THE AMMAN VALLEY

107,830 -107,830 0 9,703 0 9,703 23,081 0 23,081 0 n/a n/a -32,784 LNP Claim now submitted (Spend for April to September).

Total for Capital Projects - Nature and 
Climate Change 1,418,991 -1,047,530 371,461 169,108 -95,912 73,196 451,529 0 451,529 222,759 141 -153,264 Majority of grant funding to be claimed in arrears

Capital Projects - Planning and Place

1802 Green Growth Fund 6,600 0 6,600 0 0 0 28,594 0 28,594 6,000 433 n/a -21,994 
planned purchase in 20/21 delayed by microchip shortage, 
delivery expected in this year

1803
Visitor Centres Green Growth 
Decarbonisation projects

101,500 0 101,500 -6,068 0 -6,068 10,845 0 10,845 89,000 5 n/a 96,723 Agreed objectives can't now be delivered, due to technical 
issues.  WG approval to be sought for reviewed objectives.

1808 Heritage in Place Grant Scheme 50,000 0 50,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 25,002 0 n/a 50,000 Subject to third party claims, managed by SDF team

1810 Wales Way Infrastructure and 
interpretation

0 0 0 306 -5,808 -5,502 1,086 0 1,086 0 n/a n/a 4,416
income already received, final element of project

1811 Waterfalls Country Partnership Project - 
CAPITAL

83,250 -45,750 37,500 602 0 602 8,157 0 8,157 17,496 23 37 28,741
Staff capacity may be an issue due to increase in other 
workload

4800 National Park Visitor Centre improvements 46,285 0 46,285 21,998 0 21,998 9,825 0 9,825 46,285 69 n/a 14,462

4801 Craig y nos Country Park improvements 32,000 -32,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 n/a n/a 0

Total for Capital Projects - Planning and 
Place 319,635 -77,750 241,885 16,838 -5,808 11,030 58,507 0 58,507 183,783 29 172,348

Capital Projects - Other

1812 IT CAPITAL - Purchase of Software and 
Hardware

41,300 0 41,300 8,145 0 8,145 20,708 0 20,708 20,652 70 27 12,447

5304
Appropriations to/from Capital Grants 
Unapplied and Capital Receipts

0 -599,375 -599,375 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 n/a -599,375 
Grants are applied from reserves at year end.

Total for Capital Projects - Other 41,300 -599,375 -558,075 8,145 0 8,145 20,708 0 20,708 20,652 -5 -586,928 

P
age 17



APPROVED  ESTIMATE 2021/22 ACTUALS MONTH 1 TO 6 COMMITMENTS 2021/22 2020/21

Costc Account

Profiled 
Budget

Budget 
spent

Prior Year 
Budget

Budget less 
actuals & 

commitments NOTES

Description Expenditure Income NET Expenditure Income NET Expenditure Income NET
 & 

committed
Spent & 

committed Unspent
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ % % £

OTHER
5340 Interest received 0 -5,000 -5,000 0 -1,793 -1,793 0 0 0 -2,502 36 36 -3,207 
5205 Green Energy Income Generation 1,000 -8,000 -7,000 120 -696 -576 330 0 330 -3,504 4 -52 -6,754 Hydro income received towards end of the year
5299 Unallocated Budgets 77,000 0 77,000 59 0 59 0 0 0 38,502 0 n/a 76,941 Provision for inflation in-year

CONTRIBUTIONS TO/FROM EARMARKED 
RESERVES

5302 Appropriations Account Exp 0 20,000 20,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20,000 pool car replacement reserve

5302 Appropriations Account Inc 0 -736,290 -736,290 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -736,290 
determined by actual project spend - use of reserves actioned 
at year end

TOTAL - OTHER 78,000 -729,290 -651,290 179 -2,489 -2,310 330 0 330 32,496 0 -649,310 

2100 GRAND TOTAL 7,964,701 -3,826,039 4,138,662 2,811,698 -572,649 2,239,054 1,154,166 0 1,154,166 3,020,663 82 70 745,442

FUNDING
5300 Transfers from General Reserves 7,173 7,173 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7,173

5300
Levy From Constituent LA'S & NP Grant 
(WG) 0 -1,036,457 -1,036,457 0 -560,724 -560,724 0 0 0 -518,228 54 -475,733 

5300 (WG) 0 -3,109,378 -3,109,378 0 -1,554,689 -1,554,689 0 0 0 -1,554,688 50 -1,554,689 grant is paid quarterly in advance
5300 National Park Grant (Revenue) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 n/a 0

Total Funding & Transfers 7,173 -4,145,835 -4,138,662 0 -2,115,413 -2,115,413 0 0 0 -2,072,916 51 -2,023,249 

NET BUDGET #REF! #REF! 0 #REF! #REF! 123,641 #REF! #REF! #REF! 947,747 n/a #REF!P
age 18



Project Title 

Total Project 
Expenditure  
including 
completed 
projects        £

CODE
Lead 
Officer

KEY WORK AREA AND 
OBJECTIVE

QUARTER 2 
PROFILED 
BUDGET 
2021/22

2021/22 SPEND AS % 
PROFILE (variances 

over  over +/-20% and 
nil budget highlighted 

in red)

TOTAL SPEND 
OVER LIFE OF 
PROJECT AS A 
% OF PROJECT 
FUNDS

OUTSTANDING 
BUDGET 
MANAGEMENT 
ACTIONS

COMMENTS ON FINANCIAL VARIANCES

TOTAL SPENT 
TO DATE 
(PRIOR AND 
CURRENT 
YEARS)  £

2017/18 
Actual

2018/19 
Actual

2019/20 
Actual

2020/21 
Actual

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Llyn y Fan Fach Access CAPITAL 158,400 1800 JH Resilient Communities, SED; maintain and 
improve access to the countryside

0 n/a 61%
2021/22 budget to 
be updated

Awaiting decision from Dwr Cymru remainder of 
funding to be spent on car park surfacing and 
accessibility.

96,124 71,860 9,529 6,612 8,123

Waun Fignen Felen - partnership 
agreement CAPITAL

50,000 1800 JH L&B; reducing land-based carbon emissions 
and restoring upland habitats

58%
remaining funds to be reviewed and 
reallocated.

29,055 4,350 6,966 8,286 9,453

Wales Way CAPITAL 244,174 1810 SS Resilient Communities, SED; improve access 
to the countryside

0 n/a 103%
2021/22 budget to 
be updated

1 remaining element - short access trail to be 
completed, funded by Rhys Jeffreys grant of 
£5810.  Additional funding was drawn from 
tourism reserves

250,673 0 21012 182,623 46,732

DECARBONISATION CAPITAL GREEN GROWTH AND ELECTRIC VEHICLE PURCHASE 0 

Green Energy - Vehicles and Plant 98,489 1802 WL/KB

Decarbonisation and cost reduction from 
green energy initiatives in the public sector.

3,300 0% 104%
2021/22 budget to 
be updated

Equipment delivery delayed from 2020/21 
by global microchip shortage. 

102,334 0 0 54,634 47,700

Solar panels and Visitor Centres de-
carbonisation/energy efficiency

113,843 1803 WL/KB

reducing land-based carbon emissions, 

102,100 5% 123%
2021/22 budget to 
be updated

WG approval needed to change planned 
spend, draft technical report on energy 
efficiency measures received, this will 
inform works to be carried out at centre.  
Budget revision will be required if WG 
approval obtained.

140,354 0 38900 71,477 25,200

BB Green Growth Fund   REVENUE 75,000
4404/  
1305 WL/HR

reducing land-based carbon emissions, 

6,520 72% 13%

part funding applied to volunteers' electric 
vehicle - remainder is carbon literacy 
engagement work underway by the 
Education team and £50k community grants 
(no grant spend to date).

10,121 0 0 1,097 4,345

Black Mountains Partnership REVENUE 989,155
1401  - 

1409 LM

KWA=Biodiversity and Landscape; WFGA 
objective=By focusing on landscapes and 
biodiversity, particularly through ecosystems 
management, the Authority is contributing 
directly to a more ‘Resilient Wales’.  2. The 
National Park’s landscapes and biodiversity 
will benefit from broad-scale targeted and 
promoted conservation projects. Goals & 
Objectives: Biodiversity will be conserved 
and enhanced through effective partnership, 
facilitation, practical action and the Planning 
function

97%
project completed.   Small underspend due 
to impact of Covid restrictions.

960,551 143,044 357,601 278,561 181,345

Coedydd Nedd a Mellte - Waterfalls 
CAPITAL

28,000 1801 JH Landscape and Biodiversity; SED; maintain 
and improve access to the countryside

103% 28,726 0 5267 11,372 12,087

Condition RoW Database REVENUE 10,000 1110 EJ Resilient Communities, SED; maintain and 
improve access to the countryside

2,100 0% 79%

Final project element under review by IT to 
consider providing it in-house.  The final 
cost may be an internal recharge for IT staff 
time.

7,905 2405 5500 0 0

Visitor Management Dog Project  
REVENUE

80,000 1139 JL
Biodiversity and Landscape,Resilient 
Communities, SED; improve access to the 
countryside

0 n/a 64%
PROJECT TO BE 
ESTABLISHED

funding held in reserves 51,148 11972 36125 3,051 0

Gunpowder Works REVENUE AND 
CAPITAL

800,453 1112 TN Resilient Communities, SED; improve access 
to the countryside

12,000 3% 95%
revised estimate 
to be input

Project completion date extended to year 
end due to impact of Covid19 and access 
problems caused by landslip..  PT 
Temporary post appointed to conclude 
project. Additional resources needed to 
restore damaged access.  Installation of 
interpretation and digital tour are 
outstanding elements being delivered.

763,963 101148 516632 142,539 3,282

Atlantic Geoparks REVENUE 144,167 1134 CP Resilient Communities, SED; improve access 
to the countryside

99% final claim approved. 143,011 32245 47860 42,625 20,281

Place Plan implementation WG  
REVENUE

30,000 1315 HR
Heritage, Biodiversity and 
Landscape,Resilient Communities, SED; 
improve access to the countryside

0 n/a 43%
Budget to be re-
profiled into 
2021/22

Project officer has been redeployed to 
Policy team, spend Included in 21/22 
estimate

12,765 0 3681 9,064 20

Powys Teaching Health Board - Small 
Steps REVENUE

40,000 1314 HR Resilient Communities, SED; improve access 
to the countryside

4,300 26% 86%
Budget to be re-
profiled into 
2021/22

Project delivery and support continued 
remotely and re-modelled in line with with 
latest Covid 19 social distancing - small 
underspend on project. due to modified 
delivery.  Remaining budget to be used in 
summer 2021

34,319 0 8359 20,940 3,897

P
age 19



Llangasty and Caeau Ty Mawr site Mgt 
REVENUE

15,000 1102 RP/JH Landscape and Biodiversity 109% 16,397 0 6985 4,660 4,752

Miles without Stiles, Wheelchairs 
CAPITAL

30,000 1807 RB
Resilient Communities; SED; Develop the 
Miles Without Stiles programme; maintain 
and improve access to the countryside

97% 29,160 0 0 21,335 7,825

Carn Pica Footpath Restoration CAPITAL 130,000 1804 RB
Resilient Communities; SED; maintain and 
improve access to the countryside; reduce 
land-based carbon emissions and restoring 
upland habitats

96% 125,243 0 0 84,749 40,494

0 

NP Interpretation and Education Space 
at National Park Visitor Centre CAPITAL

55,000 4800 WL Resilient Communities; SED; maintain and 
improve access to the countryside

0 n/a 0%
Budget to be 
updated

funding held in reserves 0 0 0 0 0

Waterfalls Country Infrastructure (being 
run jointly with Coedydd Nedd y Mellte 
work), Visitor Management in Waterfall 
Country CAPITAL

209,900 1811 JL Resilient Communities; SED; maintain and 
improve access to the countryside

37,500 12% 8%
Budget to be re-
profiled for 2021-
2023

Waterfalls capital spend amalgamated from 
multiple funds.  Quick wins being implemeted.   
Long term plans being devloped.  impacted by 
Covid 19 and requirement to obtain community 
engagement and support.  New site 
management solution shortly to come into 
operation with a seconded Area Warden which 
will enable better delivery of site 
improvements.

16,467 0 0 0 11,885

Waterfalls Country Visitor Management-
REVENUE

400,000
1140, 
1141 JL 106,838 33% 50%

Budget to be re-
profiled for 2021-
2023

Substantial effort under way on community 
relationships and partnership development to 
enable a plan for the area which has improved 
stakeholder engagement.  

199,657 63,336 101,395

Heritage in Place Grant Scheme 
CAPITAL

50,000 1808 HR Heritage 25,000 N/A 0%
Whole grant to be administered through 
Sustainable Development Fund (SDF) in  
21/22.  No grant payment to date

0 0 0 0 0

WG Additional Support for BMLUP - 
Machinery and Project Management, 
REVENUE, CAPITAL

75,000
1800, 
1220 JH/PS L&B; Reducing land based carbon emissions 

and restoring upland habitats
95% 71,176 0 59693 5,290 6,193

Nature Recovery Action Plan 
Implementation - REVENUE

93,900 1115 TBC

KWA=Biodiversity and Landscape; WFGA 
objective=By focusing on landscapes and 
biodiversity, esp ecosystems management, 
the Authority contributes to a more ‘Resilient 
Wales’. 2.  landscapes and biodiversity will 
benefit from broad-scale targeted and 
promoted conservation projects. Corporate 
Goals & Objectives: Biodiversity will be 
conserved and enhanced through effective 
partnership, facilitation, practical action and 
the Planning function

11,850 160% 47%
Budget review 
planned Nov 21

Revenue element of NRAP delivery, detailed 
work programme developed by ecology team, 
additional funding streams are available which 
need to be utilised if possible.  Additional 
funding made available through ENRAW for 
local nature partnership - and also for Vital 
Signs (to be added to budget).  nior Ecologist 
role  recruitment has taken longer than 
anticipated., impacting on capacity for budget 
management.

43,889 0 0 5,300 19,668

Nature Recovery Action Plan 
Implementation - CAPITAL

141,990
1813/  
1114 TBC

KWA=Biodiversity and Landscape; WFGA 
objective=By focusing on landscapes and 
biodiversity, esp ecosystems management, 
the Authority contributes to a more ‘Resilient 
Wales’. 2.  landscapes and biodiversity will 
benefit from broad-scale targeted and 
promoted conservation projects. Corporate 
Goals & Objectives: Biodiversity will be 
conserved and enhanced through effective 
partnership, facilitation, practical action and 
the Planning function

20,000 9% 42%
Budget review 
planned Nov 21

proportion of spend re-profiled into 2021/22, 
includes local nature partnership project.  
Budget requires review.  Senior Ecologist role  
recruitment has taken longer than anticipated., 
impacting on capacity for budget management.

58,944 0 0 8,500 48,587

IT Upgrading CAPITAL 180,000 1812 KB/RD 20,650 39% 85% £20.7k on order 153,618 43,058 102,415

Llanthony Toilets CAPITAL 30,000 1800 LOO JH 91%
completed, small retention relating to snagging 
paid in 21/22

27,317 0 0 0 27,176

NPVC Natural Play Area Year 1 CAPITAL 75,000 4800 WL 0 N/A 0%
budget to be 
updated

0 0 0 0 0

Rights of Way Improvements 2019/20 
Ffawddog Ridge

170,000 1804 RB 13,429 0% 91%

Underspend on project - Project Officer intends 
to apply remaining resources on completing the 
final 250 metres of the ridge and  on  remedial 
works (topping up surfacing and adding a few 
additional drains.  Order raised for just under 
£12,000

154,326 0 0 23,353 130,973

Meithrin Mynydd Equipment 16,000 1800 JH 0 n/a 19%
Budget to be re-
profiled into 
2021/22

NPA has provided £3,000 in assistance to GPT 
graziers Jan-Feb 21, and project officers are 
working with Garreg Goch graziers to upgrade 
their handling facilities.

3,000 0 0 0 3,000

Foel Deg Access Improvements 44,400 1800 JH 0 n/a 1%
Budget to be re-
profiled into 
2021/22

Budget to be established on confirmation of 
spend requirements, potential additional cost 
anticipated.

230 0 0 0 230

Visitor Website redevelopment 25,000 4403 JB 0 n/a 0%
Budget to be re-
profiled into 
2021/22

project under review by Public Affairs team. 0 0 0 0 0

Improvements to visitor facilities at 
popular sites and Rights of Way 
Priorities 

441,640 1800 JH 116,000 103% 27% 119,549 0 0 0 0

P
age 20



Peatland Restoration - Strategy 
Development and Project initiation 
PLUS PROGRAMME OF WORKS

280,270 1804 RB 20,000 36% 5%

Peatland officer role appointed through 
secondment, start date later than anticipated. 
Contracts let, majority of works anticipated in 
Q3 and Q4

14,529 0 0 7,264 0

Invasive Species river catchment 
programme 2021-2024 (NB re-profile 
under discussion)

165,000
1114  
1813

BL 0 n/a 0%
vegetation control seasonal, contracts let, 
profiled for Q3/Q4 payment

0 0 0 0 0

CANALS FOR COMMUNITIES 
PARTNERSHIP PROJECT (IN 
DEVELOPMENT)

77,000 1804 RB/HR 18,000 100% 23%
Main partnership project still awaiting approval 
from funder, this related expenditure (from 
partner already available) is completed.

18,000 0 0 0 0

SHARED OUTCOMES (PLANNING 
ECOLOGY) PROJECT

42,690 3100 ND 19,900 100% 47% 19,872 0 0 0 0

WARDENS ACCESS IMPROVEMENT 
GRANT  - RIGHTS OF WAY 2021/22

93,715 1102 JH 23,428 84% 42% 39,234 0 0 19,617 0

WATERFALLS AREA VISITOR EXPERIENCE 
IMPROVEMENTS

41,590 1811 JL 0 n/a 0%
funding for expenditure in 2021/22 from WG 
SLSP grant.  Project must be completed by 
March 22.

0 0 0 0 0

CRAIG Y NOS MANAGEMENT MASTER 
PLAN

29,090 4210 WL 0 n/a 0%
funding for expenditure in 2021/22 from WG 
SLSP grant.  Project must be completed by 
March 22.

0 0 0 0 0

UPLAND PATH IMPROVEMENTS 
PROGRAMME 2021-22

221,820 1804 RB 45,000 99% 40% bulk of expenditure programmed for Q3 and Q4 89,448 0 0 44,724 0

0 0% 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 6,095,686 607,915 51% 64% 3,918,755 368,024 1,154,343 1,220,485 867,058

P
age 21



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Internal Audit update Q2 2021/22

Name of Committee  Audit and Scrutiny Committee 
Date 22 October 2021

Report Author Elaine Standen

Job title Finance Manager

Contact Details Elaine.standen@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To update the Committee on progress of the internal audit 
programme for the year.

List of Enclosures Enclosure 1 Financial Controls Audit report
Recommendation a) That the contents of the report and 

agreed management actions be noted.

1.1 Background
TIAA were appointed as the Authority’s internal auditors in 2018.  2020/21 was the final year 
of the original contract, which has been extended for a further year to provide continuity 
during a period of significant organizational change.  Each year an overall assurance report is 
provided to the Committee reflecting the outcome of audits conducted during the year. This is 
an important element of the overall assurance and governance framework of the Authority.  
Internal audit services will shortly need to be re-procured for the next three financial years. 

1.2  Annual Audit Plan 2021/22: Progress
The Annual Plan is reproduced below.  The remaining audits are scheduled for Q3 and Q4.  
The key financial controls audit, reviewing fixed assets and payroll, has been completed and a 
substantial assurance level assessed for the systems and processes reviewed.  A copy of the full 
audit report is provided at Enclosure 1.  A representative of the TIAA audit team will attend 
the meeting.

Quarter Review Type Days Comments

Qtr2 ICT – Data 
Protection Act 
2018

Compliance 3 Responsible Officer – Marc Ronan.  The audit is in progress, 
potential increase in days to include GAP analysis.

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



Quarter Review Type Days Comments

Qtr 2 Key Financial 
Controls (Payroll 
and Expenses 
and Fixed 
Assets)

Assurance 3  Responsible Officer – Elaine Standen, audit completed, 
substantial assurance

Qtr 3 Planning Assurance 3 Responsible Officer – Tracy Nettleton.  The audit is 
planned for late November/early December.

Qtr 3

(Block 
report)

Buildings 
Management 
and 
Maintenance

Assurance 3 Responsible Officer – Wayne Lewis

Qtr 4 Governance 
Strategic 
Control

Assurance 3 Responsible Officer – CEO.  This audit has been 
scheduled at the end of the year to allow time for the 
new Senior Team to be in place.

Qtr 4 Follow Up Follow Up 1

Follow up of implementation of agreed priorities 1 and 2 
actions from audit reports, ensuring the Authority is 
implementing recommendations and providing reports 
to the Audit and Scrutiny Committee.

1 Annual Planning
Manage-
ment

1
Assessing the Organisation’s annual audit needs – 
requirement of Internal Audit Standards.

4 Annual Report
Manage-
ment

1

Reporting on the overall conclusions and summary 
opinion based on the year’s audits and other 
information and providing input to the Annual 
Governance Statement.

Page 24



Quarter Review Type Days Comments

1-4
Audit 
Management

N/A 3

This time includes: meeting client management, 
overseeing the audit plan, reporting and supporting the 
Audit and Scrutiny Committee, liaising with External 
Audit and Client briefings (including fraud alerts, fraud 
digests and committee briefings). The time also includes 
management of the client portal. The client portal is a 
one stop shop for managing internal audit reports, 
progress and recommendation tracker as well as 
briefings, fraud alerts, fraud updates and committee 
briefings.

Total days 21

1.5 Risk
Internal audits address areas assessed as higher risk for the Authority and will recommend 
actions which will help to manage and reduce risks.  Internal audit is one of the tools which is 
used by Members and management to gain assurance that internal controls are operating 
effectively.

1.6 Conclusion
The work of internal audit is an important source of assurance on the governance and 
management of the Authority which supports the Committee in carrying out its role.  No 
urgent issues were identified by the audit of financial controls.

RECOMMENDATION:

a) That the contents of the report and agreed management actions be noted.

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 September 2021 

 

 

 

 

 Internal Audit  

  FINAL  

     

 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority     

 Assurance Review of Key Financial Controls (Payroll, Expenses and Fixed Assets)    

 2021/22    

     

 

P
age 27



 

   
Brecon Beacons National Park 

Assurance Review of Key Financial Controls (Payroll, Expenses and Fixed Assets) 
Page 1 

 

Executive Summary 
 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT  KEY STRATEGIC FINDINGS 

 

 

 

The Authority has robust controls in place for the processing of payroll and 

expenses and the management of fixed assets. 

 

However, a number of payroll related polices had passed the date of review 

and a recommendation has been raised relating to the need to update these 

policies. It was noted that there are no significant changes required. 

 

The Financial Regulations were due to be reviewed in March 2020 but this 

exercise will be completed following the appointment of the new Chief 

Executive and the approval of the revised Scheme of Delegation by the 

Authority.  
 

ASSURANCE OVER KEY STRATEGIC RISK / OBJECTIVE  GOOD PRACTICE IDENTIFIED 

Risk 107 Asset Management Arrangements 

 

 

All documents requested for evidence during the sample testing were 

provided and no errors were identified.  
 

   

SCOPE  ACTION POINTS 

Payroll - The review considered the arrangements for: the creation, amendment and 

deletion of payroll records; payment of allowances and pay awards; and payment of 

salaries. The scope of the review did not include determination of salary scales, 

appointment and removal of staff, severance payments or reimbursement of travel and 

subsistence expenses, or pension arrangements. 

Expenses - The review checked compliance with the expenses and additional payments 

policy and procedure. The scope of the review did not include any other aspect of the 

Payroll arrangements. 

Fixed Assets – The review considered the arrangements for creation, amendment and 

deletion of records within the fixed asset register. The review will include physical 

verification of the existence of a sample of assets. 

 

Urgent Important Routine Operational 

0 0 2 0 

 

P
age 28



   

 

            
      PRIORITY GRADINGS      

1 URGENT 
Fundamental control issue on which 
action should be taken immediately. 

 2 IMPORTANT 
Control issue on which action should be 
taken at the earliest opportunity. 

 3 ROUTINE 
Control issue on which action should be 
taken. 

      Brecon Beacons National Park 
Assurance Review of Key Financial Controls (Payroll, Expenses 

and Fixed Assets) 

Page 2 

 

Assurance - Key Findings and Management Action Plan (MAP) 
 

Rec. Risk Area Finding Recommendation Priority Management 

Comments 

Implementation 

Timetable 

(dd/mm/yy) 

Responsible 

Officer 

(Job Title) 

1 Directed Brecon Beacons National Park Authority has a 

number of policies in place relating to payroll. 

All human resources policies relating to 

payroll are contained in section two of the 

financial procedures and a review of these 

policies was carried out during the audit. The 

review identified that seven out of the nine 

policies in place had not been reviewed for a 

number of years and these are set out in 

appendix C. The Staff Expenses and Statutory 

Pay Allowance Rates sections of the Policy 

were found to be in date and were last 

reviewed and approved in May 2020 and 

February 2021 respectively.  

All outdated Policies relating to payroll 

be reviewed and updated as 

appropriate.   

3 Most of these policies do not require 

change.  All the policy review dates will 

be updated and where necessary the 

policies will be revised. 

31/03/22 HR Officer 

2 Directed The Authority's Financial Regulations were 

due to be reviewed in March 2020. During 

discussions with the Finance Manager it was 

confirmed that the Financial Regulations 

would be reviewed in line with the 

appointment of the new Chief Executive and 

the review will commence once the Scheme 

of Delegation has been approved by the 

Board.   

Financial Regulations be updated as 

planned.  

3 Agreed. 31/12/22 Finance 

Manager 

 

P
age 29



   

 

   

ADVISORY NOTE 

Operational Effectiveness Matters need to be considered as part of management review of procedures. 

Brecon Beacons National Park 
Assurance Review of Key Financial Controls (Payroll, Expenses and Fixed Assets) 

Page 3 

 

Operational - Effectiveness Matter (OEM) Action Plan 
 

Ref Risk Area Finding Suggested Action Management Comments 

No Operational Effectiveness Matters were identified.  

 

P
age 30



   

 

   
Brecon Beacons National Park 

Assurance Review of Key Financial Controls (Payroll, Expenses and Fixed Assets) 
Page 4 

 

Findings 
 

 

Directed Risk:  

Failure to properly direct the service to ensure compliance with the requirements of the organisation. 

 

Ref Expected Key Risk Mitigation Effectiveness of 

arrangements 

Cross Reference 

to MAP 

Cross Reference 

to OEM 

GF Governance Framework 
There is a documented process instruction which accords with the relevant regulatory guidance, 

Financial Instructions and Scheme of Delegation. 
In place 1, & 2 - 

RM Risk Mitigation 
The documented process aligns with the mitigating arrangements set out in the corporate risk 

register. 
In place - - 

C Compliance 
Compliance with statutory, regulatory and policy requirements is demonstrated, with action taken 

in cases of identified non-compliance. 
In place - - 

 

Other Findings 

 
During the opening meeting, the self-assessment response on the Audit Planning Memorandum was discussed. It was identified that the pandemic may have reduced the 

effectiveness of the controls through staff absence and sickness over the past 18 months along with a number of senior staff vacancies. Findings identified through this audit 

reflect this and recommendations have been raised where appropriate. During discussions with the Finance Manager regarding the review of the Human Resources Polices 

relating to payroll, it was identified that a recruitment of a Temporary HR Assistant has eased the pressures on the HR Manager; this will allow for the recommendations raised 

relating to the HR Policies to be taken forward. The Temporary HR Assistant post will remain in place until March 2022.  

 
Formal processes are in place for the documentation and authorisation of new starters, leavers and changes to the payroll. Changes to personal records, grades and contracts 

are entered via the secure CITRIX link on the SAPS payroll database held and maintained for the Authority by Cardiff Council.  Monthly changes to standing data are stored in 

the confidential HR files. 

P
age 31



   

 

   
Brecon Beacons National Park 

Assurance Review of Key Financial Controls (Payroll, Expenses and Fixed Assets) 
Page 5 

 

Other Findings 

 
Expenses claims, monthly timesheets, enhanced hours and additional hours claim forms are completed by individual members of staff, signed and dated and given to Line 

Managers for approval. During the pandemic where staff have been working remotely, authorisations have been given via email and electronic signatures. Electronic signatures 

were sighted during the sample testing carried out and no issues were raised.  

 
Fixed Assets, as defined by the Financial Regulations, include buildings, land, equipment, fittings, furniture, stocks, records (both manual and computerised), cash and other 

items owned or leased by the Authority. The Authority is responsible for establishing an asset management strategy and plan and maintaining a comprehensive asset register. 

A copy of the Asset Register was provided for review and it was confirmed that the responsible owner of each asset carries out an annual verification of assets. Also, an annual 

verification of the assets is completed as part of the year end accounts to check for impairments.  

 
Risk 107 'Asset Management Arrangements' in the Corporate Risks section of the risk register has been given a probability rating of possible, a RAG status of amber and an 

impact rating of severe. The last update for this risk was on 14th July 2021 and it was noted that there is currently no role in the establishment to take forward work relating to 

the visitor’s centre proposed by Cooke and Arkwright. In the interim, management of the visitor centre’s building maintenance and improvements is undertaken by the 

Commercial Manager.  

 
The payment of employees, members and pensioners of the Authority is made by the Finance Manager in accordance with the relevant legislation and detailed guidance supplied 

by Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs (HMRC).  It represents the majority of expenditure by the Authority and is subject to rigorous internal controls.   All individuals employed 

by the Authority must be added to the payroll and have the appropriate PAYE (Pay as you earn) and National Insurance (NI) deductions made from payments to them, unless 

they are self-employed as defined by HMRC or employed by a recognised staff agency. It is the responsibility of the Chief Executive with the advice of the Human Resources (HR) 

Officer and in consultation with staff through the appropriate mechanisms to implement management procedures which help to ensure that each employee provides the level 

and standard of service to the Authority required by their contract of employment. Compliance testing was carried out on samples of 10 leavers and 10 starters respectively 

since August 2020 to date and five expense claims over a period of four months (April, May, June and July 2021). Testing did not identify any errors in any of the areas covered; 

all processes had been followed accurately.  

 
BACS Transmission forms from April, May and June 2021 were provided for review and found to be dually signed in a timely manner and within the authorisation limits. Due to 

the pandemic and remote working arrangements, signatures had been provided electronically.  

 

  

P
age 32



   

 

   
Brecon Beacons National Park 

Assurance Review of Key Financial Controls (Payroll, Expenses and Fixed Assets) 
Page 6 

 

 

Delivery Risk:  

Failure to deliver the service in an effective manner which meets the requirements of the organisation. 

 

Ref Expected Key Risk Mitigation Effectiveness of 

arrangements 

Cross Reference 

to MAP 

Cross Reference 

to OEM 

PM Performance Monitoring 
There are agreed KPIs for the process which align with the business plan requirements and are 

independently monitored, with corrective action taken in a timely manner. 
In place - - 

FC Financial Constraint The process operates within the agreed financial budget for the year. In place - - 

R Resilience 
Good practice to respond to business interruption events and to enhance the economic, effective 

and efficient delivery is adopted. 
In place - - 

 

Other Findings 

 
The Finance Manager produces monthly Payroll Comparison reports. The reports compare the current month to the previous month and note the difference, if any, and a reason 

is given for each instance. Reports for April, May and June 2021 were provided for review and did not identify any issues.  

 
The Welsh Government issues an annual approved expenditure limit together with details of the 75% National Park Grant payable for the coming year in January of each financial 

year.  The Chief Executive is responsible for preparing a detailed budget for the coming financial year with an accompanying levy statement for approval by the Authority.  The 

Finance Manager presented the draft budget for 2021/22 for approval during the National Park Authority meeting held on 12th February 2021.  

A review of the ledger identified that the approved budget for salaries and expenses for 2021/22 was £3,832,699. At the time of the review, up to August 2021, the actual spend 

to date was £1,339,392.66 giving a 37% underspend. The underspend is recognised by the Authority and was expected due to staff vacancies.  

 
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (BBNPA) utilise Cardiff Council for the provision of the payroll services. A Service Level Agreement (SLA) is in place for the period covering 

1st April 2021 to 31st March 2022. The SLA acts as a formal contract between BBNPA and Cardiff Council and sets out the services which are to be provided to BBNPA. 

 
Both the HR and Finance departments are involved with the processing of payroll and expenses and have adapted well to remote working.  

P
age 33



   

 

   
Brecon Beacons National Park 

Assurance Review of Key Financial Controls (Payroll, Expenses and Fixed Assets) 
Page 7 

 

EXPLANATORY INFORMATION Appendix A 
 

Scope and Limitations of the Review 

1. The definition of the type of review, the limitations and the responsibilities of 

management in regard to this review are set out in the Annual Plan. As set out in 

the Audit Charter, substantive testing is only carried out where this has been 

agreed with management and unless explicitly shown in the scope no such work 

has been performed. 

Disclaimer 

2. The matters raised in this report are only those that came to the attention of the 

auditor during the course of the review, and are not necessarily a comprehensive 

statement of all the weaknesses that exist or all the improvements that might be 

made. This report has been prepared solely for management's use and must not 

be recited or referred to in whole or in part to third parties without our prior 

written consent. No responsibility to any third party is accepted as the report has 

not been prepared, and is not intended, for any other purpose. TIAA neither 

owes nor accepts any duty of care to any other party who may receive this report 

and specifically disclaims any liability for loss, damage or expense of whatsoever 

nature, which is caused by their reliance on our report. 

Effectiveness of arrangements 

3. The definitions of the effectiveness of arrangements are set out below. These 

are based solely upon the audit work performed, assume business as usual, and 

do not necessarily cover management override or exceptional circumstances. 

In place The control arrangements in place mitigate the risk from arising. 

Partially in place 
The control arrangements in place only partially mitigate the risk 

from arising. 

Not in place 
The control arrangements in place do not effectively mitigate the 

risk from arising. 

Assurance Assessment 

4. The definitions of the assurance assessments are: 

Substantial 

Assurance 

There is a robust system of internal controls operating effectively to 

ensure that risks are managed and process objectives achieved. 

Reasonable 

Assurance 

The system of internal controls is generally adequate and operating 

effectively but some improvements are required to ensure that risks 

are managed and process objectives achieved.  

Limited 

Assurance 

The system of internal controls is generally inadequate or not 

operating effectively and significant improvements are required to 

ensure that risks are managed and process objectives achieved.  

No Assurance 
There is a fundamental breakdown or absence of core internal controls 

requiring immediate action. 

Acknowledgement 

5. We would like to thank staff for their co-operation and assistance during the 

course of our work. 

Release of Report 

6. The table below sets out the history of this report. 

Stage Issued Response Received 

Audit Planning Memorandum: 9th July 2021 12th August 2021  

Draft Report: 8th September 2021 22nd September 2021 

Final Report: 23rd September 2021  

 

P
age 34



   

 

Brecon Beacons National Park 
Assurance Review of Key Financial Controls (Payroll, Expenses and Fixed Assets) 

Page 8 

 

AUDIT PLANNING MEMORANDUM Appendix B 
 

Client: Brecon Beacons National Park 

Review: Block 1-Key Financial Controls (Payroll, Expenses and Fixed Assets) 

Type of Review: Assurance Audit Lead: Auditor  

 

Outline scope (per Annual Plan): Payroll - The review considers the arrangements for: the creation, amendment and deletion of payroll records; payment of allowances and pay awards; and payment 

of salaries. The scope of the review does not include determination of salary scales, appointment and removal of staff, severance payments or reimbursement of travel 

and subsistence expenses, or pension arrangements. Expenses - The review will check compliance with the expenses and additional payments policy and procedure. 

The scope of the review will not include any other aspect of the Payroll arrangements. Fixed Assets – The review considers the arrangements for creation, amendment 

and deletion of records within the fixed asset register. The review will include physical verification of the existence of a sample of assets. 

 Directed Delivery 

 Governance Framework: There is a documented process instruction which accords 

with the relevant regulatory guidance, Financial Instructions and Scheme of 

Delegation. 

Performance monitoring: There are agreed KPIs for the process which align with 

the business plan requirements and are independently monitored, with 

corrective action taken in a timely manner. 

Detailed scope will consider: Risk Mitigation: The documented process aligns with the mitigating arrangements 

set out in the corporate risk register. 

Financial constraint: The process operates with the agreed financial budget for 

the year. 

 Compliance: Compliance with statutory, regulatory and policy requirements is 

demonstrated, with action taken in cases of identified non-compliance. 

Resilience: Good practice to respond to business interruption events and to 

enhance the economic, effective and efficient delivery is adopted. 

Requested additions to scope: (if required then please provide brief detail) 

Exclusions from scope: A physical verification of the fixed assets was not undertaken due to the Coivd-19 restrictions in place. 

 

Planned Start Date: 12th August 2021 Exit Meeting Date: 20th August 2021 Exit Meeting to be held with: Finance Manager  

SELF ASSESSMENT RESPONSE 

Matters over the previous 12 months relating to activity to be reviewed Y/N (if Y then please provide brief 

details separately) 

Has there been any reduction in the effectiveness of the internal controls due to staff absences through sickness and/or vacancies etc? Y 

Have there been any breakdowns in the internal controls resulting in disciplinary action or similar? N 

Have there been any significant changes to the process? N 

Are there any particular matters/periods of time you would like the review to consider? N 

  

P
age 35



   

 

Brecon Beacons National Park 
Assurance Review of Key Financial Controls (Payroll, Expenses and Fixed Assets) 

Page 9 

 

ADDITONAL INFORMATION  Appendix C 

Policy relating to recommendation 1 

Policy Approval Date 

Vehicle Mileage Allowances 11/04/2011 

Pay Progression 05/01/2005 

Pay starting salary, promotion and up-grading 05/01/2005 

Acting up and honoraria payments 05/01/2005 

Salary protection 05/01/2005 

Pay and allowances 24/08/2010 

Additional payments 23/12/2015 

 

P
age 36



Audit Wales Action Plan Update

Name of 
Committee

 Audit and Scrutiny Committee

Date 22 October 2021

Report Author Julia Gruffydd

Job title Democratic Services Manager

Contact Details Julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk 
07976 812832

Purpose of Report To comply with Audit Wales requirements to report 
progress to Audit and Scrutiny Committee on their review of 
the Authority’s Change Programme Action Plan (CPAP)

Single Integrated 
Assessment

Not applicable

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1: Updated action plan

Link to Audit Wales full report

Report to last Audit and Scrutiny Committee July 2021

Public Interest Test Not applicable

Recommendation To note progress against the Change Programme 
Action Plan

1.1 Introduction or Background

The Authority received the Audit Wales report in March and approved its 
recommendations and an action plan at a meeting held on 30 March 2021.  One of the 
recommendations was to provide reports to this committee on progress achieved 
against the actions.  A link to the last report is given above.

1.2 Proposals

Page 37

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk
https://www.audit.wales/publication/delivery-change-programme-brecon-beacons-national-park-authority
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/documents/g7928/Public%20reports%20pack%2023rd-Jul-2021%2010.00%20Audit%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=10


The attached Action Plan has been updated to reflect progress made since the last 
report.  The focus has been less on a ‘change programme’ and more on building the 
Authority we want for the future.  This includes a programme of member 
engagement/development sessions as part of the National Park Management Plan 
consultation process.  Working with the consultant appointed by the Transition 
Director the Chief Executive will:  

1. Put in place a process of engagement with staff and relevant stakeholders 
to develop and produce a corporate plan for 2022/23 which has a clear line of 
sight from the strategic context, through the emerging management plan to 
objectives for teams and work areas which can then be used to develop individual 
objectives.

2. Alongside the engagement on the Corporate Plan, put in place a process of 
engagement with staff which will inform the development of 
organisational values linked to work on behaviours and existing corporate 
governance.  This work will then be taken to a next stage with Members of the 
Authority.  

3. A revised and effective staff review framework to be developed which will be 
informed by 1 and 2 above.

4. Working with the Chief Executive, put in place a risk framework – including 
the development of an organisational view of risk appetite across a range 
of functions, working with Members and wider staff where appropriate and building 
on existing products.  The engagement with Members of the Authority will be linked 
to Member development.

5.     The Authority is delivering a significant portfolio of projects and is in the process of 
recruiting a programme and portfolio manager to manage and drive that 
portfolio.  Undertake a process of mapping the Authority’s portfolio which 
defines, performance measures, accountabilities (including reporting and governance), 
risks and issues, timelines and trajectory and cost and quality monitoring as a package 
of work which will lay the ground for the incoming programme and portfolio 
manager and enable them to take a strategic view of their effectiveness.

6.     Work alongside a separate piece of activity during the development of work 
packages 1, 2, 4 and 5 to enable the development of a pipeline of future 
potential bids and supporting governance framework required by the 
Authority to help deliver on strategic vision and objectives.

7.     To provide support and advice to the Chief Executive and Lead Officers on 
strategic matters if relevant and required. 

What has gone well

 NPA approval of the new senior structure
 Recruitment – advertisements live for the new senior posts
 Full time Monitoring Officer/Solicitor/DPO role approved by NPA and officer in post 

with clear priorities for his workload
 PA recruited for the CEO
 Regular positive updates to all staff from the CEO

Page 38



 Work progressing well on the redrafting of the Scheme of Delegation and the 
definition of governance bodies (committees, forums, working groups)

 Schedule of Modern.gov refresher sessions being delivered

Areas where progress has been slower

 Roles and responsibilities (member workshop now scheduled for 5 November 2021 
with an external facilitator)

 Values and behaviours – although work with Officers is now scheduled in the pre 
Christmas period

 Staff appraisal system
 Protocol for communication between members and officers
 Review of regulatory documents
 Member induction actions

Based on this analysis some of the deadlines in the Action Plan have had to be adjusted. 
Audit Wales are holding regular monthly meetings with the Chief Executive which has 
enabled her to discuss the rate of progress against some of the actions.

1.3 Implications

Progress has been slower than planned in some areas as we work to stabilize the 
Authority.  However, a plan of action is in place and we are working to manage the risk 
of further skills flight and to improve morale through this period of maximum 
uncertainty.  

1.4 Risk

There is a risk that Audit Wales will consider that the progress made to date against 
their recommendations is not sufficient and that they will take further action.  There is 
also a risk that skilled staff will leave the organisation, or show symptoms of stress given 
the prolonged period of uncertainty.  However, every effort is being made to mitigate 
these risks through engagement with Audit Wales and engagement and communication 
with staff. 

1.5 Conclusion

Members are asked to note progress to date and seek clarification as needed.

Page 39



RECOMMENDATION: To note progress against the Audit Wales Action 
Plan.

Page 40



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority – Change Programme Action Plan

Progress Report 3 – To Audit and Scrutiny Committee:  22 October 2021

In response to Audit Wales - Brecon Beacons National Park Authority – Delivery of Change Programme (2259A2020-21)
Feb 18th 2021

Link to Glossary at end

Audit Wales 
Recommendation

Actions
(workstreams to be 
expanded)

Account
ability

Govn’ce 
required

By When Progress to date What does success 
look like? Actions 
will be marked 
closed when 
completed in full

Rec 1 Drive Forward the Change programme

R1.1 Develop and agree an 
Action Plan with clear 
milestones for delivering 
the Change Programme

Develop Draft Change 
Programme Action Plan 
(CPAP)

Consult all staff and 
members

Present for approval to NPA 

Transition 
Director 
(TD)

NPA March 
30th

March 
2021

17/3/21

30/3/21

CEO commenced 
19/7/21. Senior staff 
structure agreed by 
NPA on 9/8/21. 
Adverts for two 
Director posts out 
8/10/21.
Audit Wales confirmed 
that the ‘Change 
Programme’ element 
of the Action plan 
would now focus on 
developing 

Action Closed by 
Transition Director
 (all actions agreed)

P
age 41

https://www.audit.wales/publication/delivery-change-programme-brecon-beacons-national-park-authority


Audit Wales 
Recommendation

Actions
(workstreams to be 
expanded)

Account
ability

Govn’ce 
required

By When Progress to date What does success 
look like? Actions 
will be marked 
closed when 
completed in full

organisational 
capacity and 
resilience.

Interim staff structure in 
place, including senior 
leadership team.

TD / CEO TD / CEO May 21 As above. New team 
expected to be 
confirmed after 
interviews on 
20/12/21.

Action Closed by 
Transition Director

In place and 
communicated to 
staff and members.

Drive progress on Change 
Programme and long-term 
staff structure to include:

TD / 
Finance 
Officer

NPA

Ongoing

30/06/21

Director posts out to 
advert, closing date 
5/11/21.  CEO 
reviewing and CGT 
confirming extended 
acting up 
arrangements and 
recruitment needs to 
fill gaps.

New senior 
leadership team 
recruited.

P
age 42



Audit Wales 
Recommendation

Actions
(workstreams to be 
expanded)

Account
ability

Govn’ce 
required

By When Progress to date What does success 
look like? Actions 
will be marked 
closed when 
completed in full

Proposal for BBNPA 
Monitoring Officer and 
Authority solicitor - 
combined post 

New appointee 
commenced 1/7/21 
(12 month contract) 
and outgoing MO 
retained for key 
meetings during July 
21.  Work on the 
future and final 
structure will include 
review of this post 
against the Authority’s 
needs

Action closed by 
Transition Director
Post filled. The 
Authority has 
permanent 
legal/Data 
Protection advice 
through statutory 
post of Monitoring 
Officer

Permanent staff structure 
re- confirmed.

TD / CEO NPA 09/08/21 Senior structure 
agreed by NPA on 
09/08/21.

Full structure 
finalised and 
approved at NPA

Programme for recruitment 
in place: including 
milestones and end date 
for Change Programme.

TD / CEO NPA NPA 

Spring 2021

Timetable agreed for 
recruitment as above, 
to include member 
and staff engagement 
with the process. 
Further work on 
structures will be done 

Recruitment 
timetable agreed

P
age 43



Audit Wales 
Recommendation

Actions
(workstreams to be 
expanded)

Account
ability

Govn’ce 
required

By When Progress to date What does success 
look like? Actions 
will be marked 
closed when 
completed in full

as part of the 
Corporate Plan 
process and reviewed 
once Directors are in 
post.

Values and Behaviours 
reviewed & agreed for staff 
and members of Authority

TD / CEO 
/ HR 

NPA Spring 2022 This is being 
progressed by Mark 
Evans (consultant 
working with CEO) as 
part of the Corporate 
Plan process.

Governance & 
Member Development 
Working Group have 
considered this area of 
work and an externally 
facilitated Member 
workshop is planned 
for 5/11/21

A Values and 
Behaviours 
statement approved 
at NPA

Staff Performance 
Appraisal system approved 
which aligns performance 
to BBNPA vision, KPIs and 
values and behaviours

HR / TD / 
CEO

NPA Autumn 
2021

Consultant Mark 
Evans is working on 
this, to include 
workshops with staff 
to highlight their role 

Approved at NPA

P
age 44



Audit Wales 
Recommendation

Actions
(workstreams to be 
expanded)

Account
ability

Govn’ce 
required

By When Progress to date What does success 
look like? Actions 
will be marked 
closed when 
completed in full

in delivering the 
Corporate Plan

Staff Appraisals completed 
for 100% of staff by the end 
of the first full year of 
operation. Development is 
identified and a 
programme of work 
confirmed

HR / Line 
Managers

NPA 31/12/22 Consultant Mark 
Evans is working on 
this with staff.

100% compliance

R1.2 Vest Scrutiny of delivery 
of CPAP in the Audit & 
Scrutiny Committee

Programme with 
milestones set for Audit 
and Scrutiny to monitor 
delivery of Change 
Programme. Additional 
meetings to be called as / if 
required. Risk-based 
approach to reporting.

TD / CEO Audit & 
Scrutiny 
committee
7/5/21

A&S 7/5/21 First report to Audit 
went Scrutiny on 
7/5/21, the second on 
23/7/21 and this third 
report on 22/10/21.

Interim update sent to 
Audit Wales at end of 
May 2021.  CEO is 
meeting regularly with 
Audit Wales officers.

A&S regular 
confirmation to NPA 
that progress is 
being maintained

R1.3 Monitor implementation 
of the CPAP monthly to 
ensure actions are 
progressed and Change 
Programme concluded.

Set up CPAP monthly 
monitoring group and 
report quarterly to Audit & 
Scrutiny.

TD / CEO 
/ HR

TD /CEO & 
Leadership 
Team

From 
01/04/21

DSM project manager 
for the action plan and 
will report to CGT and 
ASC. Detailed 
operational plan 

Confirmation – 
programme on track 
and completed.

P
age 45



Audit Wales 
Recommendation

Actions
(workstreams to be 
expanded)

Account
ability

Govn’ce 
required

By When Progress to date What does success 
look like? Actions 
will be marked 
closed when 
completed in full

Use project management 
approach and risk-based 
reporting to monitor 
progress.

drawn up and being 
monitored and 
updated by DSM. Also 
presented to 
G&MDWG

R1.4 Regularly update & 
communicate progress 
on delivering Change 
Programme to all 
members and staff.

Circulate proposed CPAP to 
all staff and members

TD / CEO 
/ Chair 
BBNPA

17-22nd 
March 21

Staff will be able to 
see progress reports in 
Audit and Scrutiny 
agendas

14/07/21 – regular 
updates have been 
given to all staff 
through emails, 
newsletter and all 
staff meetings. All 
staff were consulted 
on proposals for 
senior team 15/07/21

Record of regular 
updates

Two weekly newsletter on 
progress on Change 
Programme to all staff and 
members

TD / CEO From 
01/04/21

The Transition 
Director is sending 
two weekly 
newsletters to staff 
and members with 
positive messages and 
information

Circulated from 
01/04/21

P
age 46



Audit Wales 
Recommendation

Actions
(workstreams to be 
expanded)

Account
ability

Govn’ce 
required

By When Progress to date What does success 
look like? Actions 
will be marked 
closed when 
completed in full

Monthly All staff meetings 
or meetings with Teams

TD / CEO From 
01/04/21

All staff meeting held 
on 14/4/21 to advise 
staff of delay in 
appointments and on 
17/7/21 to introduce 
the consultant 
working with the 
Transition Director
All staff meeting held 
with new CEO on 
20/07/21

All staff are kept up 
to date with 
organisational news

R1.5 Address poor morale 
amongst staff by 
ensuring officers have 
sufficient line manager 
and wider organisational 
support

Interim and permanent 
staff structure has 
appropriate line 
management 
responsibilities.

TD / CEO NPA 
28/5/21

NPA 
16/4/21

CEO continues to 
ensure that acting up 
arrangements in place 
pending recruitment 
of Directors.  Specific 
capacity issues in 
Communities and 
Planning sections are 
being addressed 

All teams are clear 
about line 
management and 
feel supported. 
Number of direct 
reports appropriate 
to size of team

Clear reporting lines for 
raising concerns and 
monitoring.

Monitorin
g officer / 
HR / DSM

July 2021 This has been delayed 
but will be addressed 
as part of the review 
of regulatory/ethical 
documents and 
procedures

Process in place and 
communicated to 
staff and members; 
monitoring reports 
to Audit and Scrutiny

P
age 47



Audit Wales 
Recommendation

Actions
(workstreams to be 
expanded)

Account
ability

Govn’ce 
required

By When Progress to date What does success 
look like? Actions 
will be marked 
closed when 
completed in full

Monthly pulse staff surveys 
to check level of confidence

HR / TD / 
CEO

From April 
21

Report to 
Audit & 
Scrutiny 

Survey completed in 
relation to staff 
confidence in 
returning to the office 
and future working 
arrangements.

Discussions taking 
place about a pulse 
survey to address 
confidence issues 

Results reported to 
A&S

2 Strengthen Governance

R2.1 Review and clarify roles 
and responsibilities of 
members and officers to 
ensure standards for 
conduct and required 
behaviour are clear and 
unambiguous, including 
what to do if things are 
not working.

Explore undertaking review 
in conjunctions with Welsh 
Government, WLGA and 
other NPAs to deliver best 
practice model which can 
be applied beyond BBNPA

Include appropriate 
protocols for comms 
between members / 
officers

MO, DSM 
and 
G&MDW
G

NPA 30/7/21 An externally 
facilitated member 
workshop has been 
arranged for 5/11/21 
to address roles and 
responsibilities.

Chair, Deputy Chair 
and DSM have fed into 
WG consultation on 
the protocol for local 
authorities appointing 
members to NPAs in 
Wales, which has now 

Review complete 
and staff and 
members know what 
protocols are in 
place and how to 
invoke them if things 
go wrong

Clear monitoring in 
place

P
age 48



Audit Wales 
Recommendation

Actions
(workstreams to be 
expanded)

Account
ability

Govn’ce 
required

By When Progress to date What does success 
look like? Actions 
will be marked 
closed when 
completed in full

Include review / 
simplification of Scheme of 
Delegation

Include clear process for 
monitoring compliance and 
addressing breaches as part 
of documents

Nov 2021

been finalised and 
shared with 
constituent 
authorities.  Three 
Welsh Parks producing 
a video to attract 
interest in the NPA 
role during the local 
government elections 
in May 2022.  The 
protocol highlights the 
importance of skills 
and experience of 
members and the 
requirement to have 
performance 
development reviews

Incoming Monitoring 
Officer is redrafting 
Scheme of Delegation 
and will seek NPA 
approval in November.

This has been delayed 
due to change in 
Monitoring Officer but 
a review of regulatory 

Revised Scheme of 
Delegation approved 
by NPA

Process reviewed, in 
place and 
communicated

P
age 49



Audit Wales 
Recommendation

Actions
(workstreams to be 
expanded)

Account
ability

Govn’ce 
required

By When Progress to date What does success 
look like? Actions 
will be marked 
closed when 
completed in full

Clarify role of Monitoring 
Officer to staff

Integrate work of Board 
Effectiveness.

Ensure part of Induction for 
staff and members

document will address 
this.

Role of MO clarified in 
the FAQ on Regulatory 
Documents, published 
online in May 2021 
and communicated to 
staff and members.

Board Effectiveness 
work has been 
integrated into a 
detailed operational 
work plan.  Work is 
ongoing and under 
review by G&MDWG.

Limited progress to 
date due to capacity 
but will be completed 
as soon as possible.

All clear on role of 
MO

Members and 
officers are clear 
about the roles of 
members and 
officers and how to 
address any issues

Circulate revised 
documents / protocols to 

DSM & 
Chair of 

NPA for 
any 
changes

After 
30/7/21

DSM  is working with 
the new Monitoring 

Circulated / 
uploaded and 
training given to staff

P
age 50



Audit Wales 
Recommendation

Actions
(workstreams to be 
expanded)

Account
ability

Govn’ce 
required

By When Progress to date What does success 
look like? Actions 
will be marked 
closed when 
completed in full

all staff / members and 
upload

G&MDW
G

Officer on review of 
protocols

Quarterly reporting on 
compliance / roles

DSM & 
Chair of 
G&MDW
G 

Audit & 
Scrutiny 
Committee

From 
22/10/21

Non-compliance to be 
reported if applicable

Appropriate action 
taken to address 
non-compliance

Monitoring through staff 
and member annual 
performance appraisal

All Line 
managers 
/ Chairs / 
HR / DSM

From start 
of first 
cycle after 
approval of 
appraisal 
system

The DSM will be 
working with the 
Governance & 
Member Development 
Working Group to 
include monitoring of 
understanding of roles 
and responsibilities.  
The review of the staff 
appraisal system will 
also need to include 
this

Member and staff 
appraisals are 100% 
completed and 
issues addressed in 
timely and 
appropriate way

R2.2 Develop a programme of 
training and support to 
ensure all members and 
officers understand their 
responsibilities and 
expected behaviours

Mandatory training for all 
existing and new members 
and officers (include in 
Induction) with reference 
to protocols and sanctions, 
and refreshed sessions 
delivered as needed

DSM / 
Monitorin
g Officer / 
HR

G&MDWG From 
30/7/21

Two new independent 
members of standards 
were appointed from 
1/10/21.Videos on 
conduct issues are in 
place for members 
and will be used for all 
new members 
appointed.  DSM will 

All staff and 
members know 
where to find 
guidance and what 
to do if things go 
wrong. 

Complaints are 
handled well, 

P
age 51



Audit Wales 
Recommendation

Actions
(workstreams to be 
expanded)

Account
ability

Govn’ce 
required

By When Progress to date What does success 
look like? Actions 
will be marked 
closed when 
completed in full

work with MO and HR 
Officer to ensure all 
new staff are aware of 
the protocols and how 
to invoke them, and 
what behaviours are 
expected

Meeting with Chairs 
24/5/21 explored 
options for self-
reflection after 
meetings, recording all 
meetings, watching 
recordings

Ensure clear documents 
and protocols, FAQs and 
advice is available to both 
staff and members

DSM has produced an 
FAQ on all regulatory 
documents – now 
published and 
disseminated

Explore delivery of training 
for members and senior 
officers through external 
facilitator in order to build 
a strong team.

Options have been 
explored for 
workshops and 
facilitated sessions, 
both now and once 
the new leadership 

investigated 
appropriately and 
concluded promptly.

The Authority will be 
led by a strong and 
effective team of 
members and senior 
officers who have 
the confidence of 
staff and external 
partners. 
Appropriate 
behaviours are 
demonstrated in 
public meetings and 
interactions between 
officers and 
members.

Governance will be 
more effective, 
efficient and 
appropriate to the 
size, risk and scope 
of the NPA. Positive 

P
age 52



Audit Wales 
Recommendation

Actions
(workstreams to be 
expanded)

Account
ability

Govn’ce 
required

By When Progress to date What does success 
look like? Actions 
will be marked 
closed when 
completed in full

team is in place. Initial 
workshop scheduled 
for members on 
5/11/21

feedback from 
members and staff in 
pulse surveys

R2.3 Ensure all key policies 
for standards of conduct 
and required behaviours 
are strictly adhered to

Review and re-publish 
protocols and standards to 
include:
Member/Officer Protocol
Scheme of 
Delegation (where 
relevant)
Code of Corporate 
Governance.
Local Resolution Protocol.

CEO / 
Chairs & 
MO

National 
Park 
Authority

Autumn 
2021

These are being 
reviewed with new 
MO but it is hoped to 
seek approval for any 
changes and reissue in 
the Autumn.  Current 
capacity of officers 
may challenge this 
deadline

Policies and 
standards re-
published, advised 
and all staff and 
members clear on 
process for invoking 
these

Above protocols to be 
communicated to all staff 
and members and 
reinforced in the training 
(re R2.2) 

Monitorin
g Officer / 
DSM

From 
30/7/21

To be discussed Communications / 
training delivered

Deliver training for chairs in 
managing meetings, 
reinforcing good behaviour, 
and applying protocols

Monitorin
g Officer / 
DSM

From 
30/7/21

Discussed with Chairs 
on 24/5/21. DSM to 
do further work on 
this.  Three members 
have completed 
training with 
Pembrokeshire Coast 

Training delivered 
and Chairs confident 
in applying protocols

P
age 53



Audit Wales 
Recommendation

Actions
(workstreams to be 
expanded)

Account
ability

Govn’ce 
required

By When Progress to date What does success 
look like? Actions 
will be marked 
closed when 
completed in full

NPA members on 
30/6/21. Further 
progress may be 
possible after the 
workshop on 5/11/21.

Monitoring of compliance 
in place

Monitorin
g Officer / 
DSM

Audit & 
Scrutiny 
monitoring 
/ reporting

Immediate The Monitoring Officer 
is continuing to review 
compliance

Quarterly monitoring 
/ reporting in place 
and breaches 
addressed

Debriefing sessions post 
committee meetings 
between lead staff and 
Chairs

TD / CEO 
& Chairs

Immediate Debrief meetings now 
taking place with the 
Chair/Deputy and 
senior officers after 
Authority and 
committee meetings 
to reflect on how the 
meeting went and pick 
up any concerns

Record, address and 
monitor any issues 
raised. Appropriate 
behaviours are 
demonstrated in 
public meetings and 
interaction between 
officers and 
members. Use 
feedback from pulse 
surveys to judge 
impact over time.

R2.4 Review how changes to 
officers and members 
responsibilities and roles 

Quarterly reporting to NPA 
from A&S monitoring.

CEO / 
Monitorin
g Officer / 

NPA From 
30/7/21

We will need to 
review this once work 

Reporting in place 
and those 
responsible held 

P
age 54



Audit Wales 
Recommendation

Actions
(workstreams to be 
expanded)

Account
ability

Govn’ce 
required

By When Progress to date What does success 
look like? Actions 
will be marked 
closed when 
completed in full

are working in practice 
within next 12 months.

Pulse surveys carried out to 
check understanding and 
confidence

Chair / 
Deputy 
Chair

has progressed in this 
area

accountable by A&S. 
Positive trend to 
outcomes from 
surveys

Debrief with Chair, Deputy, 
CEO and relevant officers 
after each public meeting 
to review decisions, actions 
and effectiveness of the 
meeting

Chair / 
CEO

None Immediate These are now being 
scheduled for the 
Authority and Audit 
and Scrutiny 
Committee

Any issues arising 
out of meetings are 
addressed in a timely 
and appropriate 
way. Appropriate 
behaviours are 
demonstrated in 
public meetings and 
interaction between 
officers and 
members. Use 
feedback from pulse 
surveys to judge 
impact over time.

3 Strengthen Decision making

R3.1 Review the role of the 
Park Policy Forum (PPF), 
how it works in practice 
and in relation to the 
constitution and proper 
decision making of the 
executive (Authority)

Review Terms of Reference 
and Scheme of Delegation 
as they apply to for PPF, to 
include clarity on:
 Purpose and remit
 Frequency of meetings 

and how serviced

TD / CEO 
/ 
Monitorin
g Officer, 
DSM, 
Chair and 
Deputy 

NPA 28/5/21 Recommendations on 
member/officer roles 
in policy development 
agreed by NPA on 
21/7/21.  Terms of 
reference for new 
Policy Programme 

Action Closed

Review complete 
and published. 

Meetings follow 
reviewed remit and 

P
age 55



Audit Wales 
Recommendation

Actions
(workstreams to be 
expanded)

Account
ability

Govn’ce 
required

By When Progress to date What does success 
look like? Actions 
will be marked 
closed when 
completed in full

 Membership of PFF
 Protocol for Agenda 

setting
 Protocol for 

recommendations from 
PFF to NPA

 Opportunities for public 
engagement

Chair of 
PPF

Group approved by 
NPA on 5/7/21

All Policy Forum 
meetings are now 
recorded (for internal 
use only).

Positive feedback 
given to officers on 
papers presented.

The former Deputy 
Chair has now been 
appointed as Chair 
(approved by NPA on 
24/9/21)

staff and members 
have confidence in 
the process and 
outcomes

Once ToR and Scheme of 
Delegation approved, 
review description of the 
role of PPF on the BBNPA 
website / internal website. 
Use Authority newsletter to 
update staff and members.

CEO, 
DSM, 
Comms 
Officer

Post 
28/5/21

Progress has slowed 
due to change in 
Monitoring Officers, 
but new MO is actively 
working on this with a 
view to seeking NPA 
approval on 26/11/21

Presence of ToR, SO 
and supporting 
information available 
on internal and 
external BBNPA web 
and communicated 
to staff and 
members

P
age 56



Audit Wales 
Recommendation

Actions
(workstreams to be 
expanded)

Account
ability

Govn’ce 
required

By When Progress to date What does success 
look like? Actions 
will be marked 
closed when 
completed in full

R3.2 Ensure all relevant 
papers to Authority 
meetings are written in 
plain simple & clear 
language that explains 
technical terms, avoids 
jargon & clearly sets out 
the rationale for 
recommendations

Advice/training to be 
reissued to all staff 
clarifying their 
accountability for the 
clarity of reports, content, 
style and format.

Further training for staff on 
Modern.gov to ensure 
decision making process 
flows effectively and that 
they submit agenda items 
in advance and build in 
time to check reports with 
colleagues before sign off

Encourage feedback on 
clarity of reports from 
members of committees to 
DSM

All minutes of meetings to 
be a record of decisions 
and a summary of 
discussion but not verbatim

DSM / 
Public 
Affairs 
Manager 
& Comms 
Officer

Consult 
with 
G&MDWG

Immediate Papers have received 
positive feedback from 
members for their 
clarity and 
professional, evidence 
based approach

Meeting with Civica 
(Modern.gov) on 
28/4/21 to address 
final issues with 
system following 
cyber-attack, then 
training sessions have 
been taking place with 
key report writers, but 
more importantly, 
with the CEO and her 
PA to enable her to 
review and sign off all 
reports for decision.

Minute takers are 
adhering to this good 
practice as far as 
practicable, supported 

Members are able to 
make decisions 
based on 
information supplied

Staff are clear how 
to submit agenda 
items, write reports 
and get them signed 
off and this is 
supported and 
overseen by 
managers

P
age 57



Audit Wales 
Recommendation

Actions
(workstreams to be 
expanded)

Account
ability

Govn’ce 
required

By When Progress to date What does success 
look like? Actions 
will be marked 
closed when 
completed in full

by advice from the 
Monitoring Officer.

G&MDWG discussed 
whether to 
recommend the 
inclusion of Matters 
Arising and opted 
against (15/2/21)P

age 58



Audit Wales 
Recommendation

Actions
(workstreams to be 
expanded)

Account
ability

Govn’ce 
required

By When Progress to date What does success 
look like? Actions 
will be marked 
closed when 
completed in full

Glossary

A&S                    Audit and Scrutiny Committee
CEO                    Chief Executive Officer
CP                       Change Programme
CPAP                  Change Programme Action Plan
DSM                   Democratic Services Manager
G&MDWG         Governance and Member Development Working Group
HR                       Human Resources
KPIs                    Key Performance Indicators
MO                     Monitoring Officer
NPA                    National Park Authority
PPF                     Park Policy Forum
Pulse Survey     Regular short survey to monitor how people are feeling about change, to show trends
SO                      Standing Orders
SoD                    Scheme of Delegation
TD                      Transition Director
ToR                    Terms of reference
WLGA                Welsh Local Government Association

P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Performance Report Q2

Name of 
Committee

 Audit and Scrutiny Committee

Date 22 October 2021

Report Author Catherine Mealing-Jones

Job title Chief Executive

Contact Details
Purpose of Report To advise members on progress against actions set out in the 

Corporate Plan 2020-21with a focus on Quarter 2 delivery.

Single Integrated 
Assessment

N/A

List of  Enclosures Spreadsheet: Corporate Plan actions 2021/22: Performance 
update.

Public Interest Test
N/A

Recommendation(s) To review performance against the Corporate Plan 
actions for Q2 of 2021-22

1.1 Introduction 
Performance and risk reporting is a key element of good governance.  It provides the 
connection between strategy and the actions of the organisation in executing that 
strategy and enables scrutiny of those actions. However, there is still considerable work 
to do until the Authority is mature in this regard.  

The intention is that the Programme and Portfolio Manager will pick up the work on 
performance and risk when in post.  

1.2 Approach
Since the start of 2021/22 reporting on performance has been compiled against the Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs) of the Corporate Plan 2021/ 22 (see Annexe A). KPIs are 
grouped under their respective Strategic Priorities.

1. Landscape & Nature Recovery
2. Community & Rural Enterprise
3. Inspiring People & Places
4. A Resilient Organisation.

Page 61

Agenda Item 8



Lead officers identified for each KPI have been responsible for updating progress for Q2 
and where possible will be available to answer any questions from Members. 

RECOMMENDATION: To discuss the performance report against the 
Corporate Plan KPIs for Quarter 2 of 2021/22

Page 62



Aspirations Actions by when Who is accountable Lead Officer Update Q1 2021/22 Update Q2 2021/22 RAG status
We will have defined a 

strategy to increase 

woodland cover  and 

have an informed policy 

target for NPMP21.

Q2Expert grouping established as 

advisory body for woodland policy 

development

Q3 Woodland policy targets 

researched and defined with all 

relevant partners

Q4 Draft Strategy produced

Policy Officers Group; 

Landscape and Nature 

Recovery

Helen Lucocq Q1 Initial internal discussion by POG to determine how develop 

advisory body and its constitution following draft NPMP 

supported at Policy Forum.

Q2 Stakeholder Reference Panel discussion in relation to tree 

planting targets and Treescapes Policy informed consultation draft 

of Future Beacons.  Target of 40% of National Park to be under 

treecover by 2045 included within Future Beacons.  Expert Panel to 

be formed in Q3 taking Treescapes Policy as foundation for 

strategy production, alongside detailed target setting.

We will have a prioritised 

action plan for working 

with partners to improve 

key features within the 

Park’s SACs  including 

riverine SACs and have an 

informed policy target for 

NPMP21

Q1Priority areas identified and 

partnership feasibility undertaken 

Q2Policy targets researched and 

reviewed with all relevant partners

Q3 Action planning phase for 

partnerships

Q4 draft action plans produced

Landscape and Nature 

Recovery; Policy Officers 

Group; Planning Services

Helen Lucocq Q1 activity has focused on ecological health of riverine SACs.  

Officers of the Authority have been working collaboratively with 

WG/NRW/other LPAs to determine strategic response.  

Individual catchment work was supposed to be co-ordinated 

through all wales groups, this is proving slow to materialise, not 

helped by the elections earlier in the year.  Officers are holding 

initial discussions with eNGOs to scope feasibility.  Will update 

and progress during Q2

Q2 Continued collaborative working across the regions with key 

stakeholders. Nutrient Management Boards for impacted 

catchments have been agreed at all Wales level.  The aim is for the 

NPA to lead in the Usk region.  NPMP Future Beacons includes 

policy on water quality focusing on P issue within riverine SACs.  

Progress measure itendtified as - reduced P levels in the review of 

NRW Evidence Report 489 and elimination of future occurance of 

algal blooms.  Consultation in Q3 will be utilised to refine this 

policy target for final plan.

We will have a prioritised 

action plan to restore the 

Park's peatland and have 

an informed policy target 

for NPMP21.

Q2 Work with the Welsh Peatlands 

Action Group and Welsh Peatlands 

Project to agree priorities

Q3 Dependent upon available funding, 

commission works

Q4 Dependent upon available funding, 

commission works

Landscape and Nature 

Recovery

Richard Ball. Paul 

Sinnadurai

Q1 activity - Specifications produced , land owner agreement 

obtained, pre SSSI consent discussions held with NRW staff. 

Procurement for goods and services (airlifting, stone products, 

geotextiles products and contractors) completed and 

contractors / suppliers appointed. Peatlands Officer 

recruitment underway (readverised due to low response); 

Peatlands Restoration Strategy being drafted.

Awaiting outputs from NRW's Upland Ecosystem Options paper 

for Mynydd Du. Peatlands Restoration Strategy being drafted.

We will implement the 

ROWIP Work Programme

Q3 We will have commenced work to 

restore 1500 meters of upland paths to 

appropriate standards

Q4 We will have completed the 

restoration of 1500 meters of upland 

paths to appropriate standards

Access and Rights of way 

team 

Richard Ball Q1 activity - Specifications produced , land owner agreement 

obtained, pre SSSI consent discussions held with NRW staff. 

Procurement for goods and services (airlifting, stone products, 

pathworks contractors) completed and contractors / suppliers 

appointed

We will implement the 

Nature Recovery Work 

Programme 

Q1 Secure funding plan for Vital Signs 

Project  and manage the completion of 

the ecological mapping project.

Q3 Funding applications VS submitted 

as opportunities arise.  We will 

demonstrate the ecological mapping 

tool and share lessons learnt with LNP 

network in Wales.

Ecology Team working 

with the Local Nature 

Partnership

Paul Sinnadurai Q1 activity - contract extended to investigate funding 

opporunities. Presentation to VS Steering Grp of funding 

scenarios and an assessment of potential funders. Agreed to 

progress with drafting EOI to NLHF for full project amount. 

Awaiting confirmation of next 2 NLHF windows to allow 

timetable to be confirmed.

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Aspiration Actions by when Who is accountable Lead Officer Update Q1 2021/22 Update Q2 2021/22 RAG status 

We will have developed 

updated Place Plan 

Guidance  for use with 

NPMP21 and  LDP2.

Q1- Complete consultation  on principles of 20 

minute communities

	 

Q3 Submit Draft guidance to Policy Forum

Q4 Guidance to NPA for agreement as part of LDP2 

consultation.

Policy Officers Group 

reporting to NPMP 

Project Board

Strategy and Policy 

Officer 

Consultation on twenty minute communities formed part of 

the consultation on the Issues, Vision and Objectives of the 

NPMP.  Mixed comments were received, many supportive of 

the principle, but concerned about deliverability.  Work 

progresses on guidance, however issues around Phosphate 

may delay implementation.

Work is progressing with the Doughnut Economics Action Lab 

and the Wellbeing Economcy Allience Wales to downscale the 

doughnut to community levels.  POG taking a lead to champion 

this within communties and aim to develop this into renewed 

guidance on Place Plan development to compliment the 

direction of Future Beacons.  This work on target to be reported 

to Policy Forum Q3. 

We will have developed a 

carbon reduction and 

education strategy and 

have an informed target for 

NPMP21 Policy.

Q1 -Carbon literacy Programme Developed 

Q2 - Green technologies event held

Q3 - Carbon budget and policies defined

Q4 - Delivered 10 carbon literacy training events 

with communities & schools

People & Communities 

Team and POG

Ceri  Bevan/ Policy 

Team 

Carbon Literacy programme developed - education package 

trialled. 29 schools identified for carbon literacy module from 

Sept 21 to supoprt  new curriculum, new school year and first 

global  Carbon Literacy Action Day (1st November 21)-  

Community module in progress. On track for delivery in 

conjunction with Place Plans and CL Action Day

The green technologies event was postponed due to the effects 

of the Covid pandemic and the lack of microchips which is 

affecting the car industry in the UK and has delayed the receipt 

of our electric exhibition vehicle.  SDF supporting community 

events around COP 26.

We will have developed a 

work placement 

programme to support 

young people in the area

Q1 - Establish Gateway provider for Kickstart scheme 

and initiate  recruitment 

Q2  - Recruit and train participants 

Q3 - 6 kick start participants trained and employed 

Q4 - Identify and seek funding for further 

training/placement programmes

People & Communities 

Team

Ceri Bevan NPTC College signed as Gateway provider - vacancies agreed 

with deptments - all recruitment administration and website 

information finalised. 6 positions submitted to DWP for UK 

job centre database. (includes 2 x estate workers  CYNCP, Ix IT 

assistant, 1 x retail assistant, 1 x communication assistant and 

1 x youth ambassador. The project budget with 6 successful 

placements will give BBNPA additional  revenue of £40,443 to 

cover the employment, equipment and training.

The vacancies went live  on DWP database  14.7.21 along with 

joint  press releases and website update.

Two participants have been recuited - a youth ambassador 

started on 4th October and is currently working with the 

education team and an IT assistant started on the 20th 

September.  The opportunity for 2 placements at CYNCP is no 

longer possible due to a lack of staff capacity and as yet there 

have been no applications for the other two posts.  

We will have developed 

policy and action 

supporting a just transition 

for farming

Q1 - Position statement on farming transition 

drafted and adopted. 

Q2 - Initiation of ABC for Sheep and Tourism Project 

(subject to re-evaluation)

Q4 - 2 Feasibility Studies undertaken on food, 

farming and tourism

Policy Officers Group - 

People & Communities 

Team

Strategy and Policy 

Officer 

Position statement on farming transition written and 

currently being revised before going to Policy Forum once 

again.  Confirmation on funding for ABC for sheep and tourism 

project received 13.07.21.  Project now to be delivered before 

March 2023.

Q2 Farming Tranisition Position Statement adopted by NPA 24th 

September. The decision was made at the Corporate 

Management Team level not to deliver the ABC for Sheep and 

Tourism project due to the reduced timescales and the lack of 

staff management capacity at this time.  

P
age 65



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Aspiration Actions by when Who is 

accountable 

Lead Officer Update Q1 2021/22 Update Q2 2021/22 RAG status

We will understand the feasibility of 

developing a Park and Ride for the A470 

Corridor and have a plan in place to take 

recommendations forward.

Q1 Feasibility Study Complete

Q3 Produce an action in response to 

findings.

James 

Lawrence/ 

Helen Roderick

Feasibility Study complete, some amendments required by transport 

consultants following feedback from N.T and Visit Wales.  

However (reason for red) National Trust proposing to progress car park 

extension scheme with no guarentees of reducing verge parking and 

supporting sustainable transport.

Currently there are only proposals to incease the amount of vehicles 

able to park at this location which will be difficult to row back from in 

future years when N.T income from parking is established and locking 

in the use of private moter vehicles which actively works against 

encouraging sustainable transport. N.T have planning permission and 

funding in place and therefore it is their decision to do this.  It has 

been agreed that a partnership is developed to apply for funding for a 

A470 partnership project officer to take the sustainable travel and 

access hub ideas forward.

Report coming back to NPA 

Position statement on the NT proposals agreed by NPA.  The CEO has had 

an initial meeting with the National Trust and a joint meeting on site is 

planned to take place within the next month.

Our Historic Environment Partnership 

(HEP) will be established and key 

priorities for the NPMP21 developed.  

The Historic Environment Action Plan 

(HEAP) will be published for 

consultation.

Q1 The core group for the HEP will be 

defined and operational	 

Q2 Vision and objectives for the HEAP 

defined by the core group 

Q3 Consultation on vision and 

objectives of HEAP with wider 

partnership

Q4 Draft action plan published for 

consultation.

Policy Officers 

Group

Heritage Officer 

(Archaeology)

The Core Group constituted and operational, meetings taking place on 

a monthly basis.  

Foundation of Vision and Objectives drafted for inclusion within 

NPMP21 and base for consultation on Issues Vision and Objectives of 

HEAP – due for completion Q2 – on track.

Vision and objectives document drafted.  HEP core meeting to agree 

consultation 13/10/22.  Consultation on schedule for Q3.

We will engage the Waterfall Country 

partnership to deliver priority projects 

related to improved visitor 

management, greater community 

benefit and to encourage the move 

toward sustainable transport models.

Q4 Reduction of Visitor pressure at 

honeypot locations, trial shuttle bus 

service, support the delivery of 

emerging CIO projects.

Waterfall 

Partnership

James Lawrence Welsh Govt funded Hardship fund being used well to cope with re-

opening at Waterfalls in 2021.

Officers are preparing revised place focused ways of working to deliver 

co-ordinated, more effective working on the ground. Report will be 

brought to NPA

Additional SLSP funding received to support further feasibility work 

which will be co-ordinated by team above

Governance, consultation, stakeholder working and community 

engagment will also form part of new working structure

The summer has been extremely busy in the area and the MAGS staff have 

provided an invaluable service to the public.                                                                                           

A pilot bus service from Glynneath to Pontneddfecahn was piloted in the 

summer and privately owned temporary overflow car parks were essential 

to relieve the pressure in the area.     A review meeting of operational 

partners will take place in October to review the lessons learned over the 

summer and to review the responses to date from the visitor survey in the 

area.                                                                                

We will have progressed a programme 

of work to make the National Park more 

accessible for more people.

Q3 Develop programmes with four 

mental health organisations to increase 

use of the park for health and 

wellbeing.

Q4 6 courses undertaken with tourism 

businesses across the year. Deliver 

'Local' Ambassador training to 

communities across the southern fringe. 

Extend 'Geotour' app to new sites (see 

also ROWIP aspiration)

People and 

Communities Team

Ceri Bevan/ 

James Lawrence 

Developed and initiated Champions Programme for baseline survey on 

barriers and access to National Park. Delivered  4 inclusive walks in 

parnership with CRT. Delivered 2 x Healthy Lives and Small Steps 

activityies.                                                            Developing new online 

Ambassador programme of 10 online modules allowing wider audience 

reach.                                           Geotour app live end of May, which 

features 4 Fforest Fawr Geotours - Cribarth, Garn Goch, Penwyllt & 

Mynydd Illtud. 

8 x walks/activity sessions were held during Q2 with young carers and 

other children, refugees and those requiring easier access.  The baseline 

survey into access has been undertaken and is currently being analysed. 

Module 1 of new online ambassador course close to completion. 

P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Aspiration Actions by when Who is accountable lead 

Officer

Update Q1 2021/22 Update Q2 2021/22 RAG status

We will have made clear progress in 

delivering the objectives of the Change 

Programme.

Q2 Leadership team including new CEO is 

in place

Q4 Stakeholder exercise to review 

planning services

Recruitment panel and Head of Planning 

Services.

CEO CEO starts in Q2

Leadership Team in place by Q4

Review of Planning Services on hold.

2x directors adverts live and close 5 Nov. Anticipate 

completion of the process by Christmas and ideally 

directors in post on track for end Q4.  PPM approach 

modified and running to same timeline. Planning services 

'mini review' undertaken and in train.  Full review will be 

22/23   

Project Boards structures for

our key projects will be

established and operational

Q3 Review effectiveness of trial Project 

Boards and define future model

Leadership team and Policy Officers 

Group

CEO Review on track for Q3, post approval of new senior 

leadership team.

Initial portfolio review by end of Jan 22. CEO being 

supported by senior consultant. 

We will have implemented an Action Plan 

to address any issues arising from the 

Board Effectiveness Survey and the Audit 

Office Wales review.

Q1-4 Implement an Action Plan to 

address Audit Wales Report 

recommendations and implement a 

programme of monitoring

Leadership team reporting to Audit and 

Scrutiny Committee

CEO Action Plan in place and agreed with WAO. Progress is 

mixed. This is the subject of a separate update in this 

agenda pack.

Separate update refers.  

We will have developed our new 

reporting system to track performance.

Q1 New performance management 

system in place

Q2 Implement programme of monitoring

Leadership team to appoint responsible 

officer

CEO lack of staff resource has delayed progress on this Action 

but performance continues to be reported using an interim 

system. 

A review of the reporting system for tracking Performance 

is however underway and will be brought to members 

during Q3.

Making some progress through a package of work which 

completes end Jan 22.  This will lay the ground for the 

incoming Programme and Portfolio Manager who will pick 

this work up.  Final timeline is dependent on when they 

come into post. 

NPMP21 will have been 

adopted and LDP2 will have 

been submitted to Welsh 

Government for examination.

Q1 Agreement of Delivery  Agreement 

LDP2 & Consultation on Vision and 

Objectives NPMP2

Q2 - Consultation on Reviewed Preferred 

Strategy & Consultation on Draft NPMP21

Q3 Adoption of NPMP21

Q4 Consultation on Deposit LDP2

Planning services reporting to NPMP 

Project Board

Policy & 

Strategy 

Manager

LDP Delivery Agreement delayed due to Phosphate issue 

with agreement from WG.  Work is progressing on 

consulting on options for taking LDP2 forward within the 

phosphate constraint – anticipated Q2/Q3

NPMP Vision and Objectives consulted upon, achieving 

higher levels of responses than previous policy 

consultations.  Analysis of comments completed and being 

reported to PF 12/7/21

Draft NPMP in train with substantive policy content 

drafted ready for extensive consultation in Q2

LDP delayed due to Phosphate issue with agreement from 

WG. Work is progressing to address the phosphate issue. 

Senior Officer discussion with DCWW scheduled for Q3 

investigating potential technical solutions in key 

settlements.

Consultation Draft Management Plan Future Beacons 

Agreed for publication NPA 24th September.  Consultation 

publication delayed due to issues with Welsh Translation.  

Consultation to run 4th November 2021 to 4th March 

2022, consultation extended to 16 weeks to allow for 

‘deep dive consultation’ with expert panels.

POG aiming for Adoption of Future Beacons by end Q4

Increase capacity to support volunteer 

opportunities

Q1	- Recruit Volunteer Development 

Officer

Q2  - Recruit volunteers for the Invasive 

non-native species project, Peat and Park 

Society heritage projects

Q3 - undertake volunteer training *20 

volunteers trained

Q4 - Develop a youth volunteer 

programme

People and Communities Helen Roderick/Amanda BrakeVolunteer Development  Officer recruited and in post Q1 51 corporate volunteers were recruited to help with 

Invasive non-native work on Cwm Bwchel.  3 new 

volunteers joined to undertake peatland surveying.

We will have improved our skill and 

capacity in relation to partnership 

working

Q1 - support exsiting partnerships 

(including BMLUP transition) undertake 

lessons learnt exercise 

Q2 - Cross departmental project to 

determine protocol for future 

partnership working including 

establishment and resourcing

Q3 - Identification of current and future 

partnerships essential to NPMP (and sub 

plan) implementation

Q4 - Partnership reporting to NPA

All departments - lead via Policy Officers 

Group

CEO We continue to support our partnership work. BMLUP 

moving to a CIO.

CEO supporting the BMLUP and working with BBNPA legal 

to look at the transition to CIO.       Partnership working 

policy part of draft NPMP.       Work progressing on future 

partnerships - coming out of discussions through BBMC 

for example and working with CLA. 

P
age 69



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Name of 
Committee

 Audit and Scrutiny Committee

Date October 22nd 2021

Report Author Dr Paul Sinnadurai FCIEEM

Job title Senior Ecologist for Climate Adaptation

Contact Details Paul.sinnadurai@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To update A&SC on progress during Quarter 2 in line with 
Corporate Plan and strategic planning actions, policy 
statements and grants

Single Integrated 
Assessment

Is an update report for information; therefore no further 
SIA

List of  Enclosures None

Public Interest Test Not applicable

Recommendation(s) a) To note the progress reported in Table 1 herein 
in follow up to the Q1 report.

1.1 Introduction or Background
Project delivery progress by the Natural Resources Team is summarised herein in 
follow up to the progress report provided to the July 2021 A&SC meeting.  The Team 
includes works delivered by the Wardens Team, Rights of Way Team, Countryside and 
Access Team and Ecology Team.

1.2 Proposals

This is an update report on progress made by the Team up to the second quarter, 
September 30th 2021 (Table 1).

1.3 Implications

As before, Members will note the wide range of project-delivered work, all in line with 
the Park’s Nature Recovery Action Plan, Rights of Way Improvement Plan, Corporate 
Plan and projects developed deliberately for the Welsh Government’s Sustainable 
Landscapes Sustainable Places grant.  Work is delivered tightly to the governing themes 
of the emerging National Park Management Plan, namely responding to the impacts of 
climate change, nature recovery and socially inclusive access to the countryside.

Page 71

Agenda Item 9

mailto:Paul.sinnadurai@beacons-npa.gov.uk


Members will also note the strategic work underway to support the NPMP, advise the 
WG for the Sustainable Farming Scheme, to develop stronger strategic research 
partnerships, and to support NPUK in gaining a foothold at COP 26.

1.4 Risk

The main risks to project delivery remain the high volume of projects and short term 
delivery timetables.  The team has adjusted the balance of work to improve 
administrative and support roles and more will be made available through the 
Corporate Governance Team.  

The Team has recruited short-term officers for the wardens, countryside access work 
and peatlands restoration work, but two recruitment drives have failed to attract any 
applicants for the vacant Senior Ecologist for Nature Recovery post, which will be 
readvertised.  Alongside this, the second Planning Ecologist has been recruited to the 
Planning Department, which, once the challenges on the River Usk and phosphate 
pollution have been managed effectively, will provide a ‘hybrid’ service between planning 
and nature recovery.

Paul Sinnadurai has advised the CEO, who agrees that the Authority has a critical skills 
shortage in working with and analysing spatial data, e.g., Geographic Information Systems 
and spatial data modelling.  Given the products that we are developing and must use, 
this is the modern world for designated landscape management and, through staff 
development and strategic partnerships, including research partnerships, we must 
overcome this shortfall.

1.5 Conclusion

The Team delivers to the Corporate and other strategic plans, policy statements and 
grants; this report lists the highlights.  Officers would welcome visits from Members to 
see the work first-hand.

RECOMMENDATION(S):

a) To note the progress reported in Table 1 herein in follow up to the Q1 
report.

Page 72



Table 1 Project work progress by Natural Resources Team up to end September 2021 (includes 
Countryside Access, Rights of Way, Wardens and Ecology)

Work area Update to end September 2021

18 Local Access Forum members recruited; first LAF meeting held

Access Improvement Grant (formerly ROWIP Grant):  work underway on 
most projects, some completed already; several bridges installed

Public Path and Definitive Map Orders:  Several orders made and confirmed and 
more planned. Several reports submitted to CEO under delegated powers to 
determine more applications

5% RoW survey continues

Countryside Access 
and RoW

Upland path and peat work:  6 sites in Black Mts and Central Beacons (also 
planned at Blorenge and Mynydd Du) – specifications drafted, consents and 
permissions secured, consultations with graziers and landowners completed, 
materials and contractors sourced, procured and appointed, 1,300 tonnes stone 
delivered, bagged and airlifted into sites, works completed at 3 sites, underway 
at a fourth; Access Field Officer recruited (commences November 2021)

Invasive Non-Native Species (INNS) control:  11 projects underway or 
completed (including control works, establishing volunteer work parties, PR); 6 
projects on hold, or being re-profiled, as well as considering options for other 
species not currently covered

Tree guidance:  partnership collaboration to develop guidance underway

Review of Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINCs):  grant claims 
submitted (NRW) – have been administrative delays by NRW; site visits 
underway

Important Curlew Areas (RSPB):  discussions underway with BIS, NRW, WG 
and RSPB

Survey and monitoring – grouse counts:  survey dates and staff / volunteers 
organised for October 2021

Climate Change, 
Nature Recovery 
Action Plan

Site management (Henallt, Caeau Ty Mawr):  works on site access and 
boardwalks and ponies to be introduced (Henallt), works are funding-critical; 
review of Farm Business Tenancy at Caeau Ty Mawr underway, next three-year 
work programme being drafted; British Dragonfly Society will launch Llangors 
(especially Llangasty – Caeau Ty Mawr) as a British Dragonfly Hotspot in 2022

Page 73



Table 1 Project work progress by Natural Resources Team up to end September 2021 (includes 
Countryside Access, Rights of Way, Wardens and Ecology)

Work area Update to end September 2021

Ecological Networks Mapping:  mapping portal and final maps demonstrated, 
shortly to be made available to BBNPA staff

Vital Signs project development:  seeking CGT approval for this to be the 
Authority’s next full National Lottery Heritage Fund application (stop press:  
approved by CGT October 7th 2021)

Extending the funding for the Local Nature Partnership (LNP) Implementation 
Officer and facilitating the LNP:  funding secured for post to be full time until 
March 2022; steering group meets qtly, social media presence established, 
gradually building deeper working relationships

Seasonal Wildlife Training Events:  successful public programme continued, 
including face-to-face sessions; sessions will be tailored for NPA Education 
Officers and Volunteer Development Officer to target their groups in 2022

Local Nature Recovery Sites:  baseline surveys and mgmt. plans completed for 
four of the five, with direct support provided to the lead local community 
groups

Amman Valley Nature Recovery Project:  underway, major kit acquisition for 
the project, as well as site meeting and baseline survey completed

Nature Recovery Film and “Nature in the Park” trail camera project:  final 
edited version pending for Nature in the Park; trail camera project generating a 
lot of footage

Community Nature Recovery Grants:  five grants awarded to date, with 
publicity

Peatland Restoration Strategy:  drafted, with internal feedback incorporated; 
circulated to NRW, DCWW, NT and Swansea University (Welsh Peatlands 
Research Network) for comment

NPMP policy development:  continued to advise and input to policies up to cut 
off point.

Climate Change, 
Nature Recovery 
Action Plan

Research and evidence partnership development:  developing proposals for 
interdisciplinary research workshop, hosted by PLACE; CEO and PS met with 
PLACE; preceded by internal workshop.  Supporting at least 2 PhD researchers, 
1 MSc (KESS), and working with Wales Peatlands Research lead

Page 74



Table 1 Project work progress by Natural Resources Team up to end September 2021 (includes 
Countryside Access, Rights of Way, Wardens and Ecology)

Work area Update to end September 2021

Net Zero With Nature (National Parks Partnership LLP and The Palladium 
Group):  Draft proposals for BBNP portfolio finalised with Palladium Group; 
continued to support and advise Palladium Group for approach to WG

Brecon Beacons Mega Catchment:  Ongoing discussions with BBMC about 
peatland restoration in Central Beacons.  Have persuaded BBMC to shift 
towards developing a strategic Central Beacons land management partnership.  
Also seeing interesting proposals on large upland private estate (two registered 
urban commons)

Rewilding Britain:  hosted initial meeting with Director of Rewilding Britain 
during his Welsh tour, wrt their "Wilder National Parks" campaign

Lowlands and Freshwater – Usk:  Helped to recruit new Planning Ecologist.  
INNS work is relevant.  Team is developing a project proposal for RSPB's 
Important Curlew Areas, focusing on R Usk.  NRW has confirmed that it has 
securred EC LIFE NATURE funding for 4 Rivers for LIFE

Climate Change, 
Nature Recovery 
Action Plan

Decarbonisation:  Working with Small World Consulting (C O'B leading) to 
develop Park's carbon budget, in line with project funded by NPUK

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Name of 
Committee

Audit and Scrutiny Committee

Date Friday 22 October 2021 [10.00 am]

Report Author Chris O’Brien MRTPI
Job title Senior Policy Officer

Contact Details christopher.obrien@beacons-npa.gov.uk
Purpose of Report The National Park Authority is required by the Welsh 

Government to submit its Local Development Plan Annual 
Monitoring Report (AMR) by 31 October. 

Suspended in 2020 due to COVID-19, the AMR submitted 
this year covers April 19 – March 21.

By reporting monitoring indicators, the AMR provides an 
indication of whether LDP policies are being implemented.

Following a full review of the Local Development Plan, in 
2018 the National Park Authority committed to preparing a 
replacement Local Development Plan (LDP2).

List of Enclosures Enclosure 1: Brecon Beacons National Park Local 
Development Plan Annual Monitoring Report 2019/2021

Recommendation(s) 1. That the Local Development Plan Annual Monitoring 
Report 2019/20 & 2020/21 is submitted to the Welsh 
Government and published on the National Park 
Authority’s website by 31 October.

2. That when preparing Officer and Member training 
plans, consideration is given to providing significant 
contextual changes the to the Development Plan 
following the publication of Future Wales: the national 
plan 2040 and on the implications of Natural 
Resources Wales’ Compliance Assessment of Welsh 
River SACs against Phosphorus Targets (Evidence 
Report 489).

3. To respond to climate and social rented housing 
imperatives, when preparing the Corporate Plan for 

Page 77

Agenda Item 10



2

2022/3 that consideration be given to preparing 
Supplementary Planning Guidance on LDP Policies SP4 
Climate Change, SP9 Renewable Energy and on 
relevant wording on meeting housing need contained 
within policies relating to the Settlement Hierarchy.

4. To investigate whether sustainable tourism 
developments are being designed to meet the 
requirements of the Equality Act, when preparing the 
Corporate plan for 2022/23 that consideration be 
given to undertaking an audit of relevant permissions 
from 2019/20 and 2020/21.

5. As it is yet to be reported in an AMR, it is 
recommended the ecological footprint indicator is 
dropped.

Page 78



3

1. Introduction

1.1 Regulation 37 of The Town and Country Planning (Local Development Plan) (Wales) 
Regulations 2005 (as amended) requires the National Park Authority to publish its annual 
monitoring report and submit it to the Welsh Government by 31 October. In 2020 this 
requirement was suspended due to the Covid-19 pandemic.

1.2 The Brecon Beacons Local Development Plan 2007 – 2022 (LDP) Annual Monitoring 
Report 2021 (AMR) covers the sixth and seventh LDP monitoring periods from 1 April 
2019 to 31 March 2021.  

1.3 By reporting against monitoring indicators identified within chapter 11 of the LDP, the 
AMR provides an indication of whether LDP policies are being implemented. 

1.4 Where an LDP policy is not being implemented, the annual monitoring report must 
identify the policy, and include a statement of:

 the reasons why the policy is not being implemented;
 the steps (if any) that the LPA intend to take to secure that the policy is 

implemented; and
 whether the LPA intends to prepare a revision of the LDP to replace or amend the 

policy.

1.5 The AMR must also specify the net number of additional affordable and general market 
dwellings built and how this compares with the LDP’s Annual Average Requirement. 

1.6 With the purpose of identifying unforeseen adverse effects at an early stage and being 
able to undertake appropriate remedial action, the AMR also contributes to monitoring 
the significant environmental effects of implementing the LDP. This is required by 
Regulation 17 of The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes (Wales) 
Regulations 2004 (as amended).

1.7 Guidance on monitoring is contained in the Welsh Government Development Plans 
Manual, Edition 3 March 20201. Table 30: Monitoring Actions outlines the options to 
the National Park Authority in response to the AMR’s findings. These are: 

 Continue Monitoring: Development plan policies are being implemented effectively.

1 https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-03/development-plans-manual-edition-3-march-2020.pdf

Page 79



4

 Training Required: Development plan policies are not being implemented as 
intended and officer or Member training is required. 

 Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) Required: Development plan policies are 
not being implemented as intended and further guidance is required, potentially 
preparing additional SPG. 

 Further Investigation/Research Required: Development plan policies are not being 
implemented as intended and further research and/or investigation is required. 

 Policy Review Required: Development plan policies are not being implemented and 
are failing to deliver; a review of the specific policy may be required. 

 Plan Review: Development plan policies are not being implemented and the plan’s 
strategy is not being delivered, triggering a formal review in advance of the statutory 
4-year review.

1.8 Following a full review of the Local Development Plan, in September 2018 the National 
Park Authority committed to preparing a replacement Local Development Plan (LDP2) 
[NPA Decision 106/182].

1.9 It must also be recognised that the two-year monitoring period, from 1 April 2019 to 31 
March 2021, coincides with a period of upset and great challenge for both the 
communities of the National Park and the Authority. The Covid-19 pandemic, the UK’s 
exit from the EU, a cyber-attack and a significant period of organisational change3 and 
staff turnover all contributing to a greater or lesser extent.  

1.10 The period also coincided with strides of great innovation in preparing the draft 
National Park Management Plan (2022 – 2027); much of this work will also be of great 
benefit for implementing the existing LDP as it will be for preparing the next. For 
example, an energy only Carbon Budget has recently been agreed for the National Park, 
ecological network mapping has been completed by the Brecon Beacons Local Nature 
Partnership and a Citizens’ Assembly and National Park Stakeholder Reference Group 
have been established.

2 https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/documents/g5384/Printed%20minutes%2021st-Sep-
2018%2012.30%20National%20Park%20Authority.pdf?T=1

3 https://www.audit.wales/publication/delivery-change-programme-brecon-beacons-national-park-authority

Page 80



5

1.11 The AMR should be considered alongside the National Park Authority’s quarterly 
Development Management returns; Sustainable Development indicator returns, Annual 
Planning Performance Report and previous AMRs.

2. Key findings

2.1 Significant contextual change

2.1.1 The most significant change to have happened during the monitoring period was a 
change to the ‘development plan’ in the National Park. In February 2021, Future Wales: 
the national plan 2040 was published and, as it is the most recent part of the 
‘development plan’ to be published (the other part being the LDP adopted in 2013). This 
was accompanied by an updated edition of Planning Policy Wales. 

2.1.2 If to any extent a policy contained in the LDP conflicts with a policy in Future Wales, 
s38 (5) of The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 makes it clear that the 
conflict must be resolved in favour of the policy in Future Wales.

2.1.3 During the monitoring period, confirmation was also received that that the Brecon 
Beacons Local Development Plan 2007 – 2022 (Adopted 2013) retains ‘Development 
Plan’ status beyond the plan period until such time a decision is taken to abandon it4. 
One replacement Local Development Plan was adopted by a neighboring Local Planning 
Authority, with the first replacement LDP (2016 – 2031) having been adopted Merthyr 
Tydfil County Borough Council on 29th January 2020.

2.1.4 The future role of the NPAs strategic planning function is unclear with the establishment 
of Corporate Joint Committees who are now responsible for preparing Strategic 
Development Plans (SDP). 

2.1.5 Another key contextual change directly relevant to the AMR is the method for 
monitoring housebuilding. On 26 March 2020, the then Minister for Housing and Local 
Government wrote5 to the NPA advising the Welsh Government’s five-year housing 
land supply policy was to be replaced and that the housing trajectory, as set out in the 
adopted LDP, would be the basis for monitoring the delivery of development plan 
housing requirements as part of LDP Annual Monitoring Reports (AMRs). The 
Development Plans Manual (Edition 3) provides additional guidance on the process of 

4 https://gov.wales/local-development-plan-ldp-end-dates-letter-local-authorities-html

5 https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-03/changes-to-planning-policy-and-guidance-on-the-
delivery-of-housing_0.pdf

Page 81



6

monitoring. Accordingly, a graph and table of completions against the Annual Average 
Requirement is now included in within the AMR. 

2.16 Alongside the publication of 2018-based sub-national population and household 
projections for the National Park, new environmental evidence published in Jan 2021 
(Natural Resources Wales’ Compliance Assessment of Welsh River SACs against 
Phosphorus Targets (Evidence Report 489) and associated practice guidance has led to a 
pause in the preparation of LDP2 following consultation on an alternative approach to 
the preferred strategy in Jan 2020. Evidence Report 489 is having a significant bearing on 
the scope for development across much of the National Park. 

2.17 Natural Resources Wales has also published its State of the Natural Resources Report 
(2020) and 4 Area Statements across the National Park. 

2.17 Although progress on LDP2 is paused, the NPA published a State of the Park Report in 
2020 and much work has been undertaken on the National Park Management Plan 
(2022 – 2027). A Carbon Budget and Resilient Ecological Networks Mapping for the 
National Park have been prepared, annual tourism economic impact modelling (STEAM) 
has continued to be reported and a ‘National Park Doughnut’6 is in development.

2.2 Housebuilding

2.2.1 Chart 1 (over) shows annual net housebuilding completions (in blue) against the LDP 
Annual Average Requirement (AAR) (in orange). Since 2007/08 only once, in 2017/18, 
have housing completions exceeded the AAR of 133 homes (rounded to nearest whole). 

2.2.2 Over the plan period to date 967 homes of the 1990 homes identified as the Housing 
Requirement by Policy 24 of the LDP have been completed. In the seven full monitoring 
years since the LDP was adopted in December 2013 (i.e., from 2014/15 onwards) 544 
homes have been built against the AAR of 931.

2.2.3 In 2019/20 30 homes were completed and planning permission granted for 29 more. In 
2020/21 67 homes were completed and planning permission was granted for 87 more. 
2019/20 represented the second lowest completions total over the whole plan period 
from 2007 and the lowest for both completions and planning permissions granted since 
the LDP was adopted in 2013.   

6 See: https://doughnuteconomics.org/ and https://doughnuteconomics.org/stories/127 

Page 82

https://doughnuteconomics.org/
https://doughnuteconomics.org/stories/127


7

Chart 1: Net annual housebuilding completions against LDP Average Annual 
Requirement

2.2.4 Turning to the LDP spatial strategy for housebuilding, completions and permissions since 
2018/19 monitoring report contribute to the indicator. Most of the housebuilding is 
happening in the Primary and Key Settlements with development in the Primary Key 
Settlement of Brecon in particular having made a significant impact on this indictor. 
Developments include ‘Beacons Gate’ (119 homes), ‘Maes Maendu’ (32 homes), the 
conversion of the former Court in Brecon (21 homes) and outline permission for 
allocation DBR-BR-A to the North of Camden Crescent in Brecon.

2.2.5 The remaining mixed-use site yet to achieve planning permission for the housing 
element is the site of the former Mid Wales Hospital in Talgarth. During the monitoring 
period, a development brief for the site was approved as Supplementary Planning 
Guidance [NPA Decision 37/197]. 

2.3 Affordable homes and viability 

2.3.1 In 2019/20 planning permission was granted for 55 affordable dwellings representing 
64% of all homes for which planning permission was granted during the year (86) and in 
2020/21 permission was granted for 19 affordable dwellings representing 66% of all 
homes for which planning permission was granted during the year (29).

7 https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/documents/g6535/Printed%20minutes%2009th-Apr-
2019%2013.00%20National%20Park%20Authority.pdf?T=1

Page 83



8

2.3.2 Two affordable homes were built in 2019/20 and a further 21 were built in 2020/21. 
Since the LDP was adopted in December 2013 (i.e., from 2014/15 AMR onwards) 150 
affordable homes have been built.

2.3.3 Paragraph 6.3.7.1 of the LDP estimated the LDP would contribute 475 affordable 
homes. It important to note the figure of 150 affordable homes built since the LDP was 
adopted does not include those facilitated by financial contributions secured through 
development in the National Park but delivered elsewhere by the relevant Housing 
Authority. 

2.3.4 Despite a high proportion of recent planning permissions for new homes being for 
affordable housing, over the two monitoring years on sites of 3 or more homes there 
have been 3 instances in which the provision of onsite affordable housing at the 
appropriate affordable housing target was proven not viable. This resulted in planning 
permission being granted for 4 fewer affordable homes and 4 additional market homes. 

2.3.5 No affordable homes were secured as the result of planning permissions granted 
development on land not identified for development by the LDP (otherwise referred to 
as ‘windfall’ development) or as ‘exceptional’ development supported by LDP Policies 
SP6 and 29. 

2.3.6 Over the period of this AMR, the Land Registry House Price Index reports an increase 
in house prices of 11.1%. for Merthyr Tydfil. Whilst developing LDP2, the NPA will need 
to reconsider Affordable Housing contribution targets in the Heads of the Valleys area. 

2.4 Protected employment sites

2.4.1 In 2020/21, for the first time since the LDP was adopted, planning permission was 
granted resulting in the loss an employment use (3 B8 units) to a non-employment use 
(D2 rehabilitation and wellness centre) on a protected employment site (Ffrwdgrech 
Industrial Estate, Brecon). 

2.4.2 Monitoring also revealed sufficient vacancies on the protected employment sites to 
accommodate a local waste facility should the need and justification arise. However, no 
application for such a facility was received either in 2019/20 or 2020/21.

2.5 Town centres

2.5.1 Vacancy rates are monitored within defined ‘retail centres’ in Brecon, Crickhowell, Hay-
on-Wye and Talgarth. To support town centre vibrancy, temporary permitted 
development rights have been introduced by the Welsh Government, and licensing 
made more flexible. In 2020/21 less than 10% of premises in each ‘retail centre’ were 
recorded as vacant (in numbers rather than floorspace). 

Page 84



9

2.6 Sustainable tourism and community facilities 

2.6.1 In 2020/21, 22 planning permissions were granted for new or improved tourism 
facilities. In 2019/20, 29 planning permissions were granted. No detailed investigation 
has been undertaken into the facilities granted and how they help deliver wider aims of 
the Authority such as inclusive design. 

2.6.2 It is important to note that obligations and duties set out in the Equality Act mean that 
due regard must be given to any specific needs of likely building users that might 
reasonably be met. As tourism developments, it is likely that it would be reasonable to 
meet the needs of a wide range of building users through design. It should be noted that 
in this regard, compliance with the requirements of Building Regulations does not signify 
compliance with the Equality Act. 

2.6.3 Given the significant number of planning permissions granted for such development and 
the National Park Authority’s desire to welcome all people to the National Park it is 
recommended that an audit of recent permissions be undertaken and, if necessary, 
guidance prepared to make clear the need for sustainable tourism development 
proposals to be designed in a way which responds to the needs of all likely building 
users. 

2.7 Community facilities

2.7.1 In both 2019/20 and 2020/21, no planning permissions were granted which resulted in 
the loss of community facilities in the National Park. That is not to say no community 
facilities have been lost in the National Park; significant ‘disposal’ decisions made by 
Public Bodies and other charitable organisations, with whom the buildings and land used 
to support community facilities are vested, are often made before the formal ‘planning’ 
process is entered by the new private owners. 

2.7.2 Occasionally communities have come together and raised funds to purchase and secure 
a ‘community facility’; for example, the community of Gwernyfed Rugby Club based in 
Talgarth rallied to raise funds to purchase the recreation ground from Powys County 
Council, renaming it the Brian Jones Memorial Field in 2018.

2.8 Environmental protection

2.8.1 In both 2019/20 and 2020/21, no planning permissions were granted in conflict with LDP 
policies ensuring protection of the historic environment, amenity, or the wildlife of the 
National Park. Neither was any ‘Countryside’ lost to development by means of 
departure to LDP Policy CYD LP1 Enabling Appropriate Development in the 
Countryside and no development was granted planning permission contrary to the 

Page 85



10

provisions of Technical advice note 15: development and flood risk. As it is yet to be 
reported in an AMR, it is recommended the ecological footprint indicator is dropped 
due to the significant difficulties in obtaining relevant reliable data.

2.8.2 During the monitoring period, the remaining Conservation Area reviews for 
Crickhowell and Llangattock were undertaken resulting in the appraisals and action 
plans being approved as Supplementary Planning Guidance. 

3. Analysis

3.1 At an operational level, by revealing the extent of failures to meet Phosphate Targets in 
Welsh Riverine Special Areas of Conservation, NRW Evidence Report 489 has 
undoubtedly has the greatest impact on LDP delivery during the monitoring period. 

3.2 Through the process of Habitats Regulations Assessment; most development proposals 
must demonstrate, beyond reasonable scientific doubt, they will not have an adverse 
effect on the integrity of the SAC designated features. 

3.3 With varying levels of confidence, NRW indicative assessments (2020) show that 47 out 
of 65 SAC features relevant to the National Park (>72%) have an unfavorable 
conservation status. Without cross-sector systematic change, there is little likelihood of 
reversing this statistic. Planning is just one part of the system, whilst constraining new 
planning permissions to those which can prove no adverse effect on integrity of the 
Special Areas of Conservation may help, it is certainly not the full answer.  

3.4 The Welsh Government has declared climate and nature emergencies. Whilst NRW 
Evidence Report 489 has started to reveal the scale of the challenge of creating resilient 
ecological networks, the energy only Carbon Budget for the National Park (2021) and 
Community Energy Audits (2020) start to reveal the extent of challenge presented by 
the need to cut emissions drastically and quickly. This includes those emissions baked 
into development through design choices, both strategic in terms of location and 
connectivity to services and detailed in the choice of materials, construction, and on-site 
energy generation. In advance of LDP2 being adopted, LDP Policy SP4 Climate Change 
offers scope to rise to this challenge. 

3.5 Furthermore, Regional Housing Market Evidence prepared for Mid and South West 
Wales by Opinion Research Services (2020) revealed a great need for accessible one 
and two-bedroomed homes for social rent in the National Park.

4. Response

Page 86



11

4.1 Plan Review: Development plan policies are not being implemented and the 
plan’s strategy is not being delivered, triggering a formal review in advance of the 
statutory 4-year review.

4.1.2 Following a full review of the Local Development Plan, in September 2018 the National 
Park Authority committed to preparing a replacement Local Development Plan (LDP2) 
[NPA Decision 106/188]. Housing delivery was a key driver for this decision and 
monitoring shows that delivery fails to keep pace with the Annual Average Requirement 
(AAR). 

4.1.3 In May 2021, the then Transition Director notified NPA of a decision taken “to delay 
the timetable for completion of the Local Development Plan in response to the impact 
of phosphates on the Authority’s business and the likelihood of the plan being unsound 
due to the level of constraints on this” [NPA item 71/219].

4.1.4 In summer 2022 a decision will need to be taken whether to progress LDP2 or 
withdraw and start afresh. Either way, the September 2018 decision that a full 
replacement LDP is needed stands until such time as it is either amended or abandoned.

4.2 Continue Monitoring: Development plan policies are being implemented 
effectively.

4.2.1 In line with conclusions in previous AMRs and the Review Report, and despite the 
decision to prepare a full replacement LDP, the AMR indicates many LDP policies are 
being implemented effectively and that they should continue to be monitored. 

4.3 Further Investigation/Research Required: Development plan policies are not being 
implemented as intended and further research and/or investigation is required. 

4.3.1 Approaching the end of the LDP plan period (2022), many of the recommendations for 
further research are equally relevant to LDP2 preparation as they are to implementing 
the LDP. Topics include: affordable housing contributions in the Heads of the Valleys 

8 https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/documents/g5384/Printed%20minutes%2021st-Sep-
2018%2012.30%20National%20Park%20Authority.pdf?T=1

9 https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/documents/g7918/Printed%20minutes%2028th-May-
2021%2010.00%20National%20Park%20Authority.pdf?T=1

Page 87



12

area, employment development and the protection of employment sites, town centre 
development and retail centre development. 

4.3.2 It is unclear whether recent planning permissions for sustainable tourism development 
have ensured designs meet the needs of a wide range of building users. It is 
recommended that an audit of 2019/20 and 2020/21 permissions reported in the AMR is 
undertaken to find out.

4.4 Training Required: Development plan policies are not being implemented as 
intended and officer or Member training is required. 

4.4.1 Ongoing Officer and Member training outlining significant contextual changes the to the 
Development Plan following the publication of Future Wales: the national plan 2040 and 
on the implications of  Natural Resources Wales’ Compliance Assessment of Welsh 
River SACs against Phosphorus Targets (Evidence Report 489) and associated practice 
guidance is needed. 

4.4.2 Officer training on design implications for sustainable tourism developments from the 
Equality Act may also be needed, depending on the findings of the recommended audit.

4.5 Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) Required: Development plan policies 
are not being implemented as intended and further guidance is required, 
potentially preparing additional SPG. 

4.5.1 No specific need for additional SPG is identified by the AMR and progress has been 
made on Place Planning. However, given the climate and social housing need 
imperatives, Supplementary Planning Guidance on LDP Policies SP4 Climate Change, SP9 
Renewable Energy and on relevant wording contained within policies relating to the 
Settlement Hierarchy should be considered. 

5. Implications

5.1 As was found by the 2018 Review Report, the AMR clearly shows that housebuilding 
completions have not kept place with the Average Annual Requirement of 133 a year. 
Moving into the last year of the plan period, slightly less than half of the Housing 

Page 88



13

Requirement has been built. However, what has been built is broadly in the right place 
according to the spatial strategy of the LDP. 

5.2 Over the monitoring period 2019/20 and 2020/21, the proportion of all homes granted 
planning permission as affordable is encouraging. However, there remains unmet need 
for small one and two bedroomed accessible socially rented homes. 

5.3 Apportionment modelling is being progressed by Dwr Cymru Welsh Water and this 
may provide a better understanding of the contribution that implementing the LDP has 
made to the failing Phosphorus Targets. Whatever the contribution, until such time as 
Phosphorus Targets are met, the rivers cannot fully support designated feature recovery 
and until the condition of the designated features are reported as being favorable once 
again, there is little scope for any further development which could hinder the pace of 
their recovery. 

5.4 The Welsh Government having declared both Climate and Nature emergencies and 
with LDP2 preparation on pause, all ways in which the existing policies of the LDP could 
be implemented (as a matter of practice) towards rapid emissions reductions and the 
development of resilient ecological networks must be considered. 

6. Risk

6.1 If the ecological resilience of the Usk and Wye River Catchments (in particular) are not 
restored, residents of and visitors to the National Park will not be able to benefit from 
the environmental, cultural, and socio-economic benefits presented by appropriate 
development opportunities in the National Park.

6.2 Publication of the AMR on the Authority’s website and its submission to the Welsh 
Government by 31 October is a statutory requirement for all 25 Welsh Local Planning 
Authorities.

RECOMMENDATION:

1. That the Local Development Plan Annual Monitoring Report 2019/20 & 2020/21 is 
submitted to the Welsh Government and published on the National Park Authority’s 
website by 31 October.

2. That when preparing Officer and Member training plans, consideration is given to 
providing significant contextual changes the to the Development Plan following the 
publication of Future Wales: the national plan 2040 and on the implications of Natural 

Page 89



14

Resources Wales’ Compliance Assessment of Welsh River SACs against Phosphorus 
Targets (Evidence Report 489).

3. To respond to climate and social rented housing imperatives, when preparing the 
Corporate Plan for 2022/23 that consideration be given to preparing Supplementary 
Planning Guidance on LDP Policies SP4 Climate Change, SP9 Renewable Energy and on 
relevant wording on meeting housing need contained within policies relating to the 
Settlement Hierarchy.

4. To investigate whether sustainable tourism developments are being designed to meet 
the requirements of the Equality Act, when preparing the Corporate Plan for 2022/23 
that consideration be given to undertaking an audit of permissions from 2019/20 and 
2020/21.

5. As it is yet to be reported in an AMR, it is recommended the ecological footprint 
indicator is dropped.

Page 90



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Local Development Plan

Annual Monitoring Report

1st April 2019 – 31st March 2021

Page 91



Introduction
The National Park Authority is required by the Welsh Government to produce and submit an Annual 
Monitoring Report by 31st October each year following the adoption of the Local Development Plan.  
The report is fundamental in assessing the progress of the Local Development Plan in implementing 
the policies contained within the Plan and will allow the National Park Authority the opportunity to 
assess the Policies against the most up-to-date information available.  The Annual Monitoring Report 
also includes the results of the Strategic Environmental Assessment/Sustainability Appraisal as well as 
the National Park Management Plan monitoring (Appendix 2 and 3).

The monitoring exercise can assist the National Park Authority to:- 

 Identify where certain policies are not being successful in delivering their intended objective; 
 Identify gaps in the evidence base, perhaps through a change in the economy, which need to 

be addressed and reflected in the Local Development Plan; 
 Identify areas of success which could be used as an example for change throughout the Local 

Development Plan; 
 State the intended actions that the National Park Authority will take in rectifying any issues to 

ensure the successful implementation of the policy or any revision that needs to take place. 

The National Park Authority has constructed a set of targets and indicators which act as a benchmark 
against which performance can be measured. Targets may relate to the achievement of certain levels 
of development and may be set annually or at an interim point within the Plan period. The target for 
the whole of the Plan is to achieve the implementation of the Local Development Plan Strategy.

The indicators and targets set out in the Monitoring Framework also give trigger points to indicate if 
one part of the Plan is not achieving the desired outcomes. If these triggers are ‘activated’ then the 
Annual Monitoring Report will consider the necessary action which is required as a result. There are a 
number of outcomes which could be actioned by the National Park Authority in this event; these will 
depend on both the level to which the target appears not to have been met and the criticalness of the 
development to the achievement of the Local Development Plan Strategy. Contextual indicators will 
also be used in the Annual Monitoring Report to evaluate if it is actually the Plan which is not achieving 
the targets or if there are external factors (such as the economy or changes in funding sources etc.) 
which are contributing in this respect and therefore outside of the planning system’s control. 

The following options are available to the National Park Authority in association with each of the 
indicators and their triggers. The Annual Monitoring Report will assess the severity of the situation 
associated with each indicator and recommend an appropriate response:

 Continue Monitoring
 Officer/Member Training Required
 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Development Briefs Required
 Policy Research
 Policy Review
 Plan/Strategy Review

As part of the Annual Monitoring Report process, the National Park Authority will also include an 
update on the development of allocated sites. This will highlight what activity has taken place on the 
site in any given year including the preparation of studies or the progression of development. If a site 

Page 92



is not being progressed as anticipated, this will be interpreted as a trigger and appropriate action (see 
above) will be taken by the National Park Authority if needed.

The requirements of a number of the strategic and policy indicators were completed during the first 
monitoring phase of the Local Development Plan, namely the occupation of the allocated Gypsy and 
Traveller site and the development of numerous Supplementary Planning Guidance notes.  During the 
second phase it was recommended that monitoring ceased in relation to the number of applications 
for larger developments that fail to provide 20% of their energy from low or zero carbon resources.  

Notwithstanding this, the vast majority of the strategic and policy indicators, as required by the Local 
Development Plan Monitoring Framework, will continue to be monitored as detailed in the tables 
marked green and yellow below.  Of these, there is a small number that require some additional work 
in the form of policy research as well as possible Officer/Member training and Supplementary Planning 
Guidance.  A single indicator, relating to the supply of housing land, was marked as red as a result of 
the supply falling below the 5 year mark (3.9). Whilst this is a concern, the Authority formally 
commenced Review of the Local Development Plan in December 2017 as a result of 4 years elapsing 
since its Adoption in December 2013. 

On 26 March 2020, the Minister for Housing and Local Government  wrote1 to the National Park 
Authority advising the Welsh Government’s five-year housing land supply policy was to be replaced 
and that the housing trajectory, as set out in the adopted LDP, would be the basis for monitoring the 
delivery of development plan housing requirements as part of LDP Annual Monitoring Reports (AMRs). 

The Development Plans Manual (Edition 3) provides additional guidance on the process of monitoring. 
A graph and table of completions against the Annual Average Requirement is now included in 
Appendix 1.

Other key contextual changes include: 
 A change to the ‘Development Plan’, with Future Wales: the national plan 2040 having been 

published in 2021;
 The establishment of Corporate Joint Committees as a new tier of regional government in 

Wales with responsibility for preparing ‘Strategic Development Plans’;
 Natural Resources Wales publishing the State of Natural Resources Report and Area 

Statements in 2020;
 Publication of the latest ‘State of the Park Report’ in 2020;
 New environmental evidence published in Jan 2021; Natural Resources Wales’ Compliance 

Assessment of Welsh River SACs against Phosphorus Targets and associated practice guidance 
issued by Natural Resources Wales having a significant bearing on the scope for development 
in much of the National Park (Evidence Report 489); and,

 Confirmation that the Brecon Beacons Local Development Plan 2007 – 2022 (Adopted 2013) 
retains ‘Development Plan’ status beyond the plan period until such time a decision is taken 
to abandon it2. Preparation of LDP2 having been ‘paused’, mainly in response to the issues 
presented by NRW Evidence Report 489. 

Sustainability Monitoring 

1 https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-03/changes-to-planning-policy-and-guidance-on-the-
delivery-of-housing_0.pdf
2 https://gov.wales/local-development-plan-ldp-end-dates-letter-local-authorities-html

Page 93



The Strategic Environmental Assessment directive requires that the significant environmental effects 
of implementing a plan are monitored so that the appropriate remedial actions can be taken if 
required.

The Sustainability Appraisal of the Local Development Plan identified no significant adverse effects on 
the objectives, however it identified the following significant positive effects which require 
monitoring.

 Climate Change Adaptation (SA1) and Greenhouse Gas Reduction (SA2) related to Policies SP4: 
‘Climate Change’ and SP11: ‘Sustainable Design’;

 Water Resources (SA5) through the policy on Water Quality (Policy 10);
 Biodiversity (SA8) in relation to SP1 National Park Policy and SP3 Environmental Protection, 

including its supporting policy on Biodiversity and Development (Policy 6);
 Cultural Heritage (SA9) in relation to SP1 (National Park Policy) and SP3 Environmental 

Protection, including its supporting policy on Areas of Archaeological Evaluation (Policy 22).
 Landscape SA11 in relation to SP1 (National Park Policy) and SP3 Environmental Protection, 

including its supporting policies Trees and Development (Policy 8) and Light Pollution (Policy 
6)

 Natural Resources and Infrastructure (SA12) through policies on Sustainable Design (SP11), 
Sustainable Infrastructure (SP16), Waste (SP6) and the recycling of minerals (Policy 67)

 Population (SA14) in relation to the Spatial Distribution of Development (SP10), National Park 
policy (SP1) and policies relating to housing (SP5), affordable housing (SP6), economic 
wellbeing (SP12) and Sustainable communities (SP15); and

 Economy (SA17) in relation to National Park policy (SP1) and polices relating to economic 
wellbeing (SP12) and retail (SP13).

The Local Development Plan adopted Monitoring framework set out below addresses some of the 
monitoring requirements for the SA/SEA.  Additional indicators are provided within the SA to ensure 
that all significant effects in the SA can be monitored.  These, where relevant and where data is 
available at National Park level, are provided at Appendix 2 and through the updated Scoping Report 
available from the NPA’s website.

Strategy Monitoring 

Key:
Complete
Continue Monitoring
Policy Research / SPG / Officer and Member Training
Cease Monitoring

Delivering Housing
Figure 1

Maintain a 5 year land supply Completions relative to LDP Annual Average Requirement.
Seventh Monitoring Period (1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021)
Monitoring shows completions have not kept pace with the Annual Average 
Requirement of the LDP (See table in appendix 1). Total completions being 67 
against an Annual Average Requirement of 133. 

Plan Review

Sixth Monitoring Period (1st April 2019 to 31st March 2020)

Page 94



The Authority’s Joint Housing Land Availability Study 2019 (Appendix 1) confirms 
a 2.7 year land supply. 
Monitoring shows completions have not kept pace with the Annual Average 
Requirement of the LDP (See table in appendix 1). Total completions being 30 
against an Annual Average Requirement of 133.
Fifth Monitoring Period (1st April 2018 to 31st March 2019)
The Authority’s Joint Housing Land Availability Study 2019 (Appendix 1) confirms 
a 2.1 year land supply. 
Fourth Monitoring Period (1st April 2017 to 31st March 2018)
The Authority’s Joint Housing Land Availability Study 2018 (Appendix 1) confirms 
a 3.9 year land supply. 
Third Monitoring Period (1st April 2016 to 31st March 2017)
The Authority’s Joint Housing Land Availability Study 2017 (Appendix 1) confirms 
a 4.8 year land supply. 
Second Monitoring Period (1st April 2015 to 31st March 2016)
The Authority’s Joint Housing Land Availability Study 2016 (Appendix 1) confirms 
a 5.0 year land supply. 
First Monitoring Period (17th Dec 2013 to 31st Mar 2015):
5.8 year land supply in 2015
5.3 year land supply in 2014
Comments:
The Authority retained a 5 year supply of land for the first three years since the 
adoption of the LDP. However, the 2016-2017 Joint Housing Land Availability Study 
returned a figure of 4.8 years – 0.2 below the ‘threshold’ of 5 years.

The 2017-2018 Joint Housing Land Availability returned a figure of 3.9 years – 1.1 
years below the ‘threshold’ of 5 years. 

The 2018-2019 Joint Housing Land Availability returned a figure of 2.1 years – 2.9 
years below the ‘threshold’ of 5 years.

The 2019-2020 Joint Housing Land Availability returned a figure of 2.7 years – 2.3 
years below the ‘threshold’ of 5 years.
Recommendation:
The annual monitoring target has not been met. Whilst this is a concern, the 
Authority formally commenced the Review of the Local Development Plan in 
December as a result of 4 years elapsing since its Adoption in December 2013.

In accordance with the Development Plans Manual Edition 3, housing delivery is 
now monitored against the Annual Average Requirement of the LDP. A new graph 
is included in Appendix 1.  

New environmental evidence published in Jan 2021; Natural Resources Wales’ 
Compliance Assessment of Welsh River SACs against Phosphorus Targets and 
associated practice guidance is likely to have a significant bearing on the scope for 
development in much of the National Park (Evidence Report 489). Whilst there is 
no definite date for when this evidence will be updated, it is not likely to be soon, 
furthermore there are no guarantees that when updated, the evidence will show 
Phosphate Targets (Critical Limits) are being met.  

Page 95



The Authority will continue to monitor the Authority’s housing land supply. via the 
JHLAS process concurrently with the Review of the Local Development Plan.

Figure 2 
Number of consents granted and dwellings for which planning permission has been granted 
completed annually 

Seventh Monitoring Period 
Planning permission granted for 29 new dwellings 

Completions 2020-2021 = 67
Sixth Monitoring Period 
Planning permission granted for 86 new dwellings 

Completions 2019-2020 = 30
Fifth Monitoring Period 
Planning permission granted for 161 new dwellings 

Completions 2018-2019 = 89
Fourth Monitoring Period
Planning permission granted for 57 new dwellings

Completions 2017-2018 = 203
Third Monitoring Period
Planning permission granted for 276 new dwellings

Completions 2016-2017 = 52
Second Monitoring Period
Planning permission granted for 117 new dwellings 

Completions 2015-2016 = 58
First Monitoring Period:
Planning permission granted for 106 new dwellings, plus 64 and 45 completions 
for 2013/14 and 2014/15 respectively.

Policy 
Research

Comment:
As monitoring the 5-year land supply has been amended to monitoring annual 
completions against the LDP Annual Average Requirement, this indicator will now 
focus on the number of homes (net-gain) for which planning permission has been 
granted in the year. 

In the two years which this report covers, planning permission has been granted 
for 115 new homes. 

The number of completions has not met the number required annually (174 (+/- 
20%)) with 30 completions in 2019-2020 and 67 completions in 2020-2021. The 
number of dwellings granted planning permissions has decreased since the 2018-
2019 study.

Page 96



Given the range of figures set out above, it is reasonable to suggest that a 
consideration of fluctuations from year to year should be taken into account.  
Indeed, the second part of the assessment trigger requires between 696 and 1044 
dwellings to be developed by 2017, which is a figure generated over longer 
timescale that would represent a more robust indicator of the LDP’s performance. 

From the beginning of the Plan period (2007) to the end of March 2020, there was 
a total of 967 completions. Therefore this target has been achieved. 

It was recommended as part of the AMR relating to the second monitoring period 
that Officers undertake comparison research with other Local Planning Authorities 
into the delivery of housing.  Here it was noted that:

 The 2018 Joint Housing Land Availability Studies across Wales show that 
as at 1 April 2018 19 out of the 25 Local Planning Authorities were unable 
to demonstrate a five year housing land supply. 

 The 2017 Joint Housing Land Availability Studies across Wales show that 
as at 1 April 2017 19 out of the 25 Local Planning Authorities were unable 
to demonstrate a five year housing land supply. 

 The 2016 Joint Housing Land Availability Studies across Wales show that 
as at 1 April 2016 19 out of the twenty-five local planning authorities were 
unable to demonstrate a five year housing land supply. 

 By comparison, 17 local planning authorities were unable to demonstrate 
a five year housing land supply in 2015, all of which remain without a five 
year supply in 2016. 

 16 local planning authorities have had less than five years housing land 
supply for three or more consecutive years.

To this end, it is clear that difficulties in relation to housing delivery is a national 
issue and not exclusive to the Brecon Beacons National Park Area.  Indeed, the 
figures for 2018 show that housing land supply as reported in JHLASs has declined 
for many LPAs, including for some with recently adopted Local Development Plans. 
Research commissioned by the Welsh Government (Longitudinal viability study of 
the planning process undertaken by Arcadis (UK) Ltd) indicates that one of the 
main reasons is the allocation of sites for housing which are essentially 
undeliverable or only likely to come forward at later stages of the LDP period. 
Viability was identified as a key reason for delays in delivery, covering issues such 
as affordable housing requirements, sites being located in low value market areas, 
poor quality sites or specific infrastructure requirements.  It is understood that this 
study is continuing addressing the reasons for stalled sites across wales.

It should also be noted that the Authority has commissioned work to be 
undertaken in the form of a Housing Needs assessment.  This will form a key piece 
of evidence as the Authority develops LDP2 and will set out options relating to our 
housing requirements up to 2033. 
Recommendation:
The annual indicator shows that permission for new homes is not keeping pace 
with the Plan’s Annual Average Requirement for completions. housing - are not up 
to the level required.  Further research and investigation is required on the reasons 
for this, in particular on a pathway to meeting Phosphorus Targets in the 
catchments of riverine Special Areas of Conservation in the National Park and, 
where they are not currently, on bringing SAC designated features back into 

Page 97



Favourable Condition. Engaging with regional development viability, housing 
market and housing needs work will also be important. Sub-national 2018-based 
population and household projections are now available for the National Park and 
these need to be built into Regional and Local Housing Market Assessments. 

• Continuation of comparison research with other Local Planning 
Authorities into the delivery of housing

Figure 3
Number of units granted and completed in each settlement tier

Seventh Monitoring Period

Permissions 2020 - 2021
Brecon Primary Key Settlement: 0%
Key Settlements: 83%
Settlements: 17% 
Limited Growth Settlements: 0%
Countryside: 0%
Allocated Brownfield Sites: 0%

Completions 2020 – 2021
Brecon Primary Key Settlement: 78%
Key Settlements: 9%
Settlements: 1% 
Limited Growth Settlements: 0%
Countryside: 12%
Allocated Brownfield Sites: 0%

Sixth Monitoring Period

Permissions 2019 - 2020
Brecon Primary Key Settlement: 53.5%
Key Settlements: 28%
Settlements: 17% 
Limited Growth Settlements: 0%
Countryside: 0%
Allocated Brownfield Sites: 0%

Completions 2019 – 2020
Brecon Primary Key Settlement: 10%
Key Settlements: 6.5%
Settlements: 30% 
Limited Growth Settlements: 20%
Countryside: 26.5%
Allocated Brownfield Sites: 0%

Completed/ 
Policy 

Research

Fifth Monitoring Period

Page 98



Permissions 2018 - 2019
Brecon Primary Key Settlement: 89%
Key Settlements: 3.5%
Settlements: 2.5% 
Limited Growth Settlements: 0.5%
Countryside: 4.5%
Allocated Brownfield Sites: 0%

Completions 2018 – 2019
Brecon Primary Key Settlement: 2%
Key Settlements: 47%
Settlements: 31% 
Limited Growth Settlements: 14%
Countryside: 7%
Allocated Brownfield Sites: 0%

Fourth Monitoring Period

Permissions 2017 - 2018
Brecon Primary Key Settlement: 7%
Key Settlements: 30%
Settlements: 51% 
Limited Growth Settlements: 0%
Countryside: 12%
Allocated Brownfield Sites: 0%

Completions 2017 - 2018
Brecon 7% (14)
Key Settlements 56% (114)
Settlements: 23% (47)
Limited Growth Settlements 3% (6)
Countryside: 11% (22)
Allocated Brownfield Sites: 0% (0)

Third Monitoring Period

Permissions
Brecon Primary Key Settlement: 2%
Key Settlements: 48%
Settlements: 13% 
Limited Growth Settlements: 7%
Countryside: 9%
Allocated Brownfield Sites: 21%

Completions 2016-2017
Brecon 6% (3)
Key Settlements 8% (4)
Settlements: 61% (32)
Limited Growth Settlements 6% (3)
Countryside: 19% (10)
Allocated Brownfield Sites: 0

Page 99



Second Monitoring Period

Permissions
Brecon Primary Key Settlement: 14%
Key Settlements: 41%
Settlements: 35% 
Limited Growth Settlements: 5%
Countryside: 5%
Allocated Brownfield Sites: 0

Completions 2015-2016
Brecon-9%
Key Settlements 9%
Settlements: 54%
Limited Growth Settlements 20%
Countryside: 9%
Allocated Brownfield Sites: 0
First Monitoring Period:

Permissions
Brecon Primary Key Settlement: 1%
Key Settlements: 8%
Settlements: 88% 
Limited Growth Settlements: 3%
Countryside: 0
Allocated Brownfield Sites: 0

Completions 2013-2014
Brecon-0
Key Settlements 0
Settlements: 45%
Limited Growth Settlements 0
Countryside: 55%
Allocated Brownfield Sites: 0

Completions 2014-2015
Brecon-0
Key Settlements 14%
Settlements: 16%
Limited Growth Settlements 24%
Countryside: 46%
Allocated Brownfield Sites: 0

Comments: 
Permissions:
One of the objectives of the LDP is to encourage development in sustainable 
locations near facilities and services therefore minimising the need to travel, whilst 
also respecting the National Park purposes and special qualities.  It is therefore 
encouraging to see the continuation of the majority of residential units granted 
planning permission being located within either the Primary Key Settlement of 

Page 100



Brecon, the Key Settlements of Crickhowell, Hay-On-Wye, Talgarth and 
Sennybridge and Defynnog along with the Level 3 Settlements. 

This is a three-year indicator with an assessment trigger of more than 50% of 
dwellings granted planning permission being outside the Primary Key and Key 
Settlements.  Since the commencement of monitoring in December 2013 a total 
of 863 dwellings have been granted planning permission – 381 of which located 
within the Primary Key and Key Settlements.  This equates to 44% which falls 6% 
below the assessment target figure.  

In previous monitoring reports the Authority have set out the constraints placed 
on development within Brecon as a result of the lack of capacity within Dwr Cymru 
Welsh Water’s sewerage and water infrastructure.  Works on the assets 
management programme in Brecon were completed in March 2018.  As we have 
previously predicted the improvements in infrastructure have had a positive 
impact on the numbers of residential planning permissions being granted within 
Brecon, in particular the ‘Beacons Gate’ permission for 119 homes, Maes Maendu 
for 32 homes, the conversion of the former Court for 21 homes and outline 
permission for allocated land to the North of Camden Crescent, each in the 
Primary Key Settlement of Brecon,  made a significant impact.  For the first time 
since the adoption of the LDP the target has been met in relation to the percentage 
of development occurring within the Primary Key Settlement, with 89% of new 
permissions being granted within Brecon.

Completions:
This indicator requires the following locational proportion of completions:

 Primary Key Settlement – 31%
 Key Settlements – 16%
 Settlements – 47%
 Allocated Brownfield Sites – 17%

The percentage (and number) of completions per settlement tier for the years 
since the adoption of the LDP is set out in the table below:

Year Number % within 
Primary 
Settlement 
(number)

% within 
Key 
Settlement
(number) 

% within 
Settlement 
(number)

% within 
Allocated 
Brownfield 
(number)

2013/14 64 0 (0) 0 (0) 45 (29) 0 (0)
2014/15 45 0 (0) 14 (6) 16 (7) 0 (0)
2015/16 58 9 (5) 9 (5) 54 (31) 0 (0)
2016/17 52 6 (3) 8 (4) 61 (32) 0 (0)
2017/18 203 7 (14) 56 (114) 23 (47) 0 (0)
2018/19 89 2 (2) 47 (41) 31 (27) 0 (0)
2019/20 30 10 (3) 6.5 (2) 30 (9) 0 (0)
2020/21 67 78 (52) 9 (6) 1 (1) 0 (0)
TOTAL 608 13% 29% 30% 0%
3 yr Total 186 30% 26% 20% 0%

Page 101



The monitoring framework states that the assessment shall be triggered for this 
indicator if less than 50% of dwelling completions occur within the Primary Key 
Settlement and Key Settlements over a 3 year period.  The above table illustrates 
the significant contribution of completions in the Primary Key Settlement of 
Brecon in 2020/2021.  

It should be noted that the completions data does not correlate particularly well 
with the permissions data.  To this end, it is suggested that the completions 
element of this indicator has limited scope beyond ‘for information’ purposes.

 Recommendation:
Whilst the time period for this indicator has been completed, it is necessary to 
continue monitoring the indicator. 

Figure 4
Number of dwellings granted consent on mixed use sites  

Seventh Monitoring Period
0 Dwellings granted planning permission on mixed use sites. 
Sixth Monitoring Period
0 Dwellings granted planning permission on mixed use sites. 
Fifth Monitoring Period
119 Dwellings granted planning permission on mixed use sites.
Fourth Monitoring Period
0 Dwellings granted planning permission on mixed use sites.
Third Monitoring Period
68 Dwellings granted planning permission on mixed use sites.
Second Monitoring Period
0 Dwellings granted planning permission on mixed use sites.
First Monitoring Period:
0 Dwellings granted planning permission on mixed use sites.

Continue 
Monitoring

Comments:
Full planning permission has been permitted at appeal for 119 dwellings and 
employment facilities at land at Cerrigcochion Road, Penlan, Brecon. 

Outline planning permission has been granted for an indicative number of 68 
dwellings and employment facilities at the Former Army Camp, Cwrt-Y-Gollen 
(CS66).  
Permission has also been granted for 15 homes on the site ‘SALT 037 – Proposed 
extension to T9, Talgarth’.

A development briefs has also been approved for CS111 – Former Mid Wales 
Hospital, Talgarth (125). on the following mixed use sites:

 SALT 037 – Proposed extension to T9, Talgarth (15 dwellings) – Adopted 
and application submitted for 15 dwellings and planning permission 
granted for school

 – Adopted but no application received currently. 

Page 102



Recommendation:
There is no assessment trigger for this indicator.  Accordingly, this will be 
monitored over the remainder of the plan period.  

Figure 5
All applications granted planning consent to achieve a density of 30 dwellings per hectare 

Seventh Monitoring Period
1 residential permission was granted below 20 dwellings per hectare
1 residential permission was granted at 20-30 dwellings per hectare
1 residential permission was granted at 30    dwellings per hectare
Sixth Monitoring Period
6 residential permissions were granted below 20 dwellings per hectare
0 residential permissions were granted at 20-30 dwellings per hectare
5 residential permissions of residential applications were granted at 30    
dwellings per hectare
Fifth Monitoring Period
6 residential permissions were granted below 20 dwellings per hectare
4 residential permissions were granted at 20-30 dwellings per hectare
0 residential permissions of residential applications were granted at 30    
dwellings per hectare
Fourth Monitoring Period
8 residential permissions were granted below 20 dwellings per hectare
5 residential permissions were granted at 20-30 dwellings per hectare
8 residential permissions of residential applications were granted at 30    
dwellings per hectare
Third Monitoring Period
11 residential permissions were granted below 20 dwellings per hectare
11 residential permissions were granted at 20-30 dwellings per hectare
5 residential permissions of residential applications were granted at 30    
dwellings per hectare
Second Monitoring Period
10  residential permissions were granted below 20 dwellings per hectare
4 residential permissions were granted at 20-30 dwellings per hectare
3 residential permissions of residential applications were granted at 30 dwellings 
per hectare
First Monitoring Period:
16 of residential permissions were granted below 20 dwellings per hectare
5 residential permissions were granted at 20-30 dwellings per hectare
5 residential permissions of residential applications were granted at 30 dwellings 
per hectare

Policy Research

Comment:
Policy 61 of the Local Development Plan relates to dwelling density and states 
that:

 “All residential development will be required to be developed at a minimum 
density of 30 dwellings to the hectare, where this is compatible with the existing 
character of the area.

Only where it is proven that this density cannot be achieved due to the 
incorporation of measures to improve the sustainability of the scheme which 

Page 103



cannot be located on land outside of the allocation, will levels less than the 
minimum target be permissible.” 

Clearly, there is some flexibility in this policy that would allow development to 
be approved at a level of density below 30 dwellings per hectare, such as the 
character of the surrounding area. Furthermore, there have been instances 
where a lower level of density has been agreed due to abnormal conditions on 
site – topography and access constraints for example.

It was recommended in the Report for the first monitoring period that:

“The indicator suggests that this policy is not wholly being implemented as 
required.  However, it must be noted that there is flexibility within the policy that 
allows development to take place at a density below 30 dwellings per hectare.  
Accordingly, further research is required in relation to the following:

 Investigation into the number of allocated sites that have been granted 
planning permission at a density of below 30 dwellings per hectare

 Determine the specific reasons for allowing a lower level of dwelling 
density

Depending on the results of this policy research, it may be required that 
Development Management Officers and Authority Members are provided with 
additional training in relation to the requirements of Policy 61.  A further 
consideration will be the development of an additional piece of Supplementary 
Planning Guidance to address the issue of dwelling density and mix on housing 
and mixed-use allocations.”

Further to this recommendation, an examination of the relevant application 
proposals was carried out and it was determined that all fell within the tolerance 
of Policy 61.  That is, it is reasonable to suggest that planning permission was 
only granted for development proposals below a density of 30dph in instances 
where it could not be achieved or that a 30+dph density would not be 
compatible with the surroundings of the particular site.
 
Notwithstanding this, Development Management Officers were provided with 
training from the Strategy and Policy Team to ensure that the policy was being 
interpreted appropriately.  

Recommendation:
The indicator suggests that this policy is not wholly being implemented as 
required.  However, it must be noted that there is flexibility within the policy 
that allows development to take place at a density below 30 dwellings per 
hectare.  Accordingly, further research is required to determine the specific 
reasons for allowing a lower level of dwelling density.

Figure 6

Page 104



Affordable Housing percentage target 
Seventh Monitoring Period
The Land registry House Price Index for Merthyr Tydfil demonstrates that there 
has been a +11.1% change in house prices for the period of this AMR.
Sixth Monitoring Period
The Land registry House Price Index for Merthyr Tydfil demonstrates that there 
has been a +5.23% change in house prices for the period of this AMR.
Fifth Monitoring Period
The Land registry House Price Index for Merthyr Tydfil demonstrates that there 
has been a +0.2% change in house prices for the period of this AMR.
Fourth Monitoring Period
The Land registry House Price Index for Merthyr Tydfil demonstrates that there 
has been a +1.3% change in house prices for the period of this AMR.
Third Monitoring Period
The Land registry House Price Index for Merthyr Tydfil demonstrates that there 
has been a +1.4% change in house prices for the period of this AMR.
Second Monitoring Period
The Land registry House Price Index for Merthyr Tydfil demonstrates that there 
has been a -1.75% change in house prices for the period of this AMR.  However 
average house prices remain above those experienced in the region on the 
adoption of the LDP in December 2013.
First Monitoring Period:
Data from the Land Registry and derived from the Development Appraisal Toolkit 
suggests that house prices have risen somewhere between 9 and 17% in the 
Heads of the Valleys sub-market area during 2012-15.
Comment:
The assessment trigger for this indicator is a 2.5% change in house prices in the 
Heads of the Valley sub-market area and a 5% change across the rest of the 
National Park area.

Continue 
Monitoring

Recommendation:
Given that the Land Registry data, together with the Development Appraisal 
Toolkit data, suggest a significant overall increase in house prices in the Heads of 
the Valleys area, albeit a reduction in 2015/16, it will be necessary for the 
Authority to consider additional viability testing with a view to modifying the 
Affordable Housing contribution targets (if appropriate) as part of the 
development of LDP2.

Figure 7
Number of affordable dwellings granted consent 

Seventh Monitoring Period
Permission was granted for 19 affordable dwellings. This accounts for 66% of all 
residential permissions. 
Sixth Monitoring Period
Permission was granted for 55 affordable dwellings. This accounts for 64% of all 
residential permissions.
Fifth Monitoring Period
Permission was granted for 21 affordable dwellings. This accounts for 13% of all 
residential permissions.

Continue 
Monitoring

Fourth Monitoring Period

Page 105



Permission was granted for 9 affordable dwellings.  This accounts for 12% of all 
residential permissions.
Third Monitoring Period
Permission was granted for 63 affordable dwellings.  This accounts for 23% of all 
residential permissions.
Second Monitoring Period
Permission was granted for 45 affordable dwellings.  This accounts for 38% of all 
residential permissions.
First Monitoring Period:
Permission was granted for 24 affordable dwellings.  This accounts for 17% of all 
residential permissions.
Comment:
The target for this indicator is 47 Affordable Housing dwellings to be granted 
planning permission per annum (+/- 30%).  There is also an assessment trigger of 
less than 38 Affordable Housing dwellings being provided annually for 3 
consecutive years.  

Over the two years 2019/20 and 2020/21 planning permission was granted for 74 
affordable homes, with 55 granted in 2019/20. This represents more than 60% of 
permissions granted. 

The reduction in figures has not been helped by the appeal decision at the 
allocated site CS132 Land Opposite the High School (indicatively for 137 dwellings).  
The permitted scheme provided only 8% affordable housing, significantly below 
the policy target of 20%.  The developers were able to demonstrate the necessity 
of reducing the number of affordable housing from 27 units to 9 in order to ensure 
a viable scheme.  As part of the supporting evidence underpinning the 
replacement LDP we have sought independent review of this decision and its 
implication for the delivery of affordable homes.

Recommendation:
This indicator is to be monitored for a further year.

Figure 8
Number of affordable dwellings completed

Seventh Monitoring Period 
Completions 2020-2021: 21

Sixth Monitoring Period 
Completions 2019-2020: 2

Fifth Monitoring Period 
Completions 2018-2019: 28

Fourth Monitoring Period
Completions 2017-2018: 41 

Continue 
Monitoring

Third Monitoring Period
Completions 2016-2017: 24   

Page 106



Second Monitoring Period
Completions 2015-2016: 10

First Monitoring Period:

Completions 2013-2014 31
Completions 2014-2015 6
Comment:

Although only 2 completions were recorded during the sixth monitoring period 
(2019/20), 21 were completed during (2020/21)and therefore met the minimum 
requirements of the indicator (20 units)

The second assessment trigger requires in excess of 15 Affordable Housing 
dwellings to be completed annually for three consecutive years.  The total number 
of completions for affordable housing over the last 3 monitoring periods  is 
51units, an average of 17 a year.

Recommendation:
The indicator will continue to be monitored.

Figure 9
Number of market dwellings coming forward on sites of 3 dwellings or more 

Seventh Monitoring Period
10 market units (amounting to the loss of 2 affordable dwellings on the ground) 
were permitted on 2 sites where it was demonstrated that the provision of onsite 
affordable housing was not viable at the appropriate affordable housing target. 
Sixth Monitoring Period
5 market units (amounting to the loss of 2 affordable dwellings on the ground) 
were permitted on 1 site where it was demonstrated that the provision of onsite 
affordable housing was not viable at the appropriate affordable housing target.
Fifth Monitoring Period
119 units (amounting to the loss of 23 affordable dwellings on the ground) were 
permitted on 1 site where it was demonstrated that the provision of onsite 
affordable housing was no viable at the appropriate affordable housing target
Fourth Monitoring Period
0 sites were permitted where it was demonstrated that the provision of onsite 
affordable housing was not viable at the appropriate affordable housing target.  
Third Monitoring Period
23 market units were permitted on 4 separate sites where it was demonstrated 
that the provision of onsite affordable housing was not viable.  This amounts to a 
loss of 19 affordable dwellings.
There has been a further loss of 21.5 affordable dwellings on sites where some 
onsite provision has been provided, but not the full affordable housing target.
Second Monitoring Period
25 units were permitted on 4 separate sites where it was demonstrated that 
provision of affordable housing was not viable.  This amount to a loss of 5 
affordable dwellings

Continue 
Monitoring

First Monitoring Period:

Page 107



5 permissions (amounting to the loss of 13 Affordable Dwellings on the ground) 
were granted on site for 3 or more dwellings which did not achieve policy levels 
of affordable housing contribution.
Comment:
Policy 28 of the LDP seeks to enable affordable housing on sites where there is a 
net gain in housing at a set target levels, however provision is made within the 
policy to enable the level of affordable housing to be reduced below target levels 
as a result of robust evidence demonstrating target levels are not viable.  

This indicator seeks to monitor the extent to which permitted residential schemes 
are able to meet target levels of affordable housing.  This indicator essentially 
provides information in relation to the potential gap between policy aspirations 
and market delivery by seeking to monitor the number of affordable housing ‘lost’ 
as a result of viability testing.  This monitoring period has seen the equivalent loss 
of 2 affordable units, the same as in 2019/2020..

Policy level affordable housing targets will be reviewed as part of LDP2 
preparation. 
Recommendation:
The indicator will continue to be monitored.

Figure 10
Number of Affordable windfall dwellings 

Policy 
Research

Seventh Monitoring Period
0 Affordable Windfall dwellings 

Sixth Monitoring Period
0 Affordable Windfall dwellings 

Fifth Monitoring Period
1 Affordable Windfall dwellings 

Fourth Monitoring Period
4 Affordable Windfall dwellings 

Third Monitoring Period
13 Affordable Windfall dwellings

Second Monitoring Period
29 Affordable Windfall dwellings

First Monitoring Period:
4 Affordable Windfall Dwellings
Comment:
The annual target of 3 windfall Affordable Housing dwellings being granted 
planning permission per annum has not been met for three consecutive years and 
this triggers an assessment into the reasons. Although the assessment is yet to 
commence, the low number of planning permissions granted in 2020/21 for new 
homes (just 29) indicate this trend may not be specific to  Affordable Windfall 
Permissions. .

Page 108



In this monitoring period 0 windfall affordable dwellings were granted planning 
permission. 
Recommendation:
The indicator will continue to be monitored and an assessment be made of the 
reasons why the annual target of 3 windfall Affordable Housing dwellings being 
granted planning permission per annum has not been met in any of the previous 
3 years

Figure 11
Number of Affordable dwellings on Exception Sites 

Seventh Monitoring Period
0 Dwellings granted permission on Affordable Housing Exception sites.

Sixth Monitoring Period
0 Dwellings granted permission on Affordable Housing Exception sites.

Fifth Monitoring Period
0 Dwellings granted permission on Affordable Housing Exception sites.

Fourth Monitoring Period
0 Dwellings granted permission on Affordable Housing Exception sites.

Third Monitoring Period
0 Dwellings granted permission on Affordable Housing Exception sites.

Second Monitoring Period
0 Dwellings granted permission on Affordable Housing Exception sites.

First Monitoring Period:
0 Dwellings granted permission on Affordable Housing Exception sites.

Comment:
Whilst the annual target of 4 Affordable dwellings being granted planning 
permission has not been met, it should be noted that this is not as a result of the 
refusal of any planning application.  No ‘exception site’ applications were received 
during the period which, reasonably, can be considered to be beyond the control 
of the Authority.  Accordingly, given that it relates to ‘exceptional development’, 
consideration will be given to whether this indicator will be monitored in the 
future.

Continue 
Monitoring

Recommendation:
Continue monitoring but consider whether this indicator should continue to be 
monitored in the future.

Figure 12
Occupation of the allocated Gypsy and Traveller site 

Completed 
during 

The allocated Gypsy and Traveller site has been developed and occupied by the 
family.

Page 109



Comment:
Further to the granting of planning permission on 27th March 2012 for a proposed 
permanent Gypsy and Traveller site the 14 pitches granted consent have been 
developed. 
 

previous 
monitoring 

period

Recommendation:
The monitoring framework required this site to be occupied by 2017.  The site has 
already been developed and occupied so no further monitoring is required.

Figure 13
Supplementary Planning Guidance

Supplementary Planning Guidance has been produced in relation to the following:
 Affordable Housing Strategy
 Affordable Housing SPG
 Planning Obligations Strategy
 CYD LP1: Appropriate Development in the Countryside 
 Addendum to CYD LP1: Appropriate Development in the Countryside 

Comment:
In line with the requirements of the Local Development Plan Monitoring 
Framework, Members have endorsed the above Supplementary Planning 
Guidance.  These guidance documents take account of and address the 6 
Supplementary Planning Guidance referred to in the ‘Delivering Housing’ section 
of the Local Development Plan Monitoring Framework.

Completed 
during 

previous 
monitoring 

period

Recommendation:
The relevant Supplementary Planning Guidance has been completed.  Accordingly, 
no further monitoring is required.

Economic Wellbeing

Figure 14
Development of Employment Land 

Seventh Monitoring Period
During the period 1/4/20 – 31/3/21, 0 permissions were granted of B Use Class 
development falling within allocated employment sites. 

Sixth Monitoring Period
During the period 1/4/19 – 31/3/20, 3 permissions were granted for 0.47 hectares 
of B Use Class development falling within allocated employment sites. 

Fifth Monitoring Period
During the period 1/4/18 – 31/3/19 no permissions were granted of B Use Class 
development falling within allocated employment sites. 

Monitoring 
Complete

Fourth Monitoring Period
During the period 1/4/17 – 31/3/18 permissions were granted for 0.14 hectares of 
B Use Class development falling within allocated employment sites.

Page 110



Third Monitoring Period
During the period 1/4/16-31/3/17 permissions were granted for 1.16 hectares of 
B Use Class development falling within allocated employment sites.

A total of 0.8 hectares of employment land has been developed since the adoption 
of the LDP.

Second Monitoring Period
During the period 1/4/15-31/3/16 permissions were granted for 0.135 hectares of 
B Use Class development falling within allocated employment sites.

First Monitoring Period:
Permissions granted for a total of 0.491 Hectares of B Use Class development 
falling within allocated employment sites.
Comment:
The trigger for assessment in relation to this indicator is that less than 0.5 hectares 
of employment land allocated is developed by 2017 and 0.75 hectares by the end 
of the Plan period.  As referred to above, a total of 1.926 hectares of employment 
land has been granted planning permission for B1, B2 and B8 uses during the 
monitoring period. 

It should also be noted that a total of 0.56 hectares of employment development 
has taken place since the adoption of the LDP – a total of 1.36 hectares overall.

In support of the Local Development Plan Review which commenced in December 
2017, the Authority commissioned evidence gathering work to commence in the 
form of a comprehensive Employment Land Review.  This will form a key piece of 
evidence for the Review and will set out options relating to the required level of 
new employment land required for allocation for the replacement LDP period of 
2017 to 2032.

Further assessments (A Mid Wales Employment Sites and Premises Needs 
Assessment and Action Plan) have been prepared undertaken to inform the 
portfolio of the Mid Wales Growth Deal. 

Recommendation:
This indicator requires at least 0.5ha of employment land to be developed by 2017, 
and 0.75 hectares over the Plan period.  Accordingly, the requirements of this 
indicator have been met.

Figure 15
Loss of Employment Land 

Policy 
Research

Seventh Monitoring Period
1 permissions granted for non-employment uses on allocated or identified 
employment land (Ref: 20/18408/FUL – B8 to D2, Ffrwdgrech Industrial Estate, 
Brecon)
Sixth Monitoring Period
0 permissions granted for non-employment uses on allocated or identified 
employment land
Fifth Monitoring Period

Page 111



0 permissions granted for non-employment uses on allocated or identified 
employment land
Fourth Monitoring Period
0 permissions granted for non-employment uses on allocated or identified 
employment land
Third Monitoring Period
0 permissions granted for non-employment uses on allocated or identified 
employment land
Second Monitoring Period
0 permissions granted for non-employment uses on allocated or identified 
employment land
First Monitoring Period
0 permissions granted for non-employment uses on allocated or identified 
employment land
Comment:
None.
Recommendation:
The trigger for assessment for this indication is 1 application being granted 
planning permission on existing employment land for non-employment land uses.  
1 permissions have been granted with the loss of Units 8, 9 And 10, Penyfan 
Business Park, Ffrwdgrech Industrial Estate, Brecon from Use Class B8 to a 
rehabilitation and wellness centre (D2 use class).  Accordingly, this indicator will 
continue to be monitored and will be the subject of Policy Research

Figure 16
Employment development in Sennybridge and Defynnog 

Seventh Monitoring Period
0 permissions granted for employment generating development within 
Sennybridge
Sixth Monitoring Period
0 permissions granted for employment generating development within 
Sennybridge
Fifth Monitoring Period
0 permissions granted for employment generating development within 
Sennybridge
Fourth Monitoring Period
0 permissions granted for employment generating development within 
Sennybridge
Third Monitoring Period
0 permissions granted for employment generating development within 
Sennybridge
Second Monitoring Period
0 permissions granted for employment generating development within 
Sennybridge 
First Monitoring Period:
0 permissions granted for employment generating development within 
Sennybridge

Continue 
Monitoring

Comment:
This indicator was included as a result of a proposed allocated employment site 
being withdrawn from the Local Development Plan by the landowner during the 

Page 112



Examination.  An assessment would be triggered if 1.43 ha of employment land is 
not granted planning permission within or beyond the Sennybridge and Defynnog 
settlement by 2017.

It should be noted that the Authority’s Employment Land Review identified a 
requirement to deliver 1.46ha of employment land for the whole National Park 
area up to the end of the Plan period.  
Recommendation:
As no permissions have been granted for employment land uses to date, the 
indicator will be monitored for a further year or until the monitoring target has 
been reached.

The matter will also be addressed through preparation of the replacement LDP. 

Figure 17
Employment development in Hay-On-Wye

Seventh Monitoring Period
1 permission has been granted for employment generating development within 
Hay on Wye.
Sixth Monitoring Period
0 permission has been granted for employment generating development within 
Hay on Wye.
Fifth Monitoring Period
1 permission has been granted for employment generating development within 
Hay on Wye.
Fourth Monitoring Period
0 permission has been granted for employment generating development within 
Hay on Wye.
Third Monitoring Period
1 permission has been granted for employment generating development within 
Hay on Wye.
Second Monitoring Period
0 permissions granted for employment generating development within Hay on 
Wye
First Monitoring Period:
0 permissions granted for employment generating development within Hay on 
Wye

Continue 
Monitoring

Comment:
The permission granted within the seventh monitoring period comprised a change 
of use from 1st floor residential to business use B1. This resulted in an additional 
0.0088ha of additional employment land (ref: 20/19309/FUL). 

The permission granted within the fifth monitoring period comprised the change 
of use from a former bank (A2) to part business (B1) and part residential (C3). 

This indicator was included as a result of planning permission being granted for a 
community use on land allocated for employment use prior to the Adoption of the 
LDP. An assessment would be triggered if 0.6 ha of employment land is not granted 
planning permission within or beyond the Hay-on-Wye settlement by 2017.

Page 113



It should be noted that the Authority’s Employment Land Review identified a 
requirement to deliver 1.46ha of employment land for the whole National Park 
area up to the end of the Plan period.  

In addition, a 4.2 ha mixed use allocation comprising 2.4 ha of employment land is 
proposed to be allocated in Powys County Council’s Deposit Local Development 
Plan. The site is referred to as Land at Gypsy Castle Lane (Site Ref: MUA 1) is 
located immediately adjacent to the Hay-on-Wye settlement boundary.  It is 
considered that the development of this site would satisfy the requirements of 
this indicator.
Recommendation:
This indicator was to be monitored until the end of 2017.  As no permissions have 
been granted for employment land uses to date, the indicator will be monitored 
for a further year or until the monitoring target has been reached.

The matter will also be addressed as part of the replacement LDP.

Figure 18
Supplementary Planning Guidance  

Members have endorsed the Farm Diversification Supplementary Planning 
Guidance for use in the determination of relevant planning applications.
Comments:
None.

Completed 
during 

previous 
monitoring 

period Recommendation:
The relevant Supplementary Planning Guidance has been completed.  Accordingly, 
no further monitoring is required.

Policy Monitoring 

Environmental Protection 

Figure 19
Land in the Countryside lost to development by way of departure from CYD LP1

Seventh Monitoring Period
0 permissions granted by way of departure to CYD LP1 with land in the Countryside 
lost to development.

Sixth Monitoring Period
0 permissions granted by way of departure to CYD LP1 with land in the Countryside 
lost to development.

Fifth Monitoring Period
0 permissions granted by way of departure to CYD LP1 with land in the Countryside 
lost to development.

Continue 
Monitoring

Fourth Monitoring Period

Page 114



1 permission has been granted by way of departure to CYD LP1 with land in the 
Countryside lost to development.

Third Monitoring Period
0 permissions granted by way of departure to CYD LP1 with land in the Countryside 
lost to development.

Second Monitoring Period
One permission granted by way of departure to CYD LP1 amounting to a Change 
of use of lay by land by virtue of Temporary Consent requested for 3 years - 
positioning of unit (4.175m x 2.02m) for serving snacks/drinks

First Monitoring Period:
Temporary permission for siting of shipping containers for storage for Community 
Facility amounting to the temporary loss of 0.15 hectares of countryside.

Permission granted for the demolition of attached outbuildings, the formal change 
of use of the land upon which they stand to residential, the construction of a 
replacement extension to the existing dwelling and the retention of two windows 
amounting to the loss of 0.01 hectares land designated as countryside.

Permission granted regularising extension of residential curtilage into open 
countryside amounting to the loss of 0.16 hectares land designated as countryside.

In total 0.15Ha temporary loss and 0.17 hectares permanent loss
Comment:
Development Management Officers were provided with training from the Strategy 
and Policy Team following the first monitoring period to ensure that the policy was 
being interpreted appropriately. 

To this end, it should be noted that instances of departure from this policy reduced 
significantly since the first monitoring period, with all development permitted in 
the Countryside (as defined by the LDP) being in accordance with LDP Policy CYD 
LP1

Recommendation:
It is recommended that the monitoring of this indicator continues. 

Figure 20 
Development with an adverse impact on Historic Landscape Designations 

Seventh Monitoring Period
No planning permissions have been granted which would result in an adverse 
impact on Historic Landscape Designations.
Sixth Monitoring Period
No planning permissions have been granted which would result in an adverse 
impact on Historic Landscape Designations.
Fifth Monitoring Period
No planning permissions have been granted which would result in an adverse 
impact on Historic Landscape Designations.

Continue 
Monitoring

Fourth Monitoring Period

Page 115



No planning permissions have been granted which would result in an adverse 
impact on Historic Landscape Designations.
Third Monitoring Period
No planning permissions have been granted which would result in an adverse 
impact on Historic Landscape Designations.
Second Monitoring Period
No planning permissions have been granted which would result in an adverse 
impact on Historic Landscape Designations.
First Monitoring Period:
No planning permissions have been granted which would result in an adverse 
impact on Historic Landscape Designations.
Comments:
None.
Recommendation:
The requirement of this indicator is being met.  It is, however, considered to be an 
important indicator and will continue to be monitored.

Figure 21 
Development with an adverse impact on designated sites for nature conservation

Seventh Monitoring Period
No planning permissions have been granted which would result in an adverse 
impact on sites designated for nature conservation.
Sixth Monitoring Period
No planning permissions have been granted which would result in an adverse 
impact on sites designated for nature conservation.
Fifth Monitoring Period
No planning permissions have been granted which would result in an adverse 
impact on sites designated for nature conservation.
Fourth Monitoring Period
No planning permissions have been granted which would result in an adverse 
impact on sites designated for nature conservation.
Third Monitoring Period
No planning permissions have been granted which would result in an adverse 
impact on sites designated for nature conservation.
Second Monitoring Period
No planning permissions have been granted which would result in an adverse 
impact on sites designated for nature conservation.
First Monitoring Period:
No planning permissions have been granted which would result in an adverse 
impact on sites designated for nature conservation.
Comments:
None.

Continue 
Monitoring

Recommendation:
The requirement of this indicator is being met.  It is, however, considered to be an 
important indicator and will continue to be monitored, particularly in light of 
Natural Resources Wales’ Compliance Assessment of Welsh River SACs against 
Phosphorus Targets (Evidence Report 489), which has a significant bearing on the 
scope for development in much of the National Park

Page 116



Figure 22
Development with an adverse impact on:

 Listed Building
 Conservation Area
 Site/area of Archaeological Significance
 Historic Landscape, Park and Garden

Seventh Monitoring period:
No relevant planning permissions have been granted.
Sixth Monitoring period:
No relevant planning permissions have been granted.
Fifth Monitoring period:
No relevant planning permissions have been granted.
Fourth Monitoring period:
No relevant planning permissions have been granted.
Third Monitoring period:
No relevant planning permissions have been granted.
Second Monitoring Period
2 planning permissions have been granted which would have a minor impact on 
the conservation area, and have been permitted against Senior Building 
Conservation Area.
First Monitoring period:
No relevant planning permissions have been granted.
Comments:
None.

Continue 
Monitoring

Recommendation:
The requirement of this indicator is being met.  It is, however, considered to be an 
important indicator and will continue to be monitored.

Figure 23
Number of Conservation Areas with up-to-date assessments

Seventh Monitoring Period
2 Conservation Area Assessments completed within the period of this AMR.
Sixth Monitoring Period
0 Conservation Area Assessments completed within the period of this AMR.
Fifth Monitoring Period
0 Conservation Area Assessments completed within the period of this AMR.
Fourth Monitoring Period
0 Conservation Area Assessments completed within the period of this AMR.
Third Monitoring Period
3 Conservation Area Assessments completed within the period of this AMR.
Second Monitoring Period
0 Conservation Area Assessments completed within the period of this AMR.
First Monitoring Period:
0 Conservation Area Assessments completed.

Continue 
Monitoring

Comment:

Page 117



Following consultation, Crickhowell and Llangattock Conservation Area Appraisals 
were approved by the National Park Authority  during the 7th Monitoring period 
(2020/2021).

Recommendation:
This assessment would be triggered for this indicator should the Conservation Area 
Assessments not be completed by the end of 2017.  Appraisals have now been 
completed for Brecon, Hay-On-Wye, Talgarth, Crickhowell and Llangattock 
Conservation Areas. Accordingly, no further monitoring is required.

  

Figure 24
Supplementary Planning Guidance  

In line with the requirements of the LDP Monitoring Framework, Members have 
endorsed the following Supplementary Planning Guidance for use in the 
determination of relevant planning applications:

 Obtrusive Lighting
 Biodiversity Audit

The proposed Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to Best Practice in 
Biodiversity has published and endorsed for use in the determination of relevant 
planning applications.  The publication of this SPG was delayed, due in part to the 
work that has been undertaken to extend the Biodiversity Audit Supplementary 
Planning Guidance to include the remaining Level 2 Key Settlement at Sennybridge 
and Defynnog (which has also been endorsed).

Comment:
None.

Completed in 
part during 

previous 
monitoring 

period.

Biodiversity 
Audit 

Completed in 
2016.

Recommendation:
The relevant Supplementary Planning Guidance has been completed.  Accordingly, 
no further monitoring is required.

Climate Change, Sustainable Design and Renewable Energy 

Figure 25
Development in C1 and C2 flood areas not meeting Technical Advice Note 15 tests 

Seventh Monitoring Period
No planning permissions were granted planning permission in a C1 or C2 floodplain 
area, not meeting Technical Advice Note 15 tests
Sixth Monitoring Period
No planning permissions were granted planning permission in a C1 or C2 floodplain 
area, not meeting Technical Advice Note 15 tests
Fifth Monitoring Period
3 planning permissions were granted planning permission in a C1 or C2 floodplain 
area, not meeting Technical Advice Note 15 tests

Continue 
Monitoring

Fourth Monitoring Period

Page 118



No permissions were granted planning permission in a C1 or C2 floodplain area, 
not meeting Technical Advice Note 15 tests
Third Monitoring Period
No permissions were granted planning permission in a C1 or C2 floodplain area, 
not meeting Technical Advice Note 15 tests.
Second Monitoring Period
No permissions were granted planning permission in a C1 or C2 floodplain area, 
not meeting Technical Advice Note 15 tests.
First Monitoring Period:
No permissions were granted planning permission in a C1 or C2 floodplain area, 
not meeting Technical Advice Note 15 tests.
Comments:
During 2019/20 and 2020/21, no planning permissions were granted in a C1 or C2 
flood zone against the advice and tests contained in Technical Advice Note 15: 
Development and flood risk. 

During the period covered by this monitoring report, following a committee 
resolution to permit vulnerable development by supporting a Change of Use 
within a C2 flood zone, an application was called in for determination by the Welsh 
Ministers and was ultimately refused.  
Recommendation:
We note that a revised TAN15 is due for publication within the 8th Monitoring 
period, and that NRW will be revising their position in relation to assessment of 
FCA in areas of flood.  In light of contextual changes, we will continue to monitor 
the implementation of this policy.

Figure 26
Planning consents contrary to advice of Natural Resources Wales and Dwr Cymru Welsh Water 
regarding water quality/quantity 

Seventh Monitoring Period
No permissions granted planning permission contrary to the advice of Natural 
Resources Wales or Dwr Cymru Welsh Water regarding water quality or quantity.
Sixth Monitoring Period
No permissions granted planning permission contrary to the advice of Natural 
Resources Wales or Dwr Cymru Welsh Water regarding water quality or quantity
Fifth Monitoring Period
No permissions granted planning permission contrary to the advice of Natural 
Resources Wales or Dwr Cymru Welsh Water regarding water quality or quantity.
Fourth Monitoring Period
No permissions granted planning permission contrary to the advice of Natural 
Resources Wales or Dwr Cymru Welsh Water regarding water quality or quantity.
Third Monitoring Period
No permissions granted planning permission contrary to the advice of Natural 
Resources Wales or Dwr Cymru Welsh Water regarding water quality or quantity.
Second Monitoring Period
No permissions granted planning permission contrary to the advice of Natural 
Resources Wales or Dwr Cymru Welsh Water regarding water quality or quantity.

Continue 
Monitoring

First Monitoring Period:

Page 119



No permissions granted planning permission contrary to the advice of Natural 
Resources Wales or Dwr Cymru Welsh Water regarding water quality or quantity.
Comments:
None.
Recommendation:
The requirement of this indicator is being met.  It is, however, considered to be an 
important indicator and will continue to be monitored particularly in light of 
Natural Resources Wales’ Compliance Assessment of Welsh River SACs against 
Phosphorus Targets (Evidence Report 489) and associated practice guidance, 
which has a significant bearing on the scope for development in much of the 
National Park.

Figure 27
Number of applications which consider climate change adaptation techniques within Design and 
Access Statements 

Seventh Monitoring Period
0 applications for major development have been received where climate change 
was not considered within the Design and Access Statement.  
Sixth Monitoring Period
0 applications for major development have been received where climate change 
was not considered within the Design and Access Statement.  
Fifth Monitoring Period
0 applications for major development have been received where climate change 
was not considered within the Design and Access Statement.  
Fourth Monitoring Period
0 applications for major development have been received where climate change 
was not considered within the Design and Access Statement.  
Third Monitoring Period
0 applications for major development have been received where climate change 
was not considered within the Design and Access Statement.  
Second Monitoring Period
0 applications for major development have been received where climate change 
was not considered within the Design and Access Statement.  
First Monitoring Period:
0 applications for major development have been received where climate change 
was not considered within the Design and Access Statement.  
Comments:
None.

Continue 
Monitoring

Recommendation:
The requirement of this indicator is being met.  It is, however, considered to be an 
important indicator and will continue to be monitored.

Figure 28
Number of applications for larger developments that fail to provide 20% of their energy from low 
or zero carbon resources 

Ceased monitoring.Ceased 
Monitoring 
following Comment:

Page 120



This indicator arose as a result of the requirements of Policy SP11 (Sustainable 
Development) as it was originally drafted in the Deposit Local Development Plan.  
However, this specific requirement was removed from the policy by the Inspector 
during the Local Development Plan Examination on the basis that it was beyond 
the requirements of National Planning Policy.  The indicator remains in the 
Monitoring Framework by error as it was not picked up during the editing process 
and amended by way of the Matters Arising Changes.  

Essentially, there is no policy in the Plan to enforce this requirement and, 
accordingly, it is recommended that this indicator ceases to be monitored.  

previous 
monitoring 

period

Recommendation:
Ceased monitoring..

Figure 29
Development of renewable energy schemes 

Seventh Monitoring Period
The National Park issued 4 permissions within the period for renewable energy 
schemes (3 solar schemes, 3 for biomass and 1 for air source heat pumps). None 
of these permissions were considered to have a significant adverse impact on the 
special qualities of the National Park. 
Sixth Monitoring Period
The National Park issued 4 permissions within the period for renewable energy 
schemes (2 solar schemes, including permission for installing solar panels on one 
of the National Park Authority owned visitor centres, 1 for biomass and 1 for 
ground source heat pumps). None of these permissions were considered to have 
a significant adverse impact on the special qualities of the National Park.
Fifth Monitoring Period
The National Park issued 3 permissions within the period for renewable energy 
schemes (1 consent was for a borehole and water storage facility, 2 solar and 2 
hydroelectric schemes). None of these permissions were considered to have a 
significant adverse impact on the special qualities of the National Park.
Fourth Monitoring Period
The National Park issued 4 permissions within the period for renewable energy 
schemes (1 consent was for biomass, 1 for ground/water/air heat pumps and 2 
solar).  None of these permissions were considered to have a significant adverse 
impact on the special qualities of the National Park.
Third Monitoring Period
The National Park issued 3 permissions within the period for renewable energy 
schemes (1 consent was for Ground/Water/Air heat pump, 1 hydropower and 1 
solar).  None of these permissions were considered to have a significant adverse 
impact on the special qualities of the National Park.
Second Monitoring Period
The National Park issued 11 permissions within the period for renewable energy 
schemes, the majority of these were for small scale hydro schemes.  None of these 
permissions were considered to have a significant adverse impact on the special 
qualities of the National Park. 

Continue 
Monitoring

First Monitoring Period:

Page 121



The National Park issued 22 permissions within the period for renewable energy 
schemes, the majority of these were for small scale hydro schemes.  None of these 
permissions were considered to have a significant adverse impact on the special 
qualities of the National Park.
Comments:

During the monitoring period, Community Energy Audits were undertaken across 
the National Park, alongside C02 emissions reduction analysis (November 2020) 
and more recently an energy only Paris Aligned Carbon Budget. The emissions 
reduction analysis showed just one Lower Super Output Area (New Inn 4) across 
the whole National Park had met the Welsh Government’s emissions reduction 
target of 3% per annum between 2010 and 2018. During this period emissions in 
one Lower Super Output Area (Goetre Fawr 1) had increased. 

Furthermore, for the National Park to make its ‘fair’ contribution towards the Paris 
Agreement, the area-based Carbon Budget identifies a need to: 

 Stay within a maximum cumulative carbon dioxide emissions budget 
of 1,557 thousand tonnes (ktCO2), for the period of 2020 to 2100;

 Initiate an immediate programme of CO2 mitigation to deliver annual 
cuts in emissions averaging 14% to deliver a Paris Agreement aligned 
carbon budget; and,

 Reach zero or near zero carbon no later than 2039.

The report behind the budget recommends the National Park should:

 increase sequestration of CO2 through land use, land-use change and 
forestry (LULUCF), for example aligning with Committee on Climate 
Change’s high-level ambition of tree planting, forestry yield 
improvements and forestry management3; and.

 ensure such CO2 sequestration is also sufficient to help compensate 
for non-CO2 emissions within the National Park.

Recommendation:
The requirement of this indicator is being met.  It is, however, considered to be an 
important indicator and will continue to be monitored.

Figure 30
Permitted and installed capacity (MW) of renewable electricity and heat projects 

Seventh Monitoring Period
Permissions amount to an increase of 0.087 megawatts capacity of energy from 
renewable energy schemes

Continue 
Monitoring

Sixth Monitoring Period
Permissions amount to an increase of 0.32 megawatts capacity of energy from 
renewable energy schemes

3 https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Land-use-Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-
climate-change-CCC-2018-1.pdf

Page 122

https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Land-use-Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change-CCC-2018-1.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Land-use-Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change-CCC-2018-1.pdf


Fifth Monitoring Period
Permissions amount to an increase of 0.15 megawatts capacity of energy from 
renewable energy schemes
Fourth Monitoring Period
Permissions amount to an increase of 0.26 megawatts capacity of energy from 
renewable energy schemes
Third Monitoring Period
Permissions amount to an increase of 0.02 megawatts capacity of energy from 
renewable energy schemes
Second Monitoring Period
Permissions amount to an increase of 0.3 megawatts capacity of energy from 
renewable energy schemes
First Monitoring Period:
Permissions amount to an increase of 0.41 megawatts capacity of energy from 
renewable energy schemes
Comments:
None.
Recommendation:
The requirement of this indicator is being met.  It is, however, considered to be an 
important indicator and will continue to be monitored.

Figure 31
Ecological footprint of listed settlements  

Seventh Monitoring Period
This data is unavailable for this year.  
Sixth Monitoring Period
This data is unavailable for this year.  
Fifth Monitoring Period
This data is unavailable for this year.  
Fourth Monitoring Period
This data is unavailable for this year.  
Third Monitoring Period
This data is unavailable for this year.  
Second Monitoring Period
This data is unavailable for this year.  
Previous Monitoring Period:
This data is unavailable for this year.  
Comments:
None. 

Cease 
Monitoring

Recommendation:
The most recent footprint of Wales having been published in 2015, and having not 
been reported in any LDP AMR to date, it is recommended that reporting on this 
indicator should stop. 

Figure 32
Supplementary Planning Guidance 

Completed 
during 

previous 

In line with the requirements of the Local Development Plan Monitoring 
Framework, Members have endorsed the following Supplementary Planning 
Guidance for use in the determination of relevant planning applications:

Page 123



 Sustainable Development in the National Parks of Wales
 Small Scale Renewable Energy Developments

Comments:
None.

monitoring 
period

Recommendation:
The relevant Supplementary Planning Guidance has been completed.  Accordingly, 
no further monitoring is required.

Retail

Figure 33
Annual vacancy rates of the Town Centres 

Seventh Monitoring Period
Brecon vacancy rate at 9% 
Crickhowell vacancy rate at 3%
Hay on Wye vacancy rate at 7%
Talgarth Vacancy rate at 0%
Sixth Monitoring Period
Brecon vacancy rate at 12% 
Crickhowell vacancy rate at 5%
Hay on Wye vacancy rate at 7%
Talgarth Vacancy rate at 2%
Fifth Monitoring Period
Brecon vacancy rate at 11% 
Crickhowell vacancy rate at 8%
Hay on Wye vacancy rate at 7%
Talgarth Vacancy rate at 4%
Fourth Monitoring Period
Brecon vacancy rate at 10% 
Crickhowell vacancy rate at 4%
Hay on Wye vacancy rate at 4%
Talgarth Vacancy rate at 4%
Third Monitoring Period
Brecon vacancy rate at 7% 
Crickhowell vacancy rate at 3%
Hay on Wye vacancy rate at 3%
Talgarth Vacancy rate at 9%
Second Monitoring Period
Brecon vacancy rate at 8% 
Crickhowell vacancy rate at 4%
Hay on Wye vacancy rate at 2%
Talgarth Vacancy rate at 11%
First Monitoring Period:
Brecon vacancy rate at 9% 
Crickhowell vacancy rate at 6%
Hay on Wye vacancy rate at 2%
Talgarth Vacancy rate at 8%

Further 
research

Comment:
The purpose of this indicator is to address the ‘health’ of the retail centres in the 
National Park.  Vacancy rates are monitored within defined areas of the town 

Page 124



where there is a strategic objective to support the predominance of retail or town 
centre uses.  During this monitoring period temporary permitted development 
rights have been introduced, and licensing made more flexible in an attempt to 
support town centre vibrancy.  Consultation was undertaken on draft Town Centre 
Supplementary Planning Guidance and a decision will be taken on whether to 
introduce this if  the temporary permitted development rights are not made 
permanent.

Work is progressing through the Place Plan process to address the retail health of 
Brecon, however plans for a “Business Improvement District” in Brecon were 
rejected by businesses in 2020.  The Policy team will continue to work with 
external agencies to explore how to support our retail centres and work to develop 
best practice for the emerging LDP.
 
Recommendation:
This indicator will be monitored for a further year.
Further policy research undertaken for inclusion in LDP2
Joint working between Policy team and town centre regeneration initiatives.  

Sustainable Tourism

Figure 34
Number of new or improved tourism facilities 

Seventh Monitoring Period
The NPA granted 22 planning permissions within the period for new or improved 
tourism facilities.
Sixth Monitoring Period
The NPA granted 29 planning permissions within the period for new or improved 
tourism facilities.
Fifth Monitoring Period
The NPA granted 24 planning permissions within the period for new or improved 
tourism facilities.
Fourth Monitoring Period
The NPA granted 26 planning permissions within the period for new or improved 
tourism facilities.
Third Monitoring Period
The NPA granted 13 planning permissions within the period for new or improved 
tourism facilities.
Second Monitoring Period
The NPA granted 7 planning permissions within the period for new or improved 
tourism facilities.
First Monitoring Period:
1 new tourism facility granted planning permission within the period (Bryncoch 
fishing and campsite)

Continue 
Monitoring

Comments:
Seventh Monitoring Period:

Address Ref Description of Development

Page 125



The Kennels, Lower 
Common, Gilwern, 
Monmouthshire
NP7 0EE

19/17939/FUL
Conversion of play room and part 
of garage to a 2 person holiday let 
and division of garden.

The Bothy, The Neuadd
Llanbedr, Crickhowell,
Powys, NP8 1SP

20/18233/FUL

Conversion of existing building and 
construction of extension to 
provide a holiday let with 
associated drainage, landscaping 
and associated works.

Neuaddfach, Cwm-du,
Crickhowell, Powys, 
NP8 1RT

20/18335/FUL
Conversion of barn to holiday 
letting unit, alterations to vehicular 
access and installation of septic 
tank and drainage field

Ty Pencerrig 
Pontsticill
Merthyr Tydfil
CF48 2UN

20/18330/FUL

Erection of two wooden cabins to 
be used as holiday lets in the 
garden and associated 
infrastructure including septic tank 
and parking places with associated 
retaining works.

Coach House
Trefecca
Brecon

19/17972/FUL Full planning application for the 
conversion of coach house to 
holiday let use

Holiday Let At Ty Taf 
Fechan , Dol-Y-Gaer
Merthyr Tydfil, CF48 
2UR

19/17990/FUL
Provision of residential annex 
associated with Ty Taf Fechan.  
Annex formed from building used 
as holiday let.

Penrheol Darren 
Hillside, Llangattock
NP8 1LF

19/17779/FUL Conversion of an existing unused 
barn into a holiday let with parking 
and patio

Lilac Cottage , Heol 
Bedd-Dyn-Hir, Govilon
NP7 0HS

19/18108/FUL Conversion of existing detached 
garage building to Holiday Let 
accommodation

Pen-Croeslan Uchaf 
Annexe, Ffawyddog, 
Crickhowell, Powys, 
NP8 1PY

20/19012/FUL
Conversion of redundant barn 
(previously converted to Outdoor 
Pursuits Centre) to 3 bedroom 
holiday let.

The Firs, Twyn Allwys 
Road, Govilon, 
Monmouthshire
NP7 9RT, 

20/19070/FUL
Proposed change of use land from 
agriculture to a low impact tourism 
site for the siting of one shepherds 
hut.

Eisgar Feithgen, 
Myddfai, Llandovery
Carmarthenshire, SA20 
0QE

20/19103/FUL

Conversion of site to a music 
retreat, including reconstruction of 
former dwelling for holiday 
accommodation, use of 
outbuildings and single storey 
extensions to the existing dwelling.

Glannant, Talgarth
Brecon, LD3 0ER 20/18922/FUL

Proposed non-permanent holiday 
accommodation site, with 
associated installation of sewage 
treatment

Page 126



Tirylan House,  
Gwynfe Road, Ffairfach 
Llandeilo, SA19 6RH

20/19185/FUL Conversion of barn to holiday 
accommodation (part 
retrospective)

Pwll Court Farm
Llangynidr
Powys
NP8 1NN

20/18688/FUL

Proposed demolition of some built 
elements and conversion (with 
some extensions to) existing 
agricultural outbuildings at Pwll 
Court Farm to 3 separate 
residential units for tourist use and 
associated works. Change of use of 
an existing agricultural building to 
provide ancillary storage associated 
with the new tourism use. Change 
of use of existing outbuilding into 
ancillary communal space to be 
used in conjunction with the new 
tourism use.

Castell Pryddyd, Coach 
House, Cefn Goleu 
Ninfa, Llanellen, NP7 
9LE

20/18503/FUL
Change of use of previously 
approved annex accommodation to 
form one holiday letting unit.

Pentwynmwyn,  
Llanddeusant, 
Llangadog, SA19 9EY

20/18583/FUL

Extension of the existing mono-
pitched roof to the ancillary "home 
office" building to form link with 
stone barn and lean-to. Change of 
use of buildings to form holiday let.

Units 2 & 3, Gremlin 
Lodge, 48 The Watton
Brecon, LD3 7EG

20/18698/FUL
Application for permission to let 
holiday units on short-term letting 
contracts in addition to holiday 
letting

Plas Dolygaer 
Pontsticll, Merthyr 
Tydfil, CF482UR

20/18779/FUL Erection of timber hut for use as a 
shelter by campers in adjoining 
camping field.

Primrose Haven
Felindre
Brecon
Powys
LD3 0ST

20/18702/FUL

a) Change of use of veg store for 
processing fruit and produce 
including processing mushrooms 
and juicing top fruit and for 
educational demonstrations. b) 
Installation of solar panels.  c) 
Erection of relocated veg store. d) 
Installation of a fifth shepherds Hut 
e) Use of the shepherd's huts for 
eco tourism along with existing 
course accommodation

Great House Farm 
Great House Lane
Triley
Llantilio Pertholey
NP7 6PB

20/18977/FUL The conversion and change of use 
of a redundant stone agricultural 
outbuilding to provide self catering 
holiday accommodation and the 
dismantling and re-siting of a 
modern steel framed agricultural 
building

Page 127



Nantgarw, Station Road
Talybont-On-Usk, 
Brecon, LD3 7JE

20/18978/FUL Change of use of leisure moorings 
to a holiday let use

Cennen Arms 
Trapp
Llandeilo
SA19 6TP

20/18856/FUL

Change of use of first floor rooms to 
provide letting accommodation, 
alterations to ground floor rooms 
to provide additional ground floor 
letting suite, plus demolition of 
toilet block, front entrance porch & 
reconstruction of both

Sixth Monitoring Period:
Address Ref Description of Development
Pen-y-caeau Farm
, Cwmdu
, Crickhowell
, Powys
, NP8 1RT

18/16820/FUL

Use of part of Dwellinghouse as 
Self-contained Holiday 
Acccommodation

Llanddetty Hall Farm, 
Llandetty
, Brecon, 
Powys
, LD3 7YR

19/16997/FUL

The change of use, refurbishment 
and conversion of existing Grade 2 
listed outbuildings to provide four 
new holiday lets including the 
provision of extended living 
accommodation for the existing 
Grade 2 listed farmhouse.

Gwydre, 
Penrhiw Road
, Llanddeusant
, Llangadog
, Carms
, SA19 9YS

19/17171/FUL

Proposed farm-based holiday 
accommodation with associated 
installation of sewage treatment

Penycae C P School 
Penycae, 
Swansea, 
SA9 1FA

18/16562/FUL

Conversion of former primary 
school to C1 use consisting of 14 no. 
rooms

Cottage At Former Lion 
Garage, 
Lion Street
, Hay-On-Wye
, Hereford, 
Powys
, HR3 5AD

18/16892/FUL

Renovation (part retrospective) 
and change of use of former 
dwelling to C3 holiday let, as 
ancillary accommodation to the 
main garage dwelling to be used 
temporarily for two years as 
owner's accommodation and site 
office while adjacent main garage 
development (17/14725/FUL) is 
carried out.

Pant Y Paerau
, Llangynidr, 
Crickhowell

18/16453/FUL Development of existing farmstead 
to form cycle touring business. 
Works consist of: 
- Alterations to a listed dwelling.

Page 128



, Powys
, NP8 1NU

- Addition of flue to listed attached 
barn in residential use.
- Alterations of detached barn for 
use for the cycle touring business.
- Conversion of pigstys to utility 
uses.
- Upgrade and extension of existing 
outbuilding.
- Erection of new outbuilding.
- Erect new open lean-to structure 
for undercover cycle wash-down.

Land Opposite 3 Lower 
Cross Cottages
, Talybont-On-Usk
, Brecon, 
LD3 7UQ

18/16979/FUL

Siting of 3 shepherd huts as non-
permanent holiday 
accommodation.

The Granary 
, Penishapentre, 
Llanspyddid, 
Brecon
, LD3 8PB

19/17271/FUL

Conversion of Granary barn to 
holiday let accommodation, 
connection to existing septic tank 
and associated works. 
Retrospective planning permission 
is sought for works undertaken to 
re-roof the barn, installation of roof 
lights on the south-east and north-
west elevations, installation of flue, 
installation of window frames on 
the south-east elevation and new 
timber cladding and openings on 
the south-west elevation.

Radnor House 
Church Street
, Hay-On-Wye
, Hereford
, HR3 5DQ

19/17036/FUL

Erection of one-storey tabernacle 
building to be used as an extension 
to an existing bed and breakfast 
business complete with associated 
works

Llangorse Multi Activity 
Centre
, The Gilfach, 
Llangorse, 
Brecon
, Powys
, LD3 7UH

18/16954/FUL

Construction of new single storey 
toilet / shower block and 
installation of five camping pods 
and associated works.

Grawen Farm 
Cwm Taf, 
Merthyr Tydfil
, CF48 2HS
 

18/16889/FUL

Conversion of existing Listed Grade 
II cattle shed and coach house into 
holiday lets with associated 
landscaping works

Pentre House 
, Myddfai, 
Llandovery, 
SA20 0PQ

19/17911/FUL

Change of use from private 
dwelling to mixed use dwelling and 
associated residential use and siting 
of a touring caravan for the purpose 
of holiday letting.

Page 129



Ty Mawr 
Cwm-Du
, Crickhowell, 
NP8 1RT

19/17804/FUL

Conversion of an existing ancillary 
domestic barn into a self-contained 
holiday let.

The Kennels
, Lower Common
, Gilwern
, Monmouthshire
, NP7 0EE

19/17939/FUL

Conversion of play room and part of 
garage to a 2 person holiday let and 
division of garden.

Great Blaenawey Farm
, Bettws
, Crucorney
, Mons
, NP7 7LG

19/17695/FUL

Change of use of land to site 2 no. 
shepherds huts and related 
decking, as a single unit of holiday 
accommodation on land at Great 
Blaenawe Farm, Bettws.

Mount Street House, 
5 Mount Street, 
Brecon
,LD3 7LU

19/17825/FUL

Change of use  to bed and breakfast 
accommodation with ancillary 
private residential use.  Internal 
alterations to provide en-suite 
bathrooms.
Demolition of existing external 
single skin/asbestos roof toilet

40 Newport Street
, Hay-On-Wye
, Hereford
, Powys
, HR3 5BG

19/17658/FUL

Proposed farm-based holiday 
accommodation pods with 
associated installation of sewage 
treatment

Penhenallt
, Hay-On-Wye
, Hereford, 
Powys
, HR3 5RH

19/17349/FUL

Site 1 Shepherd's Hut for tourism 
rental

Cwm Gwenllan 
Gwynfe
, Llangadog, 
SA19 9PU

19/17722/FUL

Change of use of Barn to 4no. 
Holiday Letting Units.

Neuadd Wen, 
Aber Village
, Talybont On Usk

19/17713/FUL

Redundant farm buildings to be 
converted into two units of holiday 
let accommodation and bat house 
for bat mitigation measures

Godrewaen, 
Llangadog, 
Carmarthenshire, 
SA19 9RN

19/17718/FUL

Change of use of existing building 
from a Water Bottling Plant to a 2-
bedroom tourism let

The Held, 
The Held Bunkhouse 
Cantref, 
Brecon
, LD3 8LT

19/17573/FUL Convert the 24 bed bunkhouse to a 
3 bedroom holiday cottage sleeping 
up to 6 people and a shared laundry 
/ drying room / information point. 
The training room, games room and 
drying room will be incorporated 
into the owner's accommodation 
and the original farmhouse that is 

Page 130



currently part of the owner's 
accommodation will become a 
holiday cottage to sleep 4. 
Alterations to access and parking.

Pen Y Borth Barn, 
Ystradfellte, 
Aberdare
, Powys, 
CF44 9JF

19/17427/FUL

The retention of a shepherd's hut 
and decking used as tourist 
accommodation.

Dolygaer Outdoor 
Pursuits Centre 
Dol-Y-Gaer
, Merthyr Tydfil
, CF48 2UR

19/17798/FUL

Accommodation pods and the 
regrading of land used for camping 
/ activities field with associated 
works.

Wellfield 
Old Road, 
Bwlch
, Brecon, 
LD3 7RZ

19/17629/FUL

Conversion of redundant 
outbuilding into holiday let and use 
of garage/stables for parking and 
stabling

Lilac Cottage 
Heol Bedd-Dyn-Hir
, Govilon, 
NP7 0HS

19/18108/FUL

Conversion of existing detached 
garage building to Holiday Let 
accommodation

Nantrhodyn 
Llandovery
, SA19 9AJ

19/17618/FUL

Conversion of existing barn to 
learning centre and coffee shop. 
Change of use of field to 
accommodate glamping facilities (3 
canvas tents and 1 bell tent) and 
associated development. Provision 
of associated toilet/washing 
facilities in existing barn.

Boars Head
, Ship Street
, Brecon
, Powys
, LD3 9AL

19/17674/FUL

Proposed conversion of upper 
floors from dwelling to holiday 
letting rooms.  Single-storey 
extension to rear.  Internal 
alterations including insertion of 
stair and reconfiguration of 
partition walls.  Additional signage 
proposed, and alterations to access 
from St Michael's St.

Ty Cooke Farm 
Old Abergavenny Road
, Pencroesoped, 
Llanover
, NP4 8QZ

19/17295/FUL

Conversion of redundant 
Agricultural barn to provide 1no (2 
bed) Holiday let accommodation 
and 1no (3 bed) 
Caretaker/Manager dwelling.  
Alterations to existing agricultural 
barn.

Recommendation:
The requirement of this indicator is being met.  It is, however, considered to be an 
important indicator and will continue to be monitored.

Page 131



Sustainable Communities

Figure 35
Number of applications approved resulting in the loss of community facilities 

Seventh Monitoring Period
No applications approved contrary to Strategic Policy SP15 and the protective aim 
of Policy 50 resulting in the loss of community facilities
Sixth Monitoring Period
No applications approved contrary to Strategic Policy SP15 and the protective aim 
of Policy 50 resulting in the loss of community facilities
Fifth Monitoring Period
No applications approved contrary to Strategic Policy SP15 and the protective aim 
of Policy 50 resulting in the loss of community facilities
Fourth Monitoring Period
No applications approved contrary to Strategic Policy SP15 and the protective aim 
of Policy 50 resulting in the loss of community facilities
Third Monitoring Period
No applications approved contrary to Strategic Policy SP15 and the protective aim 
of Policy 50 resulting in the loss of community facilities
Second Monitoring Period
No applications approved contrary to Strategic Policy SP15 and the protective aim 
of Policy 50 resulting in the loss of community facilities
First Monitoring Period:
No applications resulting in the loss of a community facility.
Comments:
No planning applications have been approved contrary to the provisions of 
Strategic Policy SP15 and the protective aim of Policy 50 resulting in the loss of 
community facilities. .

Continue 
Monitoring

Recommendation:
The requirement of this indicator is being met.  It is, however, considered to be an 
important indicator and will continue to be monitored.

Infrastructure

Figure 36
Amount of new development providing SUDS

Seventh Monitoring Period
All relevant applications approved considered the requirement for SUDS.
Sixth Monitoring Period
All relevant applications approved considered the requirement for SUDS.
Fifth Monitoring Period
All relevant applications approved considered the requirement for SUDS.

Continue 
Monitoring

Fourth Monitoring Period
All relevant applications approved considered the requirement for SUDS.

Page 132



Third Monitoring Period
All relevant applications approved considered the requirement for SUDS.
Second Monitoring Period
All relevant applications approved considered the requirement for SUDS.
First Monitoring Period:
The data is not readily available at this time.
Comment:
From 7th January 2019, all new developments with implications for drainage of 
more than 1 house or where the construction area is of 100m2 or more will require 
sustainable drainage systems to manage on-site surface water. Surface water 
drainage systems must be designed and built in accordance with mandatory 
standards for sustainable drainage published by Welsh Ministers. The systems 
must be approved by the local authority for the area acting as a SuDS Approving 
Body (SAB) role before construction work begins. 

Given development within National Policy it is felt that the objectives of the LDP 
in relation to the provision of SUDs are being addressed through national 
requirements outside of the planning system.  Accordingly, there isno longer a 
need to monitor this element of plan policy.

Recommendation:
Cease monitoring

Waste

Figure 37
Amount of vacant units within the identified B Class sites suitable to accommodate a local waste 
facility

Sixth & Seventh Monitoring Period
3 vacant units in Brecon Enterprise Park, Brecon (total of 1,213.32 m2) 
7 vacant units in Ffrwdgrech Industrial Estate, Brecon (total of 1,423.58 m2)
2 vacant unit in Talgarth Business Park (total of 867.68 m2)
1 vacant unit in Sennybridge (total of 456.52 m2)
5 vacant units in Elvicta, Crickhowell (total of 2,342.99 m2)
3 vacant units in Granada Park, Llangattock (total of 758.79 m2)

Fifth Monitoring Period
3 vacant units in Ffrwdgrech Industrial Estate, Brecon (total of 697.86 m2)
2 vacant unit in Talgarth Business Park (total of 867.68 m2)
5 vacant units in Sennybridge (total of 3,438.12 m2)
5 vacant units in Elvicta, Crickhowell (total of 2,342.99 m2)
3 vacant units in Brecon Enterprise Park, Brecon (total of 1,213.32 m2) 
Fourth Monitoring Period
3 vacant units in Ffrwdgrech Industrial Estate, Brecon (total of 697.86 m2)
1 vacant unit in Talgarth Business Park (total of 330.5 m2)
Third Monitoring Period
2 vacant units in Ffrwdgrech Industrial Estate, Brecon (total of 417.4 m2)
2 vacant units Granada Park Crickhowell, (total of 258.3 m2)

Continue 
Monitoring

Second Monitoring Period

Page 133



0.5Ha Vacant Land Brecon and 5 vacant units (total of 540.3 m2)
0.1Ha Vacant Land Talgarth and 1 unit (324.8m2) 
20 vacant units Granada Park Crickhowell, (total of 0.27Ha)
1 vacant unit Forest Road Hay (101.71m2)
First Monitoring Period:
0.5Ha Vacant Land Brecon
0.1Ha Vacant Land Talgarth and 1 unit (316m2) 
6 vacant units Granada Park Crickhowell, total of( 758m2)
Comments:
There is capacity within allocated employment sites.
Recommendation:
The requirement of this indicator is being met.  It is, however, considered to be an 
important indicator and will continue to be monitored.

Figure 38
Number of new licensed waste management facilities permitted

Seventh Monitoring Period
No permissions granted within the period for new waste management facilities.
Sixth Monitoring Period
No permissions granted within the period for new waste management facilities.
Fifth Monitoring Period
No permissions granted within the period for new waste management facilities.
Fourth Monitoring Period
No permissions granted within the period for new waste management facilities.
Third Monitoring Period
No permissions granted within the period for new waste management facilities.
Second Monitoring Period
No permissions granted within the period for new waste management facilities.
First Monitoring Period:
No permissions granted within the period for new waste management facilities.
Comments:
No applications were received within the monitoring periods for new waste 
management facilities in the National Park..

Continue 
Monitoring

Recommendation:
This indicator will continue to be monitored and the need for additional 
sites/capacity within employment sites addressed through appropriate 
allocation/policy as necessary in LDP2.

Minerals

Figure 39
Number of consents for permanent, sterilising development within a minerals safeguarding area

Seventh Monitoring Period
No permanent sterilising development has been permitted within mineral 
safeguarding areas.

Continue 
Monitoring

Sixth Monitoring Period
No permanent sterilising development has been permitted within mineral 
safeguarding areas.

Page 134



Fifth Monitoring Period
No permanent sterilising development has been permitted within mineral 
safeguarding areas.
Fourth Monitoring Period
No permanent sterilising development has been permitted within mineral 
safeguarding areas.
Third Monitoring Period
No permanent sterilising development has been permitted within mineral 
safeguarding areas.
Second Monitoring Period
No permanent sterilising development has been permitted within mineral 
safeguarding areas. 
First Monitoring Period:
No permanent sterilising development has been permitted within mineral 
safeguarding areas.
Comments:
None.
Recommendation:
The requirement of this indicator is being met.  It is, however, considered to be an 
important indicator and will continue to be monitored.

Site Monitoring
As part of the Annual Monitoring Report process, the Authority has agreed to include an update on 
the progress and development of allocated sites.  The intention is to highlight the activity that has 
taken place, including the preparation of studies, applications and/or the progression of development.  
Accordingly, the table set out below seeks to illustrate the progress of allocated sites against progress 
milestones:

Figure 41
Site Indicati

ve no. 
of units

Development 
Brief 
Submitted

Development 
Brief Agreed

Applica
tion 
Submit
ted

Minded 
to 
Permit 
subject 
to S106

Planning 
Consent

Commenced 
Development

First 5 Years

CS28 – 
Cwmffaldau 
Fields 
Extension, 
Brecon

66 N/A N/A No No No No

CS132 - Land 
Opposite High 
School, Brecon

30 Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

SALT 061 – 
Land Adj to 
Llangenny 
Lane, 
Crickhowell

20 N/A N/A Yes Yes Yes Yes

Page 135



DBR-HOW-A – 
Land Opposite 
the Meadows, 
Hay

62 N/A N/A Yes Yes Yes Yes

SALT 059 – 
Land adj. 
Brecon 
Pharmaceutica
ls, Hay

5 N/A N/A Yes Yes Yes No

SALT 037 – 
Proposed 
extension to 
T9, Talgarth

15 Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes No

DBR-BCH-J - 
Land adj Bwlch 
Woods, Bwlch

15 N/A N/A No No No No

CS102 – Dan-Y-
Bryn and 
Lancaster 
Drive, Gilwern

112 N/A N/A Yes Yes Yes Yes

DBR-LIB-E – 
Land adj. to 
Pen Y Fan 
Close, Libanus

3 N/A N/A Yes Yes Yes No

DBR-LBD-A – 
Land adj. St 
Peter’s Close

8 N/A N/A Yes Yes Yes Yes

DBR-LGN-D – 
Land opposite 
Llanigon 
Primary 
School, 
Llanigon

10 N/A N/A Yes No No No

DBR-LPD-A – 
Land off Heol 
St Cattwg, 
Llanspyddid

10 N/A N/A Yes Yes Yes No

DBR-PNT-D – 
Land adj 
Ambleside, 
Pennorth

6 N/A N/A No No No No

CS66 – Former 
Army Camp, 
Cwrt Y Gollen

70 Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes No

Rest of LDP Period

CS93 – Slwch 
House Field, 
Brecon

23 N/A N/A No No No No

DBR-BR-A – 38 N/A N/A Yes Yes Yes No

Page 136



Site Located 
North of 
Camden 
Crescent, 
Brecon
DBR-BR-B – 
Land north of 
Cradoc Close, 
Brecon

33 N/A N/A Yes Yes Yes Yes

CS132 – Land 
opposite High 
School, Brecon

107 Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

DBR-CR-A – 
Land above 
Televillage, 
Crickhowell

20 N/A N/A Yes Yes Yes Yes 

CS138 – 
Glannau Senni, 
Defynnog

15 N/A N/A No No No No

DBR-HOW-C – 
Land adj Fire 
Station

13 N/A N/A No No No No

CS42 – Land at 
Crai, Crai

9 N/A N/A Yes Yes Yes No

CS43 – Land 
SW of Gwalia, 
Crai

6 N/A N/A Yes 
(part 
of 
site)

No No No

CS39/69/70/8
8/89/99 – Land 
at Ty Clyd, 
Govilon

93 N/A N/A Yes Yes Yes 
(part of 
site)

No

CS120 – Land 
South of Ty 
Melys, Pencelli

6 N/A N/A Yes Yes No No

CS55 – Land at 
Penygarn, 
Pontsticill

6 N/A N/A No No No No

DBR-PTSC/C – 
Land at end of 
Dan-Y-Coed, 
Pontsticill

3 N/A N/A Yes Yes Yes No

CS91 – Land 
west of 
Ponsticill 
House, 
Pontsticill

6 N/A N/A Yes No No No

CS127 – 
Maesmawr 
Farm, Talybont

57 N/A N/A No No No No

CS111 – 93 Yes Yes No No No No

Page 137



The First 5 Years
It is noted that 11 sites for this period have been progressed to the planning application stage, with 5 
developers having commenced development on site. A further 4 sites have moved forward within the 
consideration and determination stages of a planning application. 

The Rest of the Plan Period
As expected, there has been less activity in relation to these sites with 10 sites being progressed to an 
application stage, seven of which, at least in part, have been permitted. Of the seven permissions 
granted, one development site of 22 units has been completed and two are under construction.  It is 
appreciated that a number of these sites have been restricted by the issues relating to water 
infrastructure, however whilst a number of the water improvement works have now been completed, 
evidence demonstrating failures against SAC phosphate targets, particularly in the Usk and Wye 
presents a new challenge to be resolved for all remaining allocated sites other than those in Pontsticill, 
which need to be progressed with community involvement as a limited growth settlement. 

Mixed Use Sites
Looking at the allocated mixed use sites (Mid Wales Hospital, Cwrt Y Gollen, Hay Road and Land 
Opposite High School), it should be noted that paragraph 7.2.1 of the Local Development Plan requires 
development briefs to be agreed on site prior to the submission of any planning application.  All sites 
now have adopted Development Briefs associated with them and only the site of the former mid wales 
hospital remains without planning permission for redevelopment.

Appendices

Joint Housing Land Availability Study 2020

https://beaconsnpagovuk.sharepoint.com/:b:/s/Planning/ETgRsVajuH9ImRRRhcwXX0IB_Qn0uYDza
MuoxSVFlXaPOA?e=yu9lvq 

Former Mid 
Wales Hospital

Page 138

https://beaconsnpagovuk.sharepoint.com/:b:/s/Planning/ETgRsVajuH9ImRRRhcwXX0IB_Qn0uYDzaMuoxSVFlXaPOA?e=yu9lvq
https://beaconsnpagovuk.sharepoint.com/:b:/s/Planning/ETgRsVajuH9ImRRRhcwXX0IB_Qn0uYDzaMuoxSVFlXaPOA?e=yu9lvq


Year Completions

Average 
Annual 
Requirement 

2007/08 65 133
2008/09 55 133
2009/10 45 133
2010/11 19 133
2011/12 67 133
2012/13 87 133
2013/14 85 133
2014/15 45 133
2015/16 58 133
2016/17 52 133
2017/18 203 133
2018/19 89 133
2019/20 30 133
2020/21 67 133

967 1862*

*Note: Rounding of Average Annual Requirement will lead to a difference of 5 units (greater) than 
the total LDP Housing Requirement of 1990 in 2021/22. 

1. Additional SA indicators

Please note, at the meeting of the National Park Authority 21st September 2018, Members drew 
attention to the issues with the data that is reported within this Appendix.  The data was gathered 
from the State of the Park Report (2014).  We now refer you to the State of the Park Report 2020 
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/npmp/state-of-the-park-report-2/. 
In the future the National Park Doughnut will fulfil this role. 

SA Topic Indicators Findings Overall Trend 
Climatic 
Factors

Condition 
of 
Biological 
SSSIs

 

With varying levels of confidence, 47 out of 65 
SAC features (>72%) are in unfavourable 
conservation status (NRW indicative assessments 
2020). 

Datasource: 
https://naturalresources.wales/evidence-and-
data/research-and-reports/protected-sites-
baseline-assessment-2020/?lang=en

There are 65 biological SSSIs wholly or partly 
within the National Park boundary with a total of 
163 individual biological features (NRW 2014). 

In 2006 there were 82 biological features of 
importance in the National Park, 24(29%) of these 

Not 
demonstrating 
the sharp 
improvement 
necessary.

Page 139



were in favourable condition,  45 (55%) were in 
unfavourable condition, one (1%) was partially 
destroyed and 12 (15%) were unknown. Of the 45 
biological features in unfavourable condition, 11 
(24%) of these were recovering, 11 (24%) were 
declining and for 23 (50%) the trend was unknown.  

In 2014 there were 163 biological features of 
importance in the National Park, 93 (57%) of which 
were in favourable condition, 51 (31%) were in 
unfavourable condition and for 19 (12%) the condition 
was unknown.

In 2017 there were 163 biological features of 
importance in the National Park, 88 (54%) of which 
were currently in favourable condition, 55 (34%) were 
in unfavourable condition and for 20 (12%) the 
condition was unknown. 

The percentage of features in unfavourable condition 
has slightly increased and the percentage of features 
in favourable condition has slightly decreased, 

Water 
quality 

In January 2021, Natural Resources Wales published 
‘Evidence report 489 - Compliance Assessment of 
Welsh River SACs against Phosphorus Targets’. 

Of great concern is that it reports:
“The Usk is by some distance the worst performing 
SAC river in Wales with respect to its phosphorus 
targets, and is the only river where there are 
extensive failures in the headwaters.”  

Currently there are a significant number of rivers 
which are not achieving good ecological status in 
accordance with the Water Framework Directive. All 
rivers which require assessment for their chemical 
status are in good condition.

As outlined within the SOPR 2020, most of the water 
bodies surveyed by NRW were not assessed until 
2013. Between the years 2009 (baseline) 2012 the 
water bodies were not assessed. Between the years 
2013 – 2015 all water bodies were of ‘Good’ chemical 
status, with all of them achieving ‘High’ status by 
2017. All water bodies had declined to ‘Good’ status 
by 2018.

When compared to the baseline of 2009, two of the 
water bodies have improved from moderate to good, 
two have remained the same, and one has declined 
from good to moderate. 

Not 
demonstrating 
the sharp 
improvement 
necessary.

Page 140

https://cdn.cyfoethnaturiol.cymru/media/693025/compliance-assessment-of-welsh-sacs-against-phosphorus-targets-final-v10.pdf?mode=pad&rnd=132557227300000000
https://cdn.cyfoethnaturiol.cymru/media/693025/compliance-assessment-of-welsh-sacs-against-phosphorus-targets-final-v10.pdf?mode=pad&rnd=132557227300000000


3 out of the 6 water bodies surveyed within the Park 
achieved an overall status of good. The other 3 water 
bodies only achieved moderate status. There has 
therefore been an improvement since the baseline 
data of 2009, where only 2 waterbodies achieved 
good status. However, there has not been an 
improvement since 2017, with no waterbodies 
improving. 

Currently the vast majority of groundwater bodies in 
the Park are achieving good chemical good chemical 
status and relatively few are in a poor condition.  All of 
the groundwater bodies in the Park are achieving 
good quantitative status.
Of the 19 lakes in the Park 11 are in good condition 
(58%) and 8 (42%) are in moderate condition.  None of 
the lakes require assessment for chemical status.

Air quality Data for 2010 shows that particulate matter 
(PM10) Is between 10 and 15 ug/m3.  This is below 
Air Quality Standards (Wales) 2010 Regulations 
limit values for PM10 are a concentration less than 
40ug/m3.  

Data on air quality exposure indicators have not 
been collected specifically for the National Park 
area, only for the 7 individual unitary authorities 
that make up the National Park however, the 
indicators show that all 7 unitary authorities have 
decreased from 2009-2017, indicating an 
improvement in air quality. 

Specifically, the 2 unitary authorities that make 
up the largest area of the Park, Powys and 
Carmarthenshire, are significantly lower than the 
other unitary authorities. 

There are no air quality management areas within 
the National Park

However, recently released mapping  by the Air 
Pollution Information Service makes clear that 
nitrogen and sulphur deposition (from long- and 
short-range sources) are exceeding, for some 
Special Areas of Conservation, site relevant 
critical loads.

Neutral

Page 141



Water 
quantity

Catchment Area Management Strategies (CAMs) 
are in place for the whole of the National Park 
area.
Water is available for abstraction in the majority 
of the Carmarthenshire area of the National Park.
The majority of the NP area is defined as over 
abstracted, with small areas defined as having No 
Water Available or Over Abstracted.  This data 
has not changed since the beginning of the plan 
period.

Not 
demonstrating 
the 
improvement 
necessary.

Geodiversi
ty 

There are currently 76 Regionally Important 
Geodiversity Sites in the Park, whereas at the 
start of the plan period there were 11.  The sites 
condition is set out accordingly:-
3% - Poor
5% - Degrading
9% - Stable
67% - Good
16% - Excellent
In 2006 all 11 sites were in good condition (data 
source SOPR 2014).

Neutral

Condition 
of 
Geological 
SSSI’s

There are 34 geological SSSIs wholly or partly 
within the National Park boundary.

In 2014 there were 34 geological features of 
importance in the National Park, 31 (91%) of 
which were currently in favourable condition, 1 
(3%) were in unfavourable condition and for 2 
(5%) the condition was unknown. 
 
In 2017 there were 34 geological features of 
importance in the National Park, 30 (88%) of 
which were currently in favourable condition, 1 
(3%) were in unfavourable condition and for 3 
(9%) the condition was unknown. 

The condition of the geological SSSIs in the Park 
remain fairly stable, this could be seen a positive 
however this also highlights that the condition of 
the SSSIs did not improve between 2014 and 
2017. 

Neutral

Phase One 
Species 
(Habitat) 

Over half (55%) of the grassland habitats were 
improved grassland. Just over 1% of the National Park 
was built environment. 57,347 hectares of the Brecon 
Beacons National Park are under statutory ownership. 
Of these 57, 347 hectares 39% is designated as Sites of 

Neutral

Page 142



Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), 33% is owned by the 
National Park, 15% is owned by Natural Resources 
Wales, 7% is owned by the National Trust, 4% is a 
Special Area of Conservation (SAC), 2% is National 
Nature Reserve (NNR) and less than 1% is owned by 
Brecknock Wildlife Trust. Natural Resources Wales 
have recently updated and released Phase I habitat 
mapping of Wales through the use of satellite 
imagery. The data was collected over the course of 
many years. Analysis of habitat change over time may 
now be conducted as long as certain caveats are 
considered when comparing the data. Updated Phase 
1 data shows that Grassland now accounts for 57% of 
the principal habitat type across the National Park 
which shows a reduction of approximately 5%. 
Woodland now accounts for 17% of the principal 
habitat types, an increase of approximately 3%. 
Heathland now accounts for 10% of the principal 
habitat types across the park, a decrease of 1. (data 
source SOPR 2014)

Scheduled 
Ancient 
Monumen
ts (SAMs)

In 2006 there were 268 SAMs within the Park.  Of 
these, 95.4% were in either a stable or favourable 
condition (257).  

In 2014 there were 357 SAMS in the park – an 
increase of 89 since 2006.  Of the 357 SAMs in the 
Park 95.5% were in a stable or favourable 
condition.  

In 2014 there was a slightly smaller percentage 
(0.4%) of SAMs in an unstable or unfavourable 
condition.  Whilst this figure is not large, it is 
worth noting that 89 ancient monuments have 
been scheduled since 2006 which means there is 
now a greater total number of SAMs in either 
stable or favourable condition. 

In 2019 there were 358 SAMs in the Park – an 
increase of 1 since 2014. Of the 358 SAMs in the 
Park, 72% were in a stable or favourable 
condition. This shows a 20% decrease from 2014 
which indicates that the condition of the SAMs in 
the Park are deteriorating. Further work is 
required to understand the reasons as to why this 
is the case and what can be done to prevent 
further deterioration. (data source SOPR 2020)

Decline

Listed 
buildings 
at risk

In 2006 there were 1,711 listed buildings.  Of 
these 11% were at risk. The number of listed 
buildings increased by 2014 to 1,950 Listed 

Positive

Page 143



Buildings.  Of these 6.6% were at risk.  The 
number of listed buildings has therefore 
increased whilst the proportion at risk as 
decreased since the beginning of the plan period. 
In 2016 the number of listed buildings had 
increased to 1951, with 5.4% of those being at 
risk. In 2019 the number of listed buildings had 
increased to 1952, however the data in relation 
to the Listed Buildings within the Park at risk is 
pending.

(data source SOPR and CADW)
% historic 
landscape 
with up to 
date 
character 
appraisal

100% of Historic Landscape Areas have up to date 
characterisations.

Neutral

Archaeolo
gical 
Protection

All planning applications are screened for their 
impact on Archaeology

Neutral

Broadban
d 
coverage 
and speed

The superfast Cymru project covers the majority 
of the National Park Area. By the end of the 
project it is anticipated that all communities will 
have access to high-speed broadband.

Neutral

Travel to 
work

The ONS publish travel to work area data based 
on the findings of the 2011 Census.  The National 
Park comprises the following 5 Travel to Work 
Areas

- Swansea
- Llanelli
- Brecon
- Merthyr Tydfil 
- Hereford

Neutral

Length 
and 
condition 
of public 
rights of 
way

In 2006 there was a total of 1,983Km public rights of 
way within the park area.  In 2013 that had increased 
to 2,009Km. By 2019, that had decreased to 1891Km. 

The percentage of rights of way that are easy to use 
was slightly lower in 2013 than in 2006, however 
there were 26km more rights of way. This has now 
increased by 2019. The number of rights of way that 
are easy to use has increased since 2010/2011 and 
this trend is expected to continue. Overall the general 
condition of this indicator is good.

Positive

Page 144



Public 
transport 
routes in 
the park

There are 10 local bus routes operating within the 
National Park.

24 – Ponsticill-Merthyr Tydfil
30- Brynmawr- Blaenavon-Pontypool-Newport
T14-Brecon-Hay on Wye – Kingstone – Hereford
X75-Merthyr Tydfil- Hirwaun- Glynneath-Neath-
Swansea
T4- Newtown-Llandrindod Wells-Brecon-Merthyr 
Tydfil-Cardiff
X4- Hereford-Abergavenny-Merthyr Tydfil-Cardiff
X3 – Hereford – Abergavenny
X33- Abergavenny-Pontypool-Cwmbran-Cardiff
X43-Brecon-Crickhowell-Abergavenny
T6 -Brecon-Ystradgynlais-Neath-Swansea 

Neutral

Cycle 
routes in 
the park

2 Long-distance National Cycle Routes cross the 
BBNP
-National Cycle Route 8, the Taff Trail
-National Cycle Route 42, Lon Las Cymru

Neutral

Welsh 
Indices of 
Multiple 
Deprivatio
n

The National Park area mostly comprises 50% 
least deprived LSOA.  Areas around the heads of 
the valley demonstrate higher levels of overall 
deprivation. The SOPR 2020 reports that this 
indicator continues to show a positive trend. 

Neutral

Crime 
Statistics

This information is not readily available at 
National Park level, however, crime statistics 
appear to be below average within the National 
Park compared with the rest of Wales.

Neutral

Knowledg
e of Welsh 
Language

See Table 1 below for data gathered at Ward level 
from both the 2001 and 2011 census.

Negative 

Visitor 
satisfactio
n 

In November 2013, the Brecon Beacons Marketing 
and Coordination Group published the results of the 
annual Brecon Beacons Visitor Survey. Further 
information on the Visitor Survey can be found here. 
http://www.beacons-
npa.gov.uk/communities/tourism-new/tourism-facts-
and-figures-1/
Overall, the visit experience is good and almost half 
(48%) of visitors said it exceeded their expectations 
and 51% said it met them. Just 1% said that their 
experience fell short of expectations. This year’s Visit 
Wales visitor survey shows similar results for Wales as 
a whole (49% exceeded and 49% met expectations). 
There is little variation amongst day and overnight 
visitors. The highest ratings come from new visitors 
56% of which say the visit exceeded their 
expectations. This is encouraging for potential future 

Neutral

Page 145

http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/communities/tourism-new/tourism-facts-and-figures-1/
http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/communities/tourism-new/tourism-facts-and-figures-1/
http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/communities/tourism-new/tourism-facts-and-figures-1/


return visits. Visitors from some areas are slightly 
more impressed by the area than others. Over half of 
the visitors coming from London & South East (53%) 
and overseas (52%) said that expectations were 
exceeded.

The Brecon Beacons National Park have published an 
updated visitor survey for 2016-17, can be found here: 
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-
content/uploads/Brecon-Beacons-Visitor-Survey-
Final-report-May-2017-English-.pdf. 

Overall, 85% of visitors rate their visit to the Park as 
‘very good’ and 13% ‘good’. There were no negative 
ratings recorded from the 1,700 participants. 
Customer service is all generally well received at 
various facilities, but accommodation, visitor 
attractions and eateries have the highest scores. Few 
give a negative opinion of customer service but 4% say 
shops are poor/very poor and 13% average. 87% say 
they are very likely to visit the area again, dropping to 
64% of first time visitors and most of the remainder 
are fairly likely to return. Very positive perception of 
the area with some areas for improvement Visitors 
most like the landscape, beauty and unspoilt 
environment. Most feel the Park is well cared for, 
offers good value for money and that information is 
easy to access. Few suggest improvements, but these 
include provision for toilets, signage and information, 
general maintenance, parking, amenities and 
connectivity. Two fifths would consider donating time 
or money to help the Park.

Education 
standards

The National School Categorisation detailed that 
of the schools serving the National Park area as 
follows:-

Category 2014 2015 2016 2017
Red 3% 2% 0% 0%
Amber 18% 23% 5% 26%
Yellow 50% 41% 46% 22%
Green 29% 34% 49% 52%

Positive (The % 
within Green 
has increased 
by 3% 
respectively. 
The % within 
yellow reduced 
by 24%. The 
percentage 
within amber 
has increased 
by 21%, with 
those in red 
remaining at 
0.)

Page 146

https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Brecon-Beacons-Visitor-Survey-Final-report-May-2017-English-.pdf
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Brecon-Beacons-Visitor-Survey-Final-report-May-2017-English-.pdf
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Brecon-Beacons-Visitor-Survey-Final-report-May-2017-English-.pdf


Number of 
farms and 
farmers

Data from 2014 demonstrates that there were 
1,445 jobs provided within agriculture, forestry, 
fishing within the Brecon Beacons National Park.   
However this sector is decreasing within the 
National Park.  Jobs in agriculture and fishery 
made up 10% of employment type in 1991.  By 
2001 this had reduced to 7.3% and by 2011 this 
sector accounted for 5.9% of employment types 
within the National Park. (Source SOPR 2014)

SOPR 2020 reported that data requests for ‘area 
of farmed land by type’ within the National Park 
was sent to Welsh Government however, no 
information has been provided as of yet. 

Negative

Tourist 
Spending

Tourism Spend in 2009 was £197 million 
increasing to £216 million by 2013 and £247 
million by 2016 (STEAM data).

According to the Visitor Survey (2016-17): 
“Staying visitors typically spend around £270 on 
accommodation but more if staying outside the 
Park (£313) than within the Park (£219). 
Daily spend on food and drink is higher for those 
staying in the Park (£67) than outside (£52) and 
much higher than for locals (£13) or day visitors 
(£14).
Average party size is 3.2 people, larger for staying 
visitors (3.4) compared to locals (2.8) and day 
visitors (3.0)”. 

Positive

Table 1 Knowledge of Welsh Language within the National Park
This table shows data returns for both the 2001 and 2011 Census and demonstrates the level of 
welsh speaking within the National Park by electoral ward.  As not all wards are wholly within the 
National Park area, the percentage of population for each ward residing within the National Park is 
also given.  Those wards listed in Red have seen a drop in the level of welsh speaking and knowledge 
of welsh, whereas those in green there has been a rise in knowledge of Welsh/residents ability to 
communicate in Welsh

Knowledge of Welsh Language 2001 2011

 

Percentage 
of 
population 
within 
boundary

Percentage 
with some 
Knowledge 
of Welsh 

Percentage 
can speak, 
write and 
read Welsh 

Percentage 
with some 
knowledge 
of Welsh 

Percentage 
can speak, 
write and 
read Welsh

 Ward Name 

Abercraf 3% 64.0 30.5 58.89 26.28

Page 147



Bwlch 100% 16.4 7.4 18.23 7.80
Crickhowell & Vale of Grwyne 100% 16.6 8.2 14.35 6.39
Cwmtwrch 0% 70.9 39.7 65.12 30.70
Honddu Isaf/Llanddew (Felinfach) 3% 25.0 10.5 21.48 9.85
Gwernyfed + Llanigon 36% 15.4 6.9 14.87 6.81
Hay 100% 12.3 5.5 14.39 5.82
Llangattock 100% 16.6 7.2 17.92 5.91
Llangors 100% 23.0 10.7 19.63 8.52
Llangynidr 100% 22.9 10.5 18.24 8.59
Maescar/Llywel, Crai 100% 42.6 20.4 40.16 18.09
Brecon St Davids 100% 22.4 9.4
Brecon St Johns 100% 25.2 12.9
Brecon St Marys 100% 21.0 9.8

20.65 9.15

Talgarth 96% 19.7 7.0 20.07 8.47
Talybont, Glyntarell, Llanfrynach 93% 23.2 11.2 22.15 8.32
Tawe-Uchaf/Fellte 57% 49.4 21.4 42.97 16.24
Yscir, Trallong, 29% 29.6 12.3 27.55 12.33
Ystradgynlais rural 1% 66.7 31.7 57.23 24.61
Garnant Cwmamman 3% 79.4 55.0 69.47 41.61
Glanamman 1% 77.6 52.3 70.47 41.80
Dyffryn Cennen (Llandeilo) 13% 70.0 42.9 66.54 36.82
Llandovery, Llanfair 5% 60.2 35.7 54.07 29.38

Llandybie
Less than 

1% 75.2 46.2 71.41 38.78
Llangadog,Llanddeusant,Myddfai 45% 69.0 51.6 65.16 43.81
Quarter Bach 6% 83.3 61.7 76.62 51.25
Rhigos (Hirwaun) 49% 32.5 13.9 29.59 12.35
Vaynor 12% 21.3 7.8 18.05 6.79
Brynmawr 1% 14.8 6.8 11.86 5.75
Pontypool New Inn 0% 13.5 7.7 11.91 5.83
Abergavenny north (Cantref) 3% 15.0 8.0 13.41 6.24
Crucorney 36% 12.0 7.3 14.29 7.45
Goetre Fawr 10% 14.3 8.0 15.71 8.23
Llanelly 100% 15.0 7.6 14.23 6.49
Llanfoist Fawr 17% 15.2 7.5 15.85 8.51
Llanover 3% 12.2 6.5 12.18 6.45
Llanfoist Llanwenarth Ultra 100% 14.3 7.1 13.61 6.36
Llantilio Pertholey Mardy 13% 14.2 7.4 16.27 7.61

2. The National Park Management Plan: State of the Park Report

http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/npmp/state-of-the-park-
report-2/

State of the Park Report 2020 

Page 148

http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/npmp/state-of-the-park-report-2/
http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/npmp/state-of-the-park-report-2/
file:///C:/Users/naomid/Downloads/Enc.%202%20for%20State%20of%20the%20Park%20Report%202020.pdf


Page 149



This page is intentionally left blank



Risk Register:  Q2 update

Name of 
Committee

 Audit and Scrutiny Committee

Date 22 October 2021

Report Author Marc Ronan

Job title Solicitor, Monitoring Officer and Data protection Officer

Contact Details Marc.Ronan@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To advise members of the risks currently logged on the 
Authority’s Risk Register

Single Integrated 
Assessment

Not applicable

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1: Current risk register

Public Interest Test Not applicable

Recommendations To review the current risks on the Authority’s Risk 
Register.

1.1 Introduction or Background

Democratic Services have temporarily managed corporate risk as an interim measure; 
however, responsibility for managing corporate risk has now passed to the Solicitor, 
Monitoring Officer and Data Protection Officer. This information has been presented to 
the Corporate Governance Team for review and update before reporting to Audit and 
Scrutiny Committee.

The attached register includes current identified risks. Legal risks are monitored 
separately and dealt with under the exempt part of the agenda.

1.2 Proposals

Covid-19 risks continue, although the Authority has adapted relatively well to remote 
working and work is ongoing to assess and manage its sites to mitigate the spread of the 
virus, including Plas y Ffynnon.

Page 151

Agenda Item 11



Risks associated with staff capacity across the organisation remain high and are unlikely 
to be reduced until further work on corporate planning and prioritisation is complete.  
Reduced capacity is impacting on all areas of the Authority. Whilst many staff have 
stepped up to fill the gaps, this is not sustainable for the long term. 

There is an ongoing significant risk to the Authority’s ability to deliver its LDP due to 
the phosphate issue and mitigation  measures to reduce phosphates reaching our SAC 
rivers may also have an impact on the Authority’s ability to increase access to the Park. 
An Action Plan for ensuring the Authority is doing as much as possible to manage the 
impact of this risk is being drawn up and officers continue to work with key partners in 
seeking to maximise mitigation measures.

The impact of the cyber-security attack is being mitigated by extensive work to future 
proof our systems, and the IT Strategy in preparation will set out the ambition for 
future systems and ways of working.

Access to the Gunpowder works remains difficult but officers are working to repair the 
track and resolve issues over access rights.

Arrangements for asset management have not been progressed because of lack of 
capacity.  

The Authority is clear new office accommodation may be needed in the near future. 
The CEO is preparing a tender for consultancy support to work up an options appraisal.   

Risks in governance arrangements and the balance of member / officer roles and 
responsibilities have been documented by Audit Wales and are addressed elsewhere on 
this agenda. 

1.3 Implications and Risk
While key compliance and risks are being addressed, the continuing stretch in staff 
capacity impacts the ability of staff to deliver further mitigating action, and members are 
asked to note that this risk is likely to persist into 22/23. Continuing to build the 
permanent staff structure over the next 6-12 months, and reviewing aspects of the 
current operation of the Authority will be essential and is a priority.

1.5 Conclusion
Members are asked to note the report and make any comments.

RECOMMENDATION: To review the current risks on the Authority’s Risk 
Register.

Page 152



Risk ID Risk Description Probability Impact Comments
Date of 

Update
Owner

R001 Access to the Park

Risk to the Authority’s reputation 

and public standing posed by C19 

lock-down restrictions on access to 

the Park and constraints on the 

Authority’s communication of their 

rationale

Possible Moderate Park is now open 14/07/21 Wayne Lewis

R002 Capacity Risks to Delivery

The risk to the delivery of outcomes 

due to partner, officer and volunteer 

capacity impairment from C19 

impacts on resources

Possible Severe

Hardship Fund from Welsh Govt (250k) 

has considerably alleviated front line 

services. 

14/07/2021 Catherine Mealing-Jones

R003 Fraud and Cyber Security

Threats to the Authority's services, 

functions and financial standing due 

to cyber-crime including fraud and 

data ransom

Possible Severe 

Downgraded to possible given the recent 

upgrades to IT systems

Staff awareness good after increasing 

coverage of threats and training. Systems 

hardened. Work is ongoing on email 

threat detection

13/10/2021 Kevin Booker & Rhys Davies

R004
Lockdown Alternate 

Working Arrangements

Risk to the Authority’s services and 

functions posed by C19 lock-down 

alternate working arrangements 

(capacity of staff, health and well-

being of staff, efficiency of processes 

and systems use)

Possible Moderate

All staff continue to work from home, 

with access to HQ based on operational 

need only.  Both Centres open to staff 

and public.  All Authority and committee 

meetings continue to be livestreamed as 

virtual meetings

Second staff survey has been carried out 

and the results communicated to staff. 

This will test both current state of 

wellbeing but also enable workforce 

13/10/2021 Julia Gruffydd

R005
Public Health Risks at 

Authority Managed Sites

Risk to the public’s health and 

wellbeing through C19 infection, 

road/parking congestion, problematic 

behaviour and other associated H&S 

risks arising from an easing of access 

restrictions and consequent 

overcrowding

Very Unlikely Severe

No change. The Authority is anticipating 

2021 to be a busy year for visitor footfall

additional staff and toilets at honeypot 

sites

14/07/21 Wayne Lewis

R006 Risk to Officers and Members

Risk to the health and well-being of 

the Authority’s staff, members and 

volunteers, and knock-on effect on 

service delivery, of C19 infection on 

return to working from our premises

possible Severe

The upgrade to possible last quarter 

remains in place in light of rising infection 

numbers. The risk of officers exposing 

the virus to other staff is mitigated to 

some extent by the vaccination 

programme. Staff survey completed as 

above seeking views on return to the 

office and/or future working 

arrangements.

Risk assessments completed for return 

to HQ and Centres and are kept 

updated. Summary of all Covid advice 

circulated to staff Oct 2021 covering 

working practice, wellbeing, lone 

working and current Welsh Government 

guidelines

13/10/2021 Julia Gruffydd

green

Amber

Amber

RAG

Amber

Green

Amber

P
age 153



Risk ID Risk Decscription Probability Impact Comments
Date of 

Update
Owner

R007
Members' compliance with 

code of conduct		
Reputation and financial impacts Possible Severe

Equality and diversity training has 

delivered to members, AW Action plan 

in place to support appropriate 

behaviour

14/10/2021 Marc Ronan

R008

Failure in Information 

Governance 

arrangements		

Information governance Lack of 

compliance monitoring across all 

business/service areas

possible Severe

Interim DPO and MO arrangement has 

been put in place for 12 months. 

Awaiting recommendations from audit to 

improve process and systems. 
14/10/2021 Marc Ronan

R009
Business Continuity Plan and 

Disaster Recovery Plan

Risk to Authority services through 

inadequate business continuity and 

disaster recovery arrangements

possible Severe

Upgraded to possible - cyber incident 

tested DRP and triggered required 

changes to IT security arrangements to 

reinforce BCP & DRP. New BCP and 

DRP being drawn up from lessons 

learned in cyber incident.

13/10/21 Rhys Davies & Kevin Booker

R010

Lack of continuity of 

membership of the National 

Park Authority	

Risk to delivery of organisational 

objectives through requirement to 

induct  new members in decision-

making and encourage them to 

become familiar with organisational 

history and culture

Likely Moderate

Upgraded to likely following another 

change from Powys, and anticipating 

more changes following local government 

elections. Worked with Welsh 

Government and WLGA to update the 

Protocol for local authorities appointing 

members to NPAs to encourage them to 

consider key skills, commitment and 

capacity.  Three Park video planned to 

highlight role to candidate and existing 

councillors. Induction will be planned for 

June 2022.

13/10/2021 Julia Gruffydd

R011 Financial constraint

Constraint on Authority’s ability to 

deliver objectives and services due to 

restricted financial settlement and 

income

Possible Severe

No change, settlement for 21/22 not yet 

announced but there are significant 

budgetary pressures which may limit the 

options for increased NPA funding

13/10/21 Elaine Standen

R012 Corporate capacity

Constraint on Authority’s ability to 

deliver services, meet obligations and 

realise opportunities due to senior 

officer capacity

Very Likely Very Severe

 

Risk has increased from the review in 

January 2021. Risk possibility and impact 

now critical exacerbated by length of 

transition period.  In Q3 it will remain a 

high risk but mitigating action is being 

taken to ensure the most critical gaps are 

addressed,  and the CEO is having one to 

one meetings with managers to support 

ongoing delivery. 

15/10/2021
Catherine Mealing-Jones 

(updated by Julia Gruffydd)
Red

Amber

Amber 

Amber

Corporate Services

Corporate Governance Risks

RAG

Amber

Amber

P
age 154



R013 Welsh Language Act

Risk to the Authority's financial and 

reputational standing through non-

compliance with Welsh Language Act 

and standards

possible Moderate

All reports submitted. All complaints 

responded to.  Awaiting WG response 

to reporting and 'mystery shopping' 

exercise.

13/10/21 Jodie Bond

R014  Inadequate general Reserves

Risk to delivery of services and 

viability of the Authority through 

being unable to meet exceptional 

unforeseen mandatory expenditure 

re: planning, health and safety, 

redundancy, etc. due to reserves 

being at a level deemed inadequate 

by the Section 151 officer and 

consequent requirement to issue 

S114 notice

Unlikely Severe 

no change, but will need to be reviewed 

once the draft budget has been 

produced, likely to be increased pressure 

on the staffing budget in 22/23.  There is 

also a move from funding in advance to 

claiming in arrears for Welsh 

Government specific grants such as SLSP, 

which puts additional pressure on the 

general reserve/cashflow.

13/10/21 Elaine Standen

R015  Governance arrangements

Risk that the Authority's governance 

arrangements are not adequate to 

meet its statutory, regulatory and 

operational requirements

Posssible very severe

 DPO and MO appointment for 12 

months only.

Governance structures require review.  

No further change

15/10/2021 Marc Ronan

R016
Uncertainty of Authority 

accommodation 

The continuing uncertainty over the 

future of Plas y Ffynnon /changing 

accommodation arrangements are 

disruptive to its service delivery

Possible Very Severe

No change

Audit of staff requirements underway.

Exploriing possibility of feasibility funding 

for finding new accommodation in a 

town centre. Discussions ongoing about 

needs of the organisation.

15/10/2021
Catherine Mealing-Jones 

(updated by Julia Gruffydd)

R017
Asset management 

arrangements

Reputational and financial risks 

associated with property and land 

assets

Possible Severe

Changed to amber / possible

CGT reviewed the draft asset 

management plan and proposals from 

Cooke and Arkwright. The reports were 

taken to the Audit & Scrutiny Committee 

to consider at the Jan 2021 

meetingCurrently there is no role on the 

establishment to take the work forward. 

Managmement of  Visitor Centre building 

maintenance and improvements is 

undertaken in the interim by the 

Commercial Manager.  No change at end 

of Q2. 

15/10/2021
Catherine Mealing-Jones 

(updated by Julia Gruffydd)

R018 Legal issues

The risk that legal proceedings bring 

negative financial and reputational 

impacts

Possible Moderate

The Authority is now taking high level 

legal risks to ASC meetings and keeping 

under review under exempt items

no change

15/10/2021 Marc Ronan

Risk ID Risk Decscription Probability Impact Comments
Date of 

Update
Owner

R019
Compliance failure/litigation: 

external		

The risk to the Authority brought 

about by a failure in health and safety 

compliance in the Park as a whole 

resulting in the potential for litigation

Possible Very Severe

No change

Procedures in place to monitor H&S

15/10/2021 Marcia Zurian

RAG

amber

Health and Safety

Green

Amber

red

red

Amber

Amber

P
age 155



R020
Compliance failure/litigation: 

our estate

The risk to the Authority brought 

about by a failure in health and safety 

compliance within the Authority's 

land or buildings resulting in the 

potential for litigation

Possible Very Severe

No change

Internal process in place

15/10/2021 Marcia Zurian

Risk ID Risk Decscription Probability Impact Comments
Date of 

Update
Owner

R021 Hardcopy RM
Lack of hardcopy key document 

management
Possible Moderate No change 13/10/2021 Kevin Booker & Rhys Davies

R022 Spatial data RM
Poor decision making due to lack of 

ownership and upkeep of spatial data
possible Moderate No Change 13/10/2021 Kevin Booker & Rhys Davies

Risk ID Risk Decscription Probability Impact Comments
Date of 

Update
Owner

R025

Paths and RoW 

erode/deteriorate - lack of 

funding/mgtm plans, env 

impacts

also environmental impacts Likely Moderate
More use of paths over lockdown is 

leading to higher maintenance burdens

13/07/2021 

No Change
Richard Ball

R026
Buildings condition and 

maintenance

Lack of strategic continuity planning 

for BBNPA buildings & structures
Possible Moderate

No planned building maintence in place, 

repairs are done on a reactive basis.

Up to date on compliance matters 

(electric certificates etc)

linked to R017

15/04/21

13/07/21
Catherine Mealing-Jones

R027
Disrupted access to 

Gunpowder Works

Risk that access dispute disrupts 

Authority's ability to deliver its work 

programme and/or has an impact on 

reputation, finance and other 

resources

Possible Severe

Draft approved Heads of Terms finalised 

and to be sent to owner weec 

commecing 18.10.21

14/10/2021 Marc Ronan

RO27a
Disrupted access to 

Gunpowder Works

Risk that landslip has disrupted safe 

access to the SAM
Very Likely Severe

Measures are in place to safeguard the 

public, and restore access along the track
13/07/2021 Judith Harvey

R028
Short term contracts and 

role continuity

Business continuity and reputation 

risk arising from increasing reliance 

on fixed term project-focussed 

contracts

Very Likely Severe

Continues to be an issue putting 

pressure on the Authority's ability to 

deliver. New senior structure agreed by 

NPA on 9/8/21 and recruitment now live. 

All acting up arrangements are being 

extended to 31 March 2022 to maintain 

capacity as much as possible.

15/10/2021
Catherine Mealing-Jones 

(updated by Julia Gruffydd)

Amber

Amber

Information and IT Risks

Delivery / Countryside

Amber

RAG

Amber

red

RAG

Red

Red

Red

P
age 156



Risk ID Risk Decscription Probability Impact Comments
Date of 

Update
Owner

R029

Risk from Members 

overturning planning 

recommendations

Members' prerogative to overturn 

decisions but may have financial 

impact if challenged

Possible Severe

No change.  Dialogue and training 

continuing with existing and new 

member to seek to manage ongoing risk

15/10/2021 Tracy Nettleton

R032

Degradation of cultural and 

historical heritage, including 

buildings at risk.

Lack of resource Possible Moderate

Possible moderate better reflects the risk 

status. The Authority has approved a 

project plan for the HEAP, established 

the HEP and agreed the heritage in 

places grant will be delivered through the 

SDF mechanism.  However staff resource 

increasingly stretched.

15/10/2021 Tracy Nettleton

R033 DM Service Performance

Risk to the Park's special qualities and 

Authority's reputation through poor 

DM service performance

possible Severe
No change. risk remains -  possible and 

amber
15/10/2021 Tracy Nettleton

R034
Enforcement Service 

Performance

Risk to the park's environment 

through poor enforcement service 

performance

possible Severe
No change.  Risk remains - possible and 

amber
15/10/2021 Tracy Nettleton

R035 Personal safety of staff

Risk to staff safety in relation to site 

vists and interaction to members of 

the public

Possible Severe

No change. The focus on remote 

working is on undertaking meetings 

virtually and complying with covid 

requirements when on site

15/10/2021 Tracy Nettleton

R036  Internal applications

Risk to finance, reputation and staff 

relations from necessity for internal 

applications since new legal advice

possible Moderate

No change.The Authority has a robust 

mechanism in place to ensure 

applications are handled transparently

15/10/2021 Tracy Nettleton

R037
timetable, soundness and 

adoption of LDP

Risks to the timetable for delivery, 

tests of soundness and ultimate 

adoption of LDP2

very likely severe

Timetable paused whilst WG and BBNPA 

consider the implications of NRW 

guidance on pollution and riverine SAC's

15/10/2021 Tracy Nettleton

R039

Risk associated with 

limitations on scheme of 

delegation 

Risk to functioning of planning service 

relating to pressures placed on head 

of service, through limited capacity to 

share planning application sign off

Very likely Severe

Temporary solution put in place, but long 

term solution needs to be found through 

review of Scheme of Delegation..

Tracy Nettleton

Amber

Red

Environmental capacity of 

riverine SACs exceeded due 

to non compliance for 

acceptable phosphate levels

RAG

amber

Amber

amber

Amber

amber

Red

Planning

Tracy NettletonR038

Risk to the functioning of the planning 

authority in areas of the park affected 

by phosphate issue.  Lack of progress 

on planning applications leading to 

increased numbers of appeals and 

reputational risk

Very likely Red Severe

No change. Protocol is in place to address 

applications which have the potential to 

further impact the SACs.  

Communiciations strategy developed.  

Collaborative working towards solution 

with stakeholders

15/10/2021

15/10/2021

P
age 157



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
SUMMARY OF INFORMATION REQUESTS 

01/04/2021 – 12/10/2021 

 

LOG  

NO: 
FOIA DPA SAR EIR Date Received Information request 

Date Ack  

(5 wd) 

Date Resp 

(20 wd) 
Ack in 5 

Resp in 

20 
STATUS 

1 X    05/04/2021 Information on enforcement case 04/07/2021 04/07/2021 YES YES CLOSED 

2    X 09/04/2021 Information on Nitrates & Phosphates 13/04/2021 10/05/2021 YES YES CLOSED 

3    X 06/04/2021 Information on HRA Assessment for a planning application 27/04/2021 10/05/2021 YES NO CLOSED 

4    X 29/04/2021 Information request on Certificate of Lawfulness application 29/04/2021 18/05/2021 YES YES CLOSED 

5 X    05/03/2021 Information on BBNPA formal guidance to delegated 

planning officer relating to validating listed building 

05/03/201 28/05/2021 YES YES CLOSED 

6 X    12/05/2021 
applications 
Received a complaint from ICO in relation to authority not 
responding 

13/05/2021 13/05/2021 YES YES CLOSED 

7 X    13/05/2021 Information on Public Cloud 14/05/2021 18/05/2021 YES YES CLOSED 

8    X 14/05/2021 Information on Certificate of Lawfulness 14/05/2021 24/05/2021 YES YES CLOSED 

9 X    13/05/2021 Information on briefing notes that agent provided on 

a planning case 

14/05/2021 28/05/2021 YES YES CLOSED 

10    x 11/05/2021 Information on certificate of lawfulness and how many apply 
to caravans 

11/05/2021 18/05/2021 YES YES CLOSED 

11    X 17/05/2021 Information on Certificate of Lawfulness 16/05/2021 08/06/2021 YES YES CLOSED 
12    

X 16/05/2021 
Information if officers have personal/or related to contractor 

18/05/2021 28/05/2021 

YES YES CLOSED 

13 X    17/05/2021 Information on enforcement case 24/05/2021 06/08/2021 YES YES CLOSED 

14    X 20/05/2021 Information on Telephone System 26/05/2021 06/08/2021 YES YES CLOSED 

15 X    02/06/2021 Further information wanted 02/06/2021 17/06/2021 YES YES CLOSED 

16 X    03/06/2021 Information on enforcement case 03/06/2021 08/07/2021 YES NO CLOSED 

17 X    08/06/2021 Information on payment made to Stonewall Equality 08/06/2021 23/06/2021 YES YES CLOSED 

18    X 09/06/2021 Information on Dan y Bwlch Farm 09/06/2021 15/07/2021 YES NO CLOSED 

19     10/06/2021 Information on JR for the last 20 years 10/06/2021 13/07/2021 YES YES CLOSED 
20    

x 10/06/2021 

Information between BBNPA, WAG, Truck Road Agency & 
Savills in relation to planning application 20/18718 & 
20/18780/Ful 

10/06/2021 
10/08/2021 

YES 
NO 

CLOSED 

21    

x 10/06/2021 

Request for copy link to virtual site visit presented to PAROW 

meeting on 11th May, regarding planning application 

20/18718 and 20/18780/FUL 

10/06/2021 

10/08/2021 

YES 

NO 

CLOSED 

22    

x 10/06/2021 
Request for copy of Independent Retail Statement for 

planning application 20/18718 and 20/18780/FUL 
10/06/2021 

10/08/2021 
YES 

NO 
CLOSED 

P
age 159

A
genda Item

 12



23 x 

   

14/06/2021 Information on Planning/budget/electric car chargers 14/06/2021 

 

YES 

 OPEN 

 

 

 
24 x    20/07/2021 

Information that the authority informed Kirsty Williams MP 
  
that they wwer updated  

20/07/2021  YES  
ONGOING 

25 x 
   

27/07/2021 
Information on vehicles BBNPA own/lease and what fuel 
consumption they are 
 

27/07/2021 
27/07/2021 

YES 
 

CLOSED 

26  

   

28/07/2021 

Information on planning approval that have been granted for 
new retail development & approvals that have been 
geographically situated/located outside the defined retail 
centres of Brecon, Hay-on-Wye, Talgarth & Crickhowell 
 

28/07/2021 

 

YES 

 

ONGOING 

27     10/08/2021 Information on MFDs and Managed Print Services 11/08/2021 11/08/2021 YES YES CLOSED 

28 X    24/08/2021 Information about bullying complaints made by Civil servants 27/08/2021 27/08/2021 YES YES CLOSED 

29 X    24/08/2021 Information on sexual harassment complaints 27/08/2021 27/08/2021 YES YES CLOSED 

30 X    31/09/2021 Information on Cyber/Ransomware incidents  01/09/2021 17/09/2002 YES YES CLOSED 

31 X    06/09/2021 Information on outstanding s106 payment for development 
on Twr Mihangel/Cwrt Mihangel  

07/09/2021 04/10/2021 YES YES CLOSED 

32 x    01/06/2021 Information on housing stock within the National Park  01/06/2021 04/10/2021 YES NO CLOSED 

33 X    21/09/2021 Information on Confidential waste 22/09/2021  YES  OPEN 

34    x 11/10/2021 Information on pre-app advice  12/10/2021   YES  OPEN 

 

P
age 160



 

SUMMARY OF COMPLAINTS  

01/04/2021 - 13/10/2021 

  
LOG  

NO: 
Stage 1 Stage 2 

Date Received 
Complaint Summary 

Date Ack (5  

wd) 

Date Resp (20 

wd) 
STATUS Ack in 5 Resp in 20 Upheld? Planning Delivery Corporate 

1 Stage 1  13/04/2021 Complaint in relation to Dangerous road use 
on BBNPA 

15/04/2021 05/05/2021 CLOSED YES YES Not upheld  X  

2 Stage 1  27/04/2021 Complaint in how enforcement case is being handled. 28/04/2021 24/05/2021 CLOSED YES YES Not upheld X   

3 Stage 1  28/04/2021 Complaint received to the Ombudsman in relation to 

Planning 

29/04/2021 29/04/2021 CLOSED YES YES Not upheld X   

4 Stage 1  05/06/2021 Site visit to be arranged for Planner 05/06/2021  CLOSED YES YES Not upheld X   
5 Stage 1  11/05/2021 Member of the public hit by a falling branch 

and suffered concussion whilst walking 

17/05/2021 21/05/2021 CLOSED YES YES Upheld  X  

6  Stage 2 18/05/2021 Request for stage 2 - planning 18/05/2021 08/06/2021 CLOSED YES YES Not upheld x   
7   08/06/2021 Complaint in relation to Keepers Pond 08/06/2021 22/06/2021 CLOSED YES YES Partial X   
8   08/06/2021 Complaint received to the Ombudsman in relation to 

Planning 

08/06/2021 22/06/2021 OPEN YES   
x 

  

9 Stage 1  03/07/2021 Complain - data breach 03/07/2021 12/08/2021 CLOSED YES NO Not upheld 

x 

  

10 Stage 1  12/07/2021 Complaint in relation to how an objection on planning 
application was dealt with 

 

13/07/2021 15/07/2021 CLOSED YES YES Not upheld 

x 

  

  Stage 2 11/08/2021 Request for a Stage 2 investigation 12/08/2021 13/08/2021 CLOSED YES YES Not Upheld 

 

  

11 Stage 1  13/07/2021 Complaint - about a Welsh word displayed incorrectly 
and attitude of member of staff 

 

14/07/2021 14/07/2021 CLOSED YES YES Not upheld 

x 

 x 

12 Stage 1  09/08/2021 
Planning Application 21/19623/FUL 

09/08/2021 30/092021 CLOSED YES YES Not Upheld 

 

  

13 Stage 1  12/09/2021 

Complaint re; Planning applications 21/19623/ful & 
21/19622/Ful 

15/09/2021 30/09/2021 CLOSED YES YES Not Upheld  

x 

  

 

P
age 161



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 COMPLIMENTS LIST           From:  January 2021 

NO DATE COMMENTS 
77 29/09/21 Feedback from the NPUK Member Induction Course which was organised and run by Julia Gruffydd, Angharad Hawkes and 

Kathryn Gardner.  National Park Members commented the following: very well organised with easy to follow instructions 

and a good range of topics covered; excellent in every regard, depth of knowledge was much appreciated; the way the course 

was structured was excellent; the contributors, presenters, and organisers were of a uniformly very high quality. 

76 18/09/21 An email from a representative of Hay on Wye U3A Geology Group who was on a walk led by Alan Bowring. They commented 
“We so enjoyed our day with you around Penderyn…the group felt it was one of best outings ever….all thanks to your brilliant 
explanations”. 

75 09/09/21 An email from a member of the public thanking Jayne Rees for the helpful contact information she had given them when 

trying to find the correct member of staff in Welsh Water regarding her query. 

74 09/09/21 An email received from a member of the public thanking Park Staff in the Waterfalls who were so kind and thoughtful when 

they suffered tyre damage and had to wait over 4hrs for the RAC. Jon Pimm and Gerwyn (MAGSS) were the staff who showed 

kind support, checking that they were well, making sure they had supplies whilst they waited and staying with them until the 

tyre repair company had arrived when both of whom were at the end of their working day. 

73 08/09/21 An email received from a Planning Agent thanking Davina Powell for a great presentation at PAROW yesterday.   He would 

also like to send his thanks to Davina for all her help and patience throughout the application. She has been professional and 

has always informed him at each stage during the progress. 

72 18/08/21 An email received from a member of the public thanking Dani French and Jayne Rees for their helpful information regarding 
Ecologists who do Bat Surveys.   

71 11/08/2021 “I really enjoyed listening to Alan on the geology side. I could listen to him yarning on all day; he knows so much stuff.” These 
are comments from a member of the public received via BIS who had organised a walk and had invited Alan Bowring as the 
geological expert. 

70 10/08/2021 A postcard received from a member of the public, thanking the BBNPA for providing and maintaining a lovely, free car park 
at Carreg Cennen.  

69 10/08/2021 An email received from the Mine Manger at Big Pit, thanking Helen Roderick and Ceri Bevan for their tremendous support 
that he had received whilst going through the grant process.  He also thanked SDF and the Authority for the funding. 

P
age 163



68 09/08/2021 An email received from a member of the public thanking Mary Wynne for the information she supplied regarding visiting 
the Park for the day. 

67 09/08/2021 An email from a member of the public thanking Mary Wynne for the information she has sent her regarding overnight parking 
at the NPVC.   

66 06/08/2021 An email received from a member of the public thanking Sarah Halliday for her diligence in chasing up his enquiry and finding 
a letter.  “Her help has been invaluable and has been much appreciated”. 

65 04/08/2021 An email from a member of the public to our Rights of Way/Wardens teams, commenting on the well-kept footpaths and 
bridlepaths in and around Crickhowell. 

64 30/07/2021 An email from a member of the public thanking Paul Williams for his prompt and detailed reply regarding information on 
traveling to the Park via public transport.  

63 27/07/2021 An email received from a member of the public thanking Jill Lambert for the information she sent her regarding Wild Camping 
in the National Park.  

62 21/07/2021 An email from a member of the public thanking Jill Lambert on the information she provided regarding the Waterfalls Walks. 

61 21/07/2021 An email received from a member of the public thanking Jill Lambert and the NPVC for the information and allowing them 
to park up at the Centre to enjoy the night sky with her family.   

60 20/07/2021 An email received from a Swansea CBC Officer thanking James Lawrence and colleagues as well as officers from other 
agencies for working together to help find solutions for the traffic issues that residents have faced at Henrhyd Waterfalls. 

59 15/07/2021 An email received from a member of the public thanking Maria Golightly following work on the local sites project in 
Pontneddfechan. 

58 15/07/2021 A letter was received from a member of the public, thanking Jon Pimm for a beautiful day on a tour around the Waterfall 
Country and especially at Sgwd yr Eira. 

57 13/07/2021 An email received from a teacher at Fairfield High School informing the Authority of how helpful, friendly and delightful Lora 
Davies has been whilst the teachers have been trying to orgainse school trips. 

56 10/06/2021 A gentleman emailed the Authority to say a big 'Thank You' for the help that one of the Wardens gave him, in giving excellent 
directions to climb the Blorenge via Llanfoist. 

55 09/06/2021 An email received from the Headteacher of Creunant Primary School thanking Eleri Thomas and Hayley Sharp for attending 
and delivering a training session to staff on how to maximise their outdoor school space. 

54 21/05/2021 An email from a member of the public to the Wardens commenting on the brilliant layout of the marking system for the 
walks down in the Waterfalls area. 

53 24/03/2021 An email from a member of the public thanking Joshua Burrows and Clare Brooks for their professional and compassionate 
approach to the case.  Their response to her emails and calls over several weeks has been customer focussed and of a high 
standard.  The lady added they have removed concerns of an elderly lady who continues to need daily care from her nearby 
family. 

P
age 164



52 23/03/2021 An email from a member of the public thanking Sarah Halladay for her assistance in supplying him with planning history on 
a property.  

51 19/03/2021 An email from a member of the public to thank Kathy Jenkins for the effort and coordination she has put into when dealing 
with a TPO application.     

50 17/03/2021 An email from the Transition Director commenting on the excellent achievement that Kevin Booker has gained by winning 
the award for Fleet Manager: Eco Superstar in the prestigious 2021 Fleet World Great British Fleet Awards. 

49 11/03/2021 An email received from a member of the public via the Canal and River Trust commenting on the crew of contractors who 
were relaying the surface on part of the towpath.  The lady commented that these young men were absolutely outstanding 
both in the work that they are doing and the way they have been communicating with both herself and other users of the 
canal path. They have been extremely polite and cheerful and professional in the way they have conducted themselves.      

48 16/02/2021 A completed questionnaire was received from a member of the public regarding the chargeable pre-application service.  The 
gentleman wished to praise Davina Powell with how she dealt with his application. There were problems with the website 
following the cyber-attack and Covid had also made things very difficult, however Davina was always willing to speak on the 
phone and he could only imagine how hard it was at these times with application's coming at you. 

47 16/02/2021 An email from the CEO to Richard Farquhar on the exemplary way in which he assisted the member of the public and her 
family (details below). He can only echo her sentiments. 

46 13/02/2021 A member of the public registered a compliment for Richard Farquhar via our online compliment’s form.  The lady stated 
that she would like to pass on her appreciation for the help Richard gave her and her family on Saturday 13th February.  They 
had stopped to help a family who had been involved in a car accident and in the process of trying to help them they found 
themselves stuck on the ice.  After making sure the family had been taken home safely, Richard made sure that the lady and 
her family were ok.  He also helped to prevent another accident happening by arranging to get the road closed.  He then very 
kindly arranged to take the lady and family home as they were stranded.  The lady concluded that they were grateful for the 
kindness that Richard showed them in a very difficult situation and stated that he is a credit to the organisation. 

45 11/02/2021 A completed questionnaire was received from a member of the public regarding the chargeable pre-application service.  The 
gentleman wished to thank Clare Brooks and the whole team.  He stated that Clare had been friendly, professional and 
knowledgeable throughout this process and the level of communication kept him informed and reassured at all stages.  He 
could not have asked for a better service, in these unpredictable times.   

44 25/01/2021 An email received from Tawe Uchaf Community Council expressing their gratitude to Steffan Edwards on his excellent 
workmanship installing a new gate on a footpath at Craig y Nos. 

43 06/01/2021 An email received from an Authority member, commenting on Kevin Booker’s brilliant piece of PR on the Electric Fleet, which 
promotes both our Education work and balancing the needs for a vehicle to carry passengers and be a practical work vehicle. 

42 06/01/2021 Thank you email from the CEO to Kevin Booker on his great work regarding the Electric Fleet. 

41 06/01/2021 An email received from the Finance Manager, praising Kevin Booker, Wayne Lewis, Ceri Bevan, Helen Roderick, Paul 
Chapman and the Education team regarding Green Growth funding and projects.  

P
age 165



 

  

 

P
age 166



Committee Date Minute No Agenda item title Decision text Action Deadline Date Owner Comments Status

National Park Authority 30/07/2019 12:00 8 Contract at Plas y Ffynnon Full options appraisal for HQ future 

accommodation and bring back to NPA

30/09/19 0:00 Catherine 

Mealing Jones 10/01/2020: Status changed from To do to 

In progress - Cooke & Arkwright tasked with 

scoping an Options Appraisal for future HQ 

needs.

Daily email reminders turned off.

09/07/2020:  - Accommodation Working 

Group reconvened in light of 

communications from Dyfed Powys Police. 

Scoping document for Accommodation 

requirements in preparation

in progress

National Park Authority 24/09/2021 10:00 12 Farming Transition Position Statement Finalise Farming Position Statement, get 

translated and send to Angharad to publish 

online

22/10/21 0:00 Mrs Helen 

Lucocq

to do

National Park Authority 24/09/2021 10:00 3 Minutes Arrange meeting of the Affordable Housing 

Working Group

31/10/21 0:00 Mrs Helen 

Lucocq

in progress

NPA

P
age 167

A
genda Item

 13

http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=7726
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=7726
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgActionDisplay.aspx?ID=52941
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgActionDisplay.aspx?ID=52941
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=7935
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=7935
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgActionDisplay.aspx?ID=65725
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgActionDisplay.aspx?ID=65725
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgActionDisplay.aspx?ID=65725
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=7935
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=7935
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgActionDisplay.aspx?ID=65715
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgActionDisplay.aspx?ID=65715


ASC

CGT

PAROW

P
age 168



Document is Restricted

Page 169

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 12, 13, 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Budget Performance and Project Financial Management Q2
	Enc 1 Budget Monitoring Summary
	Enc 2 Project Financial Scorecard

	6 Internal Audit update Q2 21/22
	Enc 1 Internal Audit Update Key Financial Controls

	7 Audit Wales Action Plan
	V7 Audit Wales Action Plan for ASC 22 Oct 2021

	8 Q2 Performance Report
	Enc 1 - Landscapes and Nature Recovery
	Enc 2 - Community and Rural Enterprise
	Enc 3 - Inspiring People and Places
	Enc 4 - Resilient organisation

	9 Q2 Update report from Natural Resources Team
	10 Local Development Plan Annual Monitoring Report
	LDP Annual Monitoring Report 2020-21

	11 Q2 Risk Register Update
	Risk Register 15-10-21

	12 Freedom of Information, Complaints and Compliments
	Complaints report
	Compliments report

	13 Action Tracking
	16 Legal Risk Register

